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CAUTIONARY NOTE FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION  

 

 

This Listing Statement contains certain forward-looking information. These relate to 

future events or Global Blockchain Mining Corp.’s (the “Issuer” or “Blockchain 

Mining”) future performance. Words such as “may”, “would”, “could”, “will”, “expects”, 

“anticipates”, “believes”, or variations of such words and similar expressions are 

intended to identify such forward-looking information. Specifically, and  without limiting 

the generality of the foregoing, all information included in this Listing Statement  that 

addresses activities, events or developments that the Issuer expects or anticipates will or 

may occur in the future, including, but not limited to, such things as future capital 

(including the amount and  nature thereof), projects under development, goals, objectives, 

plans, and references to the future  success of such entities is forward-looking 

information, including, without limitation, such information contained in this Listing 

Statement.  Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 

expectations include, among other things, general economic and market factors, including 

interest rates, business competition, changes in government regulations or in tax laws, in 

addition to those factors discussed or referenced in Item 17 – Risk Factors. These factors 

should not be considered exhaustive. Many of these risk factors are beyond the Issuer’s 

control and each contributes to the possibility that the forward-looking statements will 

not occur or that actual results, performance or achievements may differ materially from 

those expressed or implied by such statements. The impact of any one risk, uncertainty or 

factor on a particular forward-looking statement is not determinable with certainty as 

these risks, uncertainties and factors are interdependent, and management’s future course 

of action depends upon the assessment of all information available at that time.  

 

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information 

contained in this Listing Statement, which reflects the analysis of the management of the 

Issuer, as appropriate, only as of the date of this Listing Statement. There can be no 

assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated by the Issuer will be realized 

or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to, or 

effects on, the Issuer or its business or operations. Unless otherwise required by 

applicable securities laws, the Issuer does not intend, nor does it undertake 

an    obligation, to update or revise any forward-looking information contained, or 

incorporated by reference, in this Listing Statement to reflect subsequent information, 

events, results, circumstances or otherwise. 
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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the full 
name under which the entity exists and carries on business and the address(es) of the 
Issuer's head and registered office. 

 
Global Blockchain Mining Corp. (the “Issuer” or “Blockchain Mining”) has a head office and registered and 

records office located at Suite 810 - 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or organized or, if the 

Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under 
which the Issuer is established and exists.   Describe the substance of any material 
amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents of the Issuer. 

 
The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017 pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British 

Columbia), as a wholly owned subsidiary of Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. (“Global Blockchain”) for 

the purposes of a corporate restructuring of Global Blockchain pursuant to the Business Corporations Act, by a 

way of a plan of arrangement.   

 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships among the 

Issuer and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each subsidiary state  
 

(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary represented 
by voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control or direction is exercised, 
by the Issuer;  

 
(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, or over which 

control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer. 
 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Coinstream Mining Corp. 

(“Coinstream”). 

 
2.4 If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing an acquisition, 

amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, describe by way of diagram or 
otherwise these intercorporate relationships both before and after the completion of the 
proposed transaction. 

The Issuer was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Global Blockchain.  Global Blockchain and the 

Issuer entered in an arrangement agreement (the “Arrangement Agreement”) made as of February 16, 2018, 

which proposed an arrangement (the “Arrangement”) under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 

involving the Issuer and the shareholders of Global Blockchain, all on the terms and conditions set forth in the 

Plan of Arrangement attached to the Arrangement Agreement (a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix 

A and incorporated herein by reference). 
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Completion of the Arrangement was subject to, among other standard closing requirements, the following: 

 

(a) approval by the shareholders of Global Blockchain; 

(b) a Final Order by the Supreme Court of British Columbia; and 

(c) upon the Arrangement being effected, to the common shares of the Issuer being listed, subject to normal 

listing requirements, and quoted for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) pursuant to 

CSE rules. 

 

In accordance with the Plan of Arrangement (capitalized terms used herein if not otherwise defined as defined 

in the Plan of Arrangement), on the Effective Date: 

 

Global Blockchain shall transfer to the Issuer all of its rights, title and interest in:  

a. 6,666 machines and 100 mw of power;  

b. Coinstream;  

c. Coinstream’s additional assets including its stake in Distributed Mining Corp.; and 

d. $500,000 cash for working capital. 

 (collectively, known as the “Mining Assets”) 

 

The Issuer shall issue the same amount of common shares that are issued and outstanding of Global Blockchain 

as of the Record Date, in the capital of the Issuer, all of which common shares (the “Blockchain Mining 

Distribution Shares”) shall be immediately transferred to Shareholders, on a pro rata basis, as a dividend in 

kind. The Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares will be distributed on the basis of one (1) common share of 

the Issuer for every one (1) shares of the Global Blockchain. 

 

As a result of the Arrangement, Global Blockchain shareholders will hold shares in both Global Blockchain and 

the Issuer representing the same relative ownership interest in each company. 

 
  
2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must describe how their 

governing legislation or constating documents differ materially from Canadian corporate 
legislation with respect to the corporate governance principles set out in Policy 4. 

  
This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three most recently 

completed financial years and any subsequent period.  Include only major events or 
conditions that have influenced the general development of the Issuer's business.  If the 
business consists of the production or distribution of more than one product or the rendering 
of more than one kind of service, describe the principal products or services.  Also discuss 
changes in the business of the Issuer that are expected to occur during the current financial 
year of the Issuer. 
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Global Blockchain announced the spinout of Global Blockchain Mining Corp. as a stand-alone publicly listed 

entity. The reason for the spinout is so that Global Blockchain Mining Corp. can represent an independent pure 

play cryptocurrency mining company with a unique business model differentiated from the other verticals and 

focuses within Global Blockchain. The spinout is also an effort to not only simplify the Company’s story for 

investors, but more critically to unlock this overlooked value, by splitting the company into two publicly traded 

entities, each with its own major individual and important business focus. The company has reserved the stock 

trading symbol FORK. The Arrangement was approved by a three-quarter majority vote of minority 

shareholders at Global Blockchain's Annual General and Special Meeting held on April 10, 2018.  The 

Arrangement was approved by the Supreme Court of British Columbia on April 19, 2018. 

 

Global Blockchain is a publicly traded technology company with two notable and very distinct verticals and 

given the above framework consist of: 

 

1. Global Blockchain Technologies. The investment in or incubation and creation of new blockchains & 

blockchain applications, ICOs [initial coin offerings] and tokens specifically in partnership with leading 

brands that have large captive user bases, and/or in collaboration with industry participants whose 

principal areas of business truly merit and benefit from decentralization and the blockchain. The primary 

objective with investing in the cryptocurrency and blockchain industries, as well investment in their 

digital assets is to generate returns from capital appreciation and investment income.  The Company 

intends to accomplish these goals through the identification of and investment in securities of private 

and publicly listed entities that are involved with new blockchains & blockchain applications, ICOs and 

tokens specifically in partnership with leading brands that have large captive user bases involved in the 

cryptocurrency and blockchain industries, as well investment in their digital assets. The Company will 

provide investors access to a mixture of assets in the blockchain space, strategically chosen to balance 

stability and growth 

 

2. Global Blockchain Mining. The mining of cryptocurrencies in order to provide investors with access to 

Bitcoin through the deployment of hardware and associated infrastructure that can mine these coins by 

performing the function of verifying and validating transactions as trustworthy through the processing of 

difficult cryptographic problems that require tremendous amounts of computational power to solve. This 

achieves exposure at a fraction of the cost of ownership and speculative risk associated with retail 

purchase at current price levels 

 

As a result of the Arrangement, the Issuer has: 

 
• Combined access to 175 megawatts of low-cost, reliable power in Montana (joint venture), Manitoba (joint 

venture) and Mozambique (fully owned); 

 

• 6,666 AntMiner S9s, which are expected to be fully operational by the end of July 2018;   

• A 25-per-cent interest in Distributed Mining Inc.: Distributed Mining is a blockchain software company 

creating software that enables all devices to have the ability to participate in mining cryptocurrency; the 

software will be available to be downloaded through Distributed Mining or through its partner sites; 

connected devices will then be able to activate mining operations through their devices (including, but 
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not limited to, mobile phones and gaming consoles); Distributed Mining would allow anyone with a 

connected device to download and install a software packet, giving the user access to optimized 

cryptocurrency mining; the Distributed Mining platform will be able to optimize for variable mining 

requirements, and its design is particularly well suited for gaming consoles, of which there are over 100 

million currently connected XBOXs and other gaming consoles in circulation (worldwide) that the 

Distributed Mining platform would be able to run on. Gaming consoles contain stronger processing 

power than those found in typical laptop/desktop computers, making them the perfect environment to 

deploy the Distributed Mining platform as individuals are able to put their resting consoles to work, 

earning them valuable cryptocurrency tokens; 

 

• The Issuer is in active conversation with Global Blockchain regarding their $2-million investment in 

Spectra7 Microsystems over collaboration and implementation of the dynamic range of new tools being 

brought to market with the following benefits to blockchain systems and the company's mining business, 

including:  

 

 Breakthrough low power: up to 80 per cent less power consumption than competing solutions; 

 High performance: scalable server and switch line rates from 25 billions bits per second to 400 

billions bits per second; 

 Low cost: typically 50 per cent the cost of competing solutions; 

 

On April 10, 2018, the Issuer entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Global Blockchain and AB 

Mining Limited (the “Seller”) to acquire 2,500 Ebit Miner E9+ and 1,500 Miner E9.2s (the “Purchased 

Assets”) and warranty rights from the Seller for a purchase price of $37,500,000 inclusive of tax (the 

“Purchase Price”). The Issuer shall satisfy the Purchase Price by issuing to the Seller upon the listing of 

Issuer’s common shares on the CSE, an aggregate of 85,227,273 common shares in the capital of the Issuer. In 

the event that the Issuer’s common shares are not listed on the CSE, Global Blockchain has agreed to issue the 

number of common shares that is equal to $37,500,000 divided by the twenty day value weighted average 

price.  

 

The Issuer is continuing discussions and negotiations are advancing with arm’s length parties for the 

procurement of 5,000 additional S9s and other cryptomining machines. The Issuer has not conducted any other 

business except as noted above.  In total, the Issuer expects to have 15,666 total Mining Machines comprising 

of 11,666 S9 Miners and 4,000 E9 Miners. 

 
3.2 Disclose: 
 

(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  significant probable 
acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for which financial statements would be 
required under National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if 
this Listing Statement were a prospectus; and 

 
(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the most recently 

completed financial year or the current financial year for which pro forma financial 
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statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 General 
Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a prospectus.  

 
(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 

 
(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired or disposed of; 

 
(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or significant disposition; 

 
(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to be paid, to or by 

the Issuer; 
 

(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any significant 
acquisition or significant disposition agreement in good standing; 

 
(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition on the operating 

results and financial position of the Issuer; 
 

(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required under Canadian 
securities legislation, a directive of a Canadian securities regulatory authority, or a 
requirement of a Canadian stock exchange or other Canadian market to support 
the value of the consideration received or paid by the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries for the assets, including the name of the author, the date of the 
opinion, the assets to which the opinion relates and the value attributed to the 
assets; and 

 
(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and if so, disclose the 

identity of the other parties and the relationship of the other parties to the Issuer. 
 

The Issuer has completed the acquisition of the Mining Interests noted above.  
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This picture shows the Issuer’s Quebec facility 

 

 
 

This picture shows a portion of the AntMiner S9s plugged in.  
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As noted above, the Issuer entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Global Blockchain and the Seller 

on April 10, 2018, to acquire the Purchased Assets and warranty rights from the Seller for the Purchase Price. 

The Purchase Price will be satisfied by the issuance of 85,227,273 common shares in the capital of the Issuer 

upon listing on the CSE. The Purchase Price was negotiated at Arm’s length between the Issuer, Global 

Blockchain and the Seller. Global Blockchain is a related party to the Issuer. The Seller is an arm’s length 

party to the Issuer.  

 

There are no other significant probable acquisitions proposed by the Issuer nor has the Issuer completed any 

significant dispositions during the current financial year of the kind referred to in the foregoing instructions.  

 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently known to 

management and reasonably expected to have a material effect on the Issuer's business, 
financial condition or results of operations, providing forward-looking information based on 
the Issuer's expectations as of the date of the Listing Statement. 

 
As a technology company without revenues, the Issuer typically needs more capital than it has available to it or 

can expect to generate through the sale of its products. The Issuer will have to raise, by way of equity financing, 

funds to meet its capital needs. There is no guarantee that the Issuer will be able to continue to raise funds 

needed for its business. Failure to raise the necessary funds in a timely fashion will limit the Issuer’s growth.  

Risks are more fully set out below in Section 17. 

 

4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable operating segments 
as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's business in general.  Include the following 
for each reportable operating segment of the Issuer: 

 

Blockchain and Mining Overview: 

 

Bitcoin: 

 

Bitcoin is a cryptocurrency, a digital asset designed to work as a medium of exchange that uses cryptography to 

control its creation and management, rather than relying on central authorities.  Over the course of bitcoin's 

history, it has undergone rapid growth to become a significant currency both on and offline – from the mid 

2010s, some businesses began accepting bitcoin in addition to traditional currencies 

 

Blockchain: 

 

The blockchain is a shared digital record of transactions or information of any value, between two or more 

parties. Traditionally, validating information online requires multiple systems that must be coordinated by 

multiple parties. Blockchain enables a more integrated solution. It is a decentralized, distributed ledger, 

meaning transactions are shared and replicated in real time on computers located at every node thus promising 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cryptocurrency
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Digital_asset
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Medium_of_exchange
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cryptography
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Decentralization
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verifiability independent of a single source of truth.  The computers make sure every detail of the transaction is 

authorized and legitimate before agreeing (or disagreeing) on approval to add the line item to the record book. 

Importantly,it is an autonomous system, where verification occurs as a function of its distributed, consensus 

based structure. In addition, anyone can process transactions using the computing power of specialized 

hardware and earn a reward in cryptocurrency for this service. This is often called "mining". 

 

Mining: 

 

Bitcoin mining is intentionally designed to be resource-intensive and difficult so that the number of blocks 

found each day by miners remains steady. Individual blocks must contain a proof of work to be considered 

valid. This proof of work is verified by other Bitcoin nodes each time they receive a block. Bitcoin uses 

the hashcash proof-of-work function. 

 

The primary purpose of mining is to allow Bitcoin nodes to reach a secure, tamper-resistant consensus. Mining 

is also the mechanism used to introduce Bitcoins into the system: Miners are paid any transaction fees as well as 

a "subsidy" of newly created coins. 

 

This both serves the purpose of disseminating new coins in a decentralized manner as well as motivating people 

to provide security for the system. 

 

Bitcoin mining is so called because it resembles the mining of other commodities: it requires exertion and it 

slowly makes new currency available at a rate that resembles the rate at which commodities like gold are mined 

from the ground. 

 

Factors that lead to the success of mining consist of computer processing capacity, hash rate, interconnectivity, 

power cost, environmental factors and location play an important role in mining. 

 

Issuer’s business: 

 

The Issuer is a Canadian based technology company whose focus is the mining of cryptocurrencies in order to 

provide investors with access to Bitcoin through the deployment of hardware and associated infrastructure that 

can mine these coins by performing the function of verifying and validating transactions as trustworthy through 

the processing of difficult cryptographic problems that require tremendous amounts of computational power to 

solve. This achieves exposure to the coins at a fraction of the cost of ownership and speculative risk associated 

with retail purchase at current price levels.   The issuer aims to build shareholder value by offering investors 

cost predictability at a high-margin, direct leverage to cryptocurrency prices, additional growth through the 

accretive acquisition of new mining operations, and a high-quality, diversified operational base. 

 

The assets of the Issuer as constituted at present are: 

 

Facilities: 

 

• Combined access to 175 megawatts of low-cost, reliable power in Quebec, Montana (joint venture), 

Manitoba (joint venture) and Mozambique (final agreement being papered and will be fully owned) 

which will be able to host the mining operations; 

http://bitcoinminer.com/
https://www.bitcoinmining.com/what-is-hashcash/
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Hardware: 

• 11,666 AntMiner S9s, which are expected to be fully operational sometime in July 2018. Developed by 

Bitmain Technologies Ltd, a privately owned multinational semiconductor company headquartered in 

Beijing, China. The AntMiner S9s are one of the most powerful and efficient mining machines in the 

market. 

• 4,000 Ebit E9 ASIC miners 

Coinstream; 

 

Platform: 

 

• A 25-per-cent interest in Distributed Mining Inc.: Distributed Mining is a blockchain software company 

creating software that enables all devices to have the ability to participate in mining cryptocurrency; the 

software will be available to be downloaded through Distributed Mining or through its partner sites; 

connected devices will then be able to activate mining operations through their devices (including, but 

not limited to, mobile phones and gaming consoles); Distributed Mining would allow anyone with a 

connected device to download and install a software packet, giving the user access to optimized 

cryptocurrency mining; the Distributed Mining platform will be able to optimize for variable mining 

requirements, and its design is particularly well suited for gaming consoles, of which there are over 100 

million currently connected XBOXs and other gaming consoles in circulation (worldwide) that the 

Distributed Mining platform would be able to run on. Gaming consoles contain stronger processing 

power than those found in typical laptop/desktop computers, making them the perfect environment to 

deploy the Distributed Mining platform as individuals are able to put their resting consoles to work, 

earning them valuable cryptocurrency tokens. 

 

With the above assets, the Issuer will have accomplished two key points in the cryptocurrency mining space 

which are megawatts of power available for operations in favourable jurisdictions and total computing power 

for mining. 

 

(a) state the business objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish in the 
forthcoming 12-month period; 

 

The Issuer expects to have all 11,566 mining machines plugged in and running by the end of July 2018. The 

Issuer intends to pursue transactions which will acquire more mining resources to increase its capacity by up to 

200% over the course of the year. By the end of 2018, the company anticipated that it will have at least 25,000 

mining machines online, operating at a cost of less than US $0.04 per kWh. As these mining facilities operate, 

we will be working towards the broader goal of providing shareholder value by generating cryptocurrency units 

through mining.. 

 

Financial Reporting 
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The Company’s revenue recognition policy, is to recognize revenue from the provision of transaction 

verification services within digital currency networks, commonly termed “cryptocurrency mining”.  As 

consideration for these services, the Company receives Bitcoins from the network.   

 

Revenue is measured based on the fair value of the Bitcoins received.  The fair value of Bitcoin is determined 

according to Bitcoin Reference Rate published by CME Group (“CME”) on the reporting date, and the closing 

exchange rate between Canadian dollars and US dollars published by the Bank of Canada (“BOC”) on the same 

day. Cryptocurrency is classified as level 1 in fair value hierarchy as it has quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets. 

 

Bitcoin is considered earned on the completion and addition of a block to the blockchain, at which time the 

economic benefit is received and can be reliably measured.  The Bitcoins are recorded on the statement of 

financial position as digital currencies at their fair value and re-measured at each reporting date.  Revaluation 

gains or losses, as well as gains or losses on the sale of coins for traditional (fiat) currencies are included in 

profit and loss. There is currently no specific definitive guidance in IFRS or alternative accounting frameworks 

for the accounting for the production and mining of digital currencies and management has exercised significant 

judgement in determining appropriate accounting treatment for the recognition of revenue for mining of digital 

currencies.   

 

Management has examined various factors surrounding the substance of the Company’s operations and the 

guidance in IAS 18, Revenues, including the stage of completion being the completion and addition of a block 

to a blockchain and the reliability of the measurement of the digital currency received.  In the event 

authoritative guidance is enacted by the IASB, the Company may be required to change its policies which could 

result in a change in the Company’s financial position and earnings. 

 

Custody, Cybersecurity Measures and Insurance  

 

A coin "wallet" is a software program that stores private and public keys and interacts with various Blockchains 

to allow users to send and receive digital Coins and monitor their balance. There are two main categories of 

wallets: a hot wallet and a cold wallet. A hot wallet is an electronic wallet that is always connected to the 

internet and is more prone to hacks. A cold wallet is disconnected from the internet and is considered more 

secure. The Company may use hot wallets, cold wallets and other methods to store its Bitcoins, if any, in 

connection with its mining operation..  

 

Physical access to the Mining Machines will be restricted to authorized personnel, including officers of the 

Company. The Company will continuously evaluate and update processes and procedures with respect to its 

coin mining initiative.  

 

Given the Company is in the process of becoming operational, management has not obtained any specialized 

insurance for its mining plans. The Company may obtain, or seek to obtain, relevant insurance, depending on its 

availability at commercially reasonable terms. See "Risk Factors". 

 
(b) describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for the business 

objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the specific time period in which 
each event is expected to occur and the costs related to each event; 
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The principal milestones that must occur during the 12-month period following listing of the Common Shares 

on the CSE in order for the business objectives described above to be accomplished are as follows:   

 

July 2018:  Administrative processes completed to prepare for commencement of mining 

operations in the company's current facilities.  

 

 Estimated cost - $200,000 

 

End of July 2018:  All 15,666 mining machines in control will be in full operation. 

 

 Estimated cost - $100,000 

 

End of December 2018:  Critical mass of mining capacity will have consistently generated new 

cryptocurrency units with a liquid market value. 

 

 Estimated cost - $100,000 

End of June 2019:  Strategic partnership and acquisition deals will be sought to increase mining 

capacity.  With a goal of having at least 25,000 mining machines online, operating 

at a cost of less than US $0.04 per kWh. 

 

 Cash costs to be determined.  Acquisitions of mining machines may 

require additional equity financing. 

(c) disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following breakdown of 
those funds: 

 
(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of the most recent 

month end prior to filing the Listing Statement, and 
 

As at June 28, 2018, the Issuer had a working capital of $500,000. 
 
(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, available to be used to 

achieve the objectives and milestones set out in paragraphs (a) and (b); and 
 

The Issuer has in place planning and budgeting processes to help determine the funds required to support 

normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis as well as its planned development and capital expenditures. 

The following table describes how the Issuer will spend its current working capital if it does not raise added 

capital or generate any revenues within the next twelve months. 
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 (d) describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, each of the 
principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which the funds available 
described under the preceding paragraph will be used by the Issuer. 

 

Use of Available Funds Amount $ 

Administrative and operational costs to get the mining machines 

in the facilities 

200,000 

All mining machines in full operation 100,000 

Mining machines to generate a return 100,000 

General working capital 100,000 

Total 500,000 

 
Notwithstanding the proposed uses of available funds as discussed above, there may be circumstances where, 

for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. It is difficult, at this time, to definitively 

project the total funds necessary to effect the planned activities of the Issuer. For these reasons, management 

considers it to be in the best interests of the Issuer and its shareholders to afford management a reasonable 

degree of flexibility as to how the funds are employed among the uses identified above, or for other purposes, as 

the need arises. Further, the above uses of available funds should be considered estimates. 

 
(2) For principal products or services describe: 

 
a) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 
 
b) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most recently completed 

financial years, the revenues for each category of principal products or services that 
accounted for 15 per cent or more of total consolidated revenues for the applicable 
financial year derived from: 

(i) sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is a participant or to 
entities in which your company has an investment accounted for by the equity 
method, 

(ii) sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause (i), outside the 
consolidated entity,  

(iii) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 

(iv)  sales or transfers to investees. 
 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
c) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal products or services 

and, if the products are not at the commercial production stage, 
 

(i) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 
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(ii) the major components of the proposed programs, including an estimate of 

anticipated costs, 
 
(iii) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and development, is 

subcontracting out the research and development or is using a combination of 
those methods, and 

 
(iv) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and an estimate 

of costs and timing. 
 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
(3) Concerning production and sales, disclose: 

 
a) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the Issuer provides 

services, the actual or proposed method of providing services; 
 
b) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal options of any 

material leases or mortgages, whether they are in good standing and, if applicable, 
that the landlord or mortgagee is a Related Person of the Issuer; 

 
c) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that the skill and 

knowledge are available to the Issuer; 
 

Specialized Skills and Knowledge 

 

Our management team consists of industry pioneers - including founders and early adopters of blockchain 

projects, as well as the creators of the ICO (initial coin offering) revolution. With specialized knowledge and 

experience going as far back as the beginning of the blockchain, we are able to vet prospective holdings for 

business sense and technical viability. This allows investors to benefit from early investment in projects that are 

qualified as having a strong projected growth trajectory, without the effort or uncertainty of doing research 

themselves.  

 

Specific experience includes, but not limited to: 

 

 Early pioneers and leaders in the Blockchain industry. 

 Senior advisors to Ethereum and Lisk. Contributors to Ethereum from its earliest days, where the initial 

legal framework and co-drafted the crowd sale model was created which set the standard for all other 

crowd sales to follow. 

 Lead investors in some of the most successful Blockchain and Cryptocurrency ventures. Senior advisors 

to some of the most promising Cryptocurrency projects including Factom, Lisk, ZCash and Bancor. 

 Assisted tech startups in raising tens of millions of dollars.  



 
 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 17 

 
  

 Founders of Nuovotel, one of the first and largest wholesale VoIP service providers of its time, Jazinga, 

developers of an award winning unified communications system and Home Jinni, developers of the first 

Android based Smart TV platform. Investors in and advisors to a number of financial technology and 

blockchain startups.  

 Management mined first Bitcoin in early 2010 and has been involved with Cryptocurrencies ever since. 

 

d) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts or finished 
products; 

 
e) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable intangible 

properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises, licences, 
patents, software, subscription lists and trademarks; 

 
f) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or seasonal; 

 

g) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be affected in the 12 
months following the date of the Listing Statement by renegotiation or termination of 
contracts or sub-contracts and the likely effect; 

 
h) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection requirements on the 

capital expenditures, earnings and competitive position of the Issuer in the current 
financial year and the expected effect, on future years; 

 
i) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end or as an average 

over that year, whichever is more relevant; 
 

In addition to the Issuer’s management team, its activities will also rely on the services of consultants and 

employees to get its mining facilities operational. The general overview of consultants and employees for the 

next twelve months will include the following: 

 
Bitcoin Miners/Hashers 

 

Responsible for mining and hashing bitcoin and other coins in the company’s pool 

 Ensures fairness while keeping the Bitcoin and alternative network stable, safe and highly secured 

 Handles any other cryptocurrency and digital payment system consulting and advisory related services 

Software Developer/Programmer 

 Responsible for designing, installing, testing and maintenance of software systems for the organization 

 Reviews current systems 

 Presents ideas for system improvements, including cost proposals 

 Works closely with analysts, designers and staff 
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 Producing detailed specifications and writing the program codes 

 Tests the product in controlled, real situations before going live 

 Maintains the systems once they are up and running 

j) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any dependence of 
the segments upon the foreign operations; 

 
k) a description of any contract upon which your company's business is substantially 

dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part of your company's products or 
services or to purchase the major part of your company's requirements for goods, 
services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other agreement to use a 
patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which your company's 
business depends; 

 
l) a description of any aspect of your company's business that you reasonably expect 

to be affected in the current financial year by renegotiation or termination of 
contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect. 

 
This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
(4) Describe the competitive conditions in the principal markets and geographic areas in 

which the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably possible, an assessment of the 
Issuer's competitive position. 

 

The Issuer will be competing with individual miners and companies that have started or intend to commence 

large-scale cryptocurrency mining operations.  This would include public companies such as Vogogo Inc., 

HIVE Blockchain Technologies Ltd. and Riot Blockchain Inc.   

 
(5) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, describe the investment 

policies and lending and investment restrictions. 
 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
(6) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership or similar 

proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or any voluntary bankruptcy, 
receivership or similar proceedings by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, within the 
three most recently completed financial years or the current financial year. 

 

There have not been any bankruptcies or receiverships or similar proceedings against the Issuer since its 

incorporation on November 9, 2017. 

(7) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction of the Issuer 
within the three most recently completed financial years or completed during or proposed 
for the current financial year. 
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The Issuer has not been in business over the past three years.  Other than the Arrangement, the Issuer does not 

intend to undertake or complete a material restructuring transaction during the current financial year. 

(8) If the Issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are fundamental to 
the Issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the Issuer’s relationship with the 
environment or with the communities in which the Issuer does business, or human rights 
policies, describe them and the steps the Issuer has taken to implement them. 

There are no social or environmental policies necessary that are fundamental to the Issuer’s operations. 

Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding 

4.2 In respect of any outstanding asset-backed securities, disclose the following information: 

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or preconditions 
that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount of any payments or 
distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. 

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the three most recently completed financial years of your 
company or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which your company had 
asset-backed securities outstanding, information on the pool of financial assets servicing 
the asset-backed securities relating to 

(a) the composition of the pool as of the end of each financial year or partial period; 

(b) income and losses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such shorter period as 
is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of assets; 

(c) the payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at least an annual 
basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of 
assets; 

(d) servicing and other administrative fees; and 

(e) any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in paragraphs (a), (b), 
(c), or (d). 

(3) Investment Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments of any 
cash flow surpluses. 

(4) Payment History - The amount of payments made during the three most recently 
completed financial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which your 
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and interest or 
capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your company 
outstanding. 
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(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the passage of 
time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of asset-
backed securities. 

 
(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding asset-

backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets 
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal obligor 
and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form 10-K, 
Form 10-KSB or Form 20F in the United States. 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose and insert here the information required by Appendix 

A for each property material to the Issuer. 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
4.4 For Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations disclose and insert here the information required by 

Appendix B (in tabular form, if appropriate). 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in summary form for 

each of the last three completed financial years and any period subsequent to the most 
recent financial year end for which financial statements have been prepared, accompanied 
by a discussion of the factors affecting the comparability of the data, including discontinued 
operations, changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or significant dispositions 
and major changes in the direction of the Issuer's business: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 

 
(b) income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis and fully diluted 

per share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 
 

(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per share basis, 
calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 

 
(d) total assets; 

 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook; 

 
(f) cash dividends declared per share for each class of share; and 
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(g) such other information as would enhance an investor’s understanding of the Issuer’s 
financial condition and results of operations and would highlight other trends in financial 
condition and results of operations. 

The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017 and became a reporting issuer on April 20, 2018.  The 

Issuer’s financial year-end is April 30.  The Issuer's pro-forma financial statements for the period from 

incorporation, November 9, 2017, to January 31, 2018, are attached hereto as Appendix B. The following is 

financial information for the Issuer for which pro-forma financial statements have been prepared: 

 

Operating Data: 

Period from Incorporation 

November 9, 2017 to 

January 31, 2018 

(unaudited) 

Total revenue   $ Nil 

Administrative expenses   $ Nil 

Net loss for the period   $ Nil 

Stream interests   $ Nil 

Balance Sheet Data:  

Total assets   $ 78,195,636 

Long-term financial liabilities $   46,913,200 

 

5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed quarters ending at the 
end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the information required in 
paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 5.1. 

 

The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017, and became a reporting issuer on April 20, 2018 and, as 

such, has not prepared quarterly consolidated financial statements for the period from incorporation to April 30, 

2018.   
 

 

‘000’s 

Revenue 

 

$ 

Income (Loss) 

 

$ 

Income 

(Loss) per 

share 

$ 

April  30, 2018 Nil Nil Nil 

 
 
5.3 Dividends – disclose: 
 

(6) any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends; and 
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(6) the Issuer’s dividend policy and, if a decision has been made to change the dividend policy, the 

intended change in dividend policy. 

 

The Issuer has not paid dividends since its incorporation.  The Issuer currently intends to retain all available 

funds, if any, for use in its business and does not anticipate paying any dividends for the foreseeable future. 

 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated financial information 

required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP if: 
 

(6) the Issuer’s primary financial statements have been prepared using foreign GAAP; and 

 
(6) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have reconciled its financial 

statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of filing its financial statements or the Issuer has 

otherwise done so, a cross reference to the notes to the financial statements containing the 

reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian GAAP is included. 

The consolidated financial statements included in this Listing Statements have been, and the future consolidated 

financial statements of the Issuer shall be, prepared in accordance with IFRS 

 

6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

 
Annual MD&A 

The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017 and became a reporting issuer on April 20, 2018.  The 

Issuer’s financial year-end is April 30.  The Issuer’s pro-forma financial statements for the period from 

incorporation, November 9, 2017, to January 31, 2018, are attached hereto as Appendix B.  The following pro-

forma MD&A was prepared by management of the Issuer. 

 
6.1 Date – Specify the date of the MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlier than the 

date of the auditor’s report on the financial statements for the Issuer’s most recently 
completed financial year. 

  
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis was prepared to accompany the pro-forma financial 

statements of the Issuer for the period from incorporation, November 9, 2017, to April 30, 2018. 

 
6.2 Overall Performance - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments, events or 
uncertainties that are reasonably likely to have an effect on the Issuer’s business. 
Compare the Issuer’s performance in the most recently completed financial year to the 
prior year’s performance. The analysis should address at least the following: 
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(a) operating segments that are reportable segments as those terms are used in the 
Handbook; 

 
(b) other parts of the business if 
 

(i) they have a disproportionate effect on revenues, income or cash needs, or 
 
(ii) there are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from one part 

of the Issuer’s business to another;  
 
(c) industry and economic factors affecting the Issuer’s performance; 
 
(d) why changes have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in the 

Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations; and 
 
(e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations. 

 

The Issuer is a Canadian based technology company whose focus will be the mining of cryptocurrencies in 

order to provide investors with access to Bitcoin through the deployment of hardware and associated 

infrastructure that can mine these coins by performing the function of verifying and validating transactions as 

trustworthy through the processing of difficult cryptographic problems that require tremendous amounts of 

computational power to solve.  

 

The Issuer was incorporated in British Columbia and is a reporting issuer in British Columbia Alberta, 

Manitoba, Saskatchewan, Ontario and Quebec. 

 

As part of the Arrangement, the Issuer acquired Global Blockchain’s interest in:  

a. 6,666 machines and 100 mw of power;  

b. Coinstream; 

c. Coinstream’s additional assets including its stake in Distributed Mining Corp.; and  

d. $500,000 cash for working capital 

 

The Issuer shall issue the same amount of common shares that are issued and outstanding of Global Blockchain 

as of the Record Date, in the capital of the Issuer, all of which common shares (the “Blockchain Mining 

Distribution Shares”) shall be immediately transferred to Shareholders, on a pro rata basis, as a dividend in 

kind. The Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares will be distributed on the basis of one (1) common share of 

the Issuer for every one (1) shares of the Global Blockchain. 

 

The Arrangement was approved by a three quarter majority vote of minority shareholders at Global 

Blockchain’s Annual General and Special Meeting held on April 10, 2018, and was approved by the Supreme 

Court of British Columbia on April 18, 2018.  The Arrangement has not been completed as at the date of this 

Listing Statement. The Company is seeking a listing on the Canadian Securities Exchange and expects to 

complete the Arrangement prior to listing. 

 

Selected Annual Financial Information 
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6.3 Provide the following financial data derived from the Issuer’s financial statements for 

each of the three most recently completed financial years: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items, in total 

and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 
 
(d) total assets; 
 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities; and 
 
(f) cash dividends declared per-share for each class of share. 

 

SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

The following table presents selected financial information for the period November 9, 2017 (Incorporation) to 

April 30, 2018. The results are presented in accordance with IFRS. As this is the Company’s first year end, 

there is no comparative annual information to report. 

    
Period from November 9, 2017 

(incorporation) to April 30, 2018 

Revenue    $ - 

Loss and comprehensive loss     - 

Basic and diluted loss per share       -  

Total assets     78,695,636 

Total long-term financial liabilities    $ 46,913,200 

 
The Issuer did not have any sales, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and cash dividends during the 

year. Material factors affecting operations and mineral property expenditures are described elsewhere in the 

MD&A. 

 
6.4 Variations - Discuss the factors that have caused period to period variations including 

discontinued operations, changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or 
dispositions and changes in the direction of the Issuer’s business, and any other 
information the Issuer believes would enhance an understanding of, and would highlight 
trends in, financial condition and results of operations. 

 

The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017, and has not conducted any activity with regard to factors 

that have caused period to period variations. 
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6.5 Results of Operations - Discuss management’s analysis of the Issuer’s operations for 
the most recently completed financial year, including: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues by operating business segment, including any 

changes in such amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods 
or services being sold, or the introduction of new products or services; 

 
(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in net sales or total revenues; 
 
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; 
 
(d) for Issuers that have significant projects that have not yet generated operating 

revenue, describe each project, including the Issuer’s plan for the project and the 
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and how these 
relate to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of the 
project plan; 

 
(e) for resource Issuers with producing mines, identify milestones such as mine 

expansion plans, productivity improvements, or plans to develop a new deposit; 
 
(f) factors that caused a change in the relationship between costs and revenues, 

including changes in costs of labour or materials, price changes or inventory 
adjustments; 

 
(g) commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably believe will 

materially affect the Issuer’s future performance including net sales, total revenue 
and income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(h) effect of inflation and specific price changes on the Issuer’s net sales and total 

revenues and on income or loss before discontinued operations and 
extraordinary items; 

 
(i) a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how the 

Issuer was going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any financing, 
an explanation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on the 
Issuer’s ability to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and 

 
(j) unusual or infrequent events or transactions. 
 

For the period from incorporation to April 30, 2018, the Issuer incurred a loss of $nil.  The Company had 

limited activity since the completion of the spin-out.   

 

The overall objective of the period was to continue preparations to list the Issuer with the CSE. 
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6.6 Summary of Quarterly Results - Provide the following information in summary form, 
derived from the Issuer’s financial statements, for each of the eight most recently 
completed quarters: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items, in total 

and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis. 

 
Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the quarters necessary to 
understand general trends that have developed and the seasonality of the business. 
 

The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017 and became a reporting issuer on April 20, 2018.  The Issuer 

has filed pro-forma financial statements to maintain compliance with reporting issuer disclosure requirements, 

however, there has been no activity conducted by the Issuer to report. 

 
6.7 Liquidity - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s liquidity, including: 

 
(a) its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in the 

short term and the long term, to maintain the Issuer’s capacity, to meet the 
Issuer’s planned growth or to fund development activities; 

 
(b) trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s liquidity, taking into account 

demands, commitments, events or uncertainties; 
 
(c) its working capital requirements; 
 
(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments; 
 
(e) if the Issuer has or expects to have a working capital deficiency, discuss its ability 

to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to remedy the 
deficiency; 

 
(f) balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may affect the 

Issuer’s liquidity; 
 
(g) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds to the 

Issuer and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of the 
Issuer to meet its obligations; and 

 
(h) defaults or arrears or anticipated defaults or arrears on 
 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal payment on debt, 
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(ii) debt covenants during the most recently completed financial year, and 
(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments; and 

 
(i) details on how the Issuer intends to cure the default or arrears. 

 

The following table summarizes the Issuer’s cash on hand, working capital and cash flow: 

 

As at  April  30, 2018 

   

Cash  $ 500,000 

Working capital   500,000 

   

Period Ended   April  30, 2018 

   

Cash provided by (used in) operating 

activities 

 $ - 

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities   - 

Cash provided by financing activities   500,000 

Change in cash  $ 500,000 

 

On November 9, 2017, the Issuer issued one common share, the incorporation share, at a value of $0.01 

 
6.8 Capital Resources - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s capital resources, including 

 
(a) commitments for capital expenditures as of the date of the Issuer’s financial 

statements including: 
 
(i) the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments, 
 
(ii) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments, and 
 
(iii) expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain the Issuer’s 

capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to fund development 
activities; 

 
(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s capital resources, including 

expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources; and 
 
(c) sources of financing that the Issuer has arranged but not yet used. 
 

The Issuer has no operations that generate cash flow and its long term financial success is dependent on its 

ability to mine cryptocurrencies. The Issuer’s primary capital assets are its mining equipment and intangible 

assets. 
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The Issuer depends on equity sales to finance its operations and to cover administrative expenses. 

 
6.9 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements - Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements that 

have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of 
operations or financial condition of the Issuer including, without limitation, such 
considerations as liquidity and capital resources. This discussion shall include their 
business purpose and activities, their economic substance, risks associated with the 
arrangements, and the key terms and conditions associated with any commitments, 
including: 

 
(a) a description of the other contracting part(ies); 
 
(b) the effects of terminating the arrangement; 
 
(c) the amounts receivable or payable, revenues, expenses and cash flows resulting 

from the arrangement; 
 
(d) the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from the 

arrangement that could require the Issuer to provide funding under the 
arrangement and the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to 
arise; and 

 
(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the 

availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the 
course of action that management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to 
any such circumstances. 

 
This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
6.10 Transactions with Related Parties - Discuss all transactions involving related parties as 
defined by the Handbook. 
 
This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
6.11 Fourth Quarter - Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected the 

Issuer’s financial condition, cash flows or results of operations, including extraordinary 
items, year-end and other adjustments, seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business and 
dispositions of business segments. 

 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 

6.12 Proposed Transactions - Discuss the expected effect on financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of any proposed asset or business acquisition or disposition 
if the Issuer’s board of directors, or senior management who believe that confirmation of 
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the decision by the board is probable, have decided to proceed with the transaction. 
Include the status of any required shareholder or regulatory approvals. 

 
This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
6.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption - Discuss and analyze any 

changes in the Issuer’s accounting policies, including: 
 

(a) for any accounting policies that management has adopted or expects to adopt 
subsequent to the end of the most recently completed financial year, including 
changes management has made or expects to make voluntarily and those due to 
a change in an accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do 
not have to adopt until a future date:  
 
(i) describe the new standard, the date the Issuer required to adopt it and, if 

determined, the date the Issuer plans to adopt it, 
 
(ii) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the accounting standard 

and the method management expects to use, 
 
(iii) discuss the expected effect on the Issuer’s financial statements, or if 

applicable, state that management cannot reasonably estimate the effect, 
and 

 
(iv) discuss the potential effect on the Issuer’s business, for example technical 

violations or default of debt covenants or changes in business practices; 
and 

 
(b) for any accounting policies that management has initially adopted during the 

most recently completed financial year,  
 
(i) describe the events or transactions that gave rise to the initial adoption of 

an accounting policy, 
 
(ii) describe the accounting principle that has been adopted and the method 

of applying that principle, 
 
(iii) discuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the accounting 

policy on the Issuer’s financial condition, changes in financial condition 
and results of operations, 

 
(iv) if the Issuer is permitted a choice among acceptable accounting principles, 

 
(A) state that management made a choice among acceptable 

alternatives, 
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(B) identify the alternatives, 
 
(C) describe why management made the choice that you did, and 
 
(D) discuss the effect, where material, on the Issuer’s financial 

condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations 
under the alternatives not chosen; and 

 
(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events 

or transactions giving rise to management’s initial adoption of the 
accounting policy, explain management’s decision regarding which 
accounting principle to use and the method of applying that principle. 

 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
6.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments - For financial instruments and other 

instruments: 
 

(a) discuss the nature and extent of the Issuer’s use of, including relationships 
among, the instruments and the business purposes that they serve; 

 
(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the instruments; 
 
(c) describe how management manages the risks in paragraph (b), including a 

discussion of the objectives, general strategies and instruments used to manage 
the risks, including any hedging activities; 

 
(d) disclose the financial statement classification and amounts of income, expenses, 

gains and losses associated with the instrument; and 
 
(e) discuss the significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of 

financial instruments, the total amount and financial statement classification of 
the change in fair value of financial instruments recognized in income for the 
period, and the total amount and financial statement classification of deferred or 
unrecognized gains and losses on financial instruments. 

 
Interim MD&A -  

 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 

6.15 Date - Specify the date of the interim MD&A. 
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6.16 Updated Disclosure - Interim MD&A must update the Issuer’s annual MD&A for all 
disclosure required by sections 6.2 to 6.14 except sections 6.3 and 6.4. This disclosure 
must include: 

 
(a) a discussion of management’s analysis of 
 

(i) current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparison of results 
of operations and cash flows to the corresponding periods in the previous 
year; 

 
(ii) changes in results of operations and elements of income or loss that are 

not related to ongoing business operations; 
 
(iii) any seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business that affect its financial 

condition, results of operations or cash flows; and 
 
(b) a comparison of the Issuer’s interim financial condition to the Issuer’s financial 

condition as at the most recently completed financial year-end. 
 
 
6.17 Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue: 
 

(a) unless the information is disclosed in the financial statements to which the annual 
or interim MD&A relates, an Issuer that has not had significant revenue from 
operations in either of its last two financial years must disclose a breakdown of 
material components of: 

 
(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 
 
(ii) expensed research and development costs, 
 
(iii) deferred development costs, 
 
(iv) general and administration expenses, and 
 
(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or expensed, not referred 

to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 
 

(b) if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining exploration and development, 
the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs must 
be presented on a property-by-property basis; and 

 
(c) the disclosure in the annual MD&A must be for the two most recently completed 

financial years and the disclosure in the interim MD&A for the each year-to-date 
interim period and the comparative period presented in the interim statements. 
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6.18 Description of Securities: 

(a) disclose the designation and number or principal amount of: 

(i) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the Issuer for which 
there are securities outstanding, 

(ii) each class and series of securities of the Issuer for which there are 
securities outstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or 
exchangeable for, voting or equity securities of the Issuer, and 

(iii) subject to subsection (b), each class and series of voting or equity 
securities of the Issuer that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer; 

 

(b) if the exact number or principal amount of voting or equity securities of the Issuer 
that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding 
securities of the Issuer is not determinable, the Issuer must disclose the 
maximum number or principal amount of each class and series of voting or equity 
securities that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of 
outstanding securities of the Issuer and, if that maximum number or principal 
amount is not determinable, the Issuer must describe the exchange or 
conversion features and the manner in which the number or principal amount of 
voting or equity securities will be determined; and 

(c) the disclosure under subsections (a) and (b) must be prepared as of the latest 
practicable date.  

6.19 Provide Breakdown: 

(a) if the Issuer has not had significant revenue from operations in either of its last 
two financial years, disclose a breakdown of material components of: 

(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 

(ii) expensed research and development costs, 

(iii) deferred development costs, 

(iv) general and administrative expenses, and 

(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or expensed, not referred 
to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 

(b) present the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration and development 
costs required by subsection (a) on a property-by-property basis, if the Issuer’s 
business primarily involves mining exploration and development; and 
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(c) provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods: 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the comparative year-to-
date period presented in the interim financial statements included, if any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if the information required under that subsection has 
been disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
6.20 Negative cash-flow - If the Issuer had negative operating cash flow in its most recently 

completed financial year for which financial statements have been included, disclose: 
 

the period of time the proceeds raised are expected to fund operations; 
 
the estimated total operating costs necessary for the Issuer to achieve its stated 

business objectives during that period of time; and 
 
the estimated amount of other material capital expenditures during that period of time. 

 
6.21 Additional disclosure for Issuers with significant equity investees: 
 

if the Issuer has a significant equity investee 

(i) summarized information as to the assets, liabilities and results of 
operations of the equity investee, and 

(ii) the Issuer’s proportionate interest in the equity investee and any 
contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might 
significantly affect the Issuer’s share of earnings; and 

provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the comparative year-to-
date period presented in the interim financial statements included in the 
Listing Statement, if any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if: 

(i) the information required under that subsection has been disclosed in the 
financial statements included, or 

(ii) the Issuer includes separate financial statements of the equity investee 
for the periods referred to in subsection (b). 
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7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation and trade reporting system(s) on which the Issuer's 

securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted. 
 

The Issuer's securities are not currently listed or quoted for trading on any stock exchange or quotation system. 

 
 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, the share and 

loan capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the date of the comparative financial 
statements for the Issuer's most recently completed financial year contained in the Listing 
Statement. 
 

There has been no material change in the share capital of the Issuer since the date of the Issuer’s financial 

statements contained in this Listing Statement. 

 

9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the 

Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase securities of the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by: 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a group and all 

directors and past directors of the Issuer who are not also executive officers as a group, 
indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and the aggregate number of 
directors to whom the information applies, without naming them; 

 
(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the Issuer as a 

group and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries who are not also 
executive officers of the subsidiary as a group, in each case, without naming them and 
excluding individuals referred to in paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the information 
applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; 

 
(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer as a group, 

without naming them;  
 

(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 
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(f) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each person or 
company. 
 

No options have been issued as at the date hereof.  The Issuer has a stock option plan in place. 

The directors of the Issuer established the Stock Option Plan as a 10% rolling plan in accordance with the 

policies of the Exchange.  The maximum number of the Issuer’s shares reserved for issuance under the Stock 

Option Plan is 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of Issuer at any given time.  

 

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to provide an incentive to the Issuer’s directors, senior officers, 

employees and consultants to continue their involvement with the Issuer, is to increase their efforts on the 

Issuer’s behalf and to attract new qualified employees.  The Option Plan is also intended to assist in aligning 

management and employee incentives with the interests of Shareholders. 

 

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Stock Option Plan: 

 

Number of Shares Reserved. The number of common shares which may be issued pursuant to options granted 

under the Option Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Issuer at any given time. 

 

Maximum Term.  The term of any options granted under the Option Plan is may not exceed ten years from the 

date of grant. The options are non-assignable and non- transferable. 

 

Exercise Price.  The exercise price of options granted under the Option Plan is may not be less than the 

discounted market value of the Issuer’s common shares trading on the Exchange at the close of the market the 

day prior to the issuance. 

 

Vesting. Vesting, if any, and other terms and conditions relating to such options shall be determined by the 

Issuer’s board of directors from time to time and in accordance with Exchange requirements. 

 

Termination.  All rights to exercise Options shall terminate upon the earliest of:  

 

a) in the case of the death of an Optionee, any Option held by him or her at the date of death will become 

exercisable by the Optionee’s lawful personal representatives, heirs or executors until the earlier of one 

year after the date of death of such Optionee and the date of expiration of the term otherwise applicable 

to such Option; 

b) an Option will expire 90 days (or such other time, not to exceed one year, as shall be determined by the 

Board as at the date of grant or agreed to by the Board and the Optionee at any time prior to expiry of 

the Option) after the date the Optionee ceases to be employed by or provide services to the Issuer; and 

c) in the case of an Optionee being dismissed from employment or service for cause, the immediately 

terminate.  

 

Administration.  The Option Plan is administered by the Board or senior officer or employee to which such 

authority is delegated by the Board from time to time. 
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Board Discretion.  The Option Plan provides that, generally, the number of shares subject to each option, the 

exercise price, the expiry time, the extent to which such option is exercisable, including vesting schedules, and 

other terms and conditions relating to such options shall be determined by the Board or senior officer or 

employee to which such authority is delegated by the Board from time to time and in accordance with Exchange 

requirements. 

 

10. Description of the Securities 
 
10.1 General - State the description or the designation of each class of equity securities and 

describe all material attributes and characteristics, including: 
 

a) dividend rights; 

b) voting rights; 

c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 

d) pre-emptive rights; 

e) conversion or exchange rights; 

f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and any other 

material restrictions; and 

i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital. 

Common Shares 

 

The Issuer has one class of shares: common shares without par value. The Issuer is authorized to issue an 

unlimited number of common shares. As at the date of this Listing Statement, 340,570,264 shares are issued 

and outstanding.  

 

All of the common shares of the Issuer rank equally as to voting rights, participation in a distribution of the 

assets of the Issuer on a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer and the entitlement to dividends. 

The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders and to attend 

and vote the shares at the meetings. Each common share carries with it the right to one vote. 
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In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer or other distribution of its assets, the 

holders of the common shares will be entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, all of the assets remaining after 

the Issuer has paid out its liabilities.  

 

Distribution in the form of dividends, if any, will be set by the board of directors. 

 

The Issuer may redeem its shares in accordance with the applicable corporate law in British Columbia. 

 
10.2 Debt securities - If debt securities are being listed, describe all material attributes and 

characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, for the debt, including: 
 

(a) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any; 
 

(b) conversion or exchange rights; 
 

(c) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 
 

(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 
 

(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt securities, briefly identifying the 
principal properties subject to lien or charge; 

 
(f) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities, the incurring of 

additional indebtedness and other material negative covenants, including restrictions 
against payment of dividends and restrictions against giving security on the assets of 
the Issuer or its subsidiaries, and provisions as to the release or substitution of assets 
securing the debt securities; 

 
(g) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to the Issuer and 

 
(h) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates or among its 

affiliates that could affect the security for the indebtedness. 
 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
10.3 Other securities - If securities other than equity securities or debt securities are being listed, 

describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of those securities. 
 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
10.4 Modification of terms: 
 

(a) describe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any rights 
attached to the securities being listed; and 
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(b) if the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in accordance with 
the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions of the governing statute 
relating to the securities, explain briefly. 

 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

10.5 Other attributes: 

 (a) if the rights attaching to the securities being listed are materially limited or qualified by 
the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other class of securities ranks 
ahead of or equally with the securities being listed, include information about the other 
securities that will enable investors to understand the rights attaching to the securities 
being listed; and 

 

As there are no preferred shares outstanding, there are no rights attaching to any securities of the Issuer that 

could materially limit or qualify the rights applicable to the shares of the Issuer.  

 

 (b) if securities of the class being listed may be partially redeemed or repurchased, state 
the manner of selecting the securities to be redeemed or repurchased. 

 

Subject to the special rights and restrictions attached to the shares of any class or series and the Business 

Corporations Act (British Columbia), and provided the Issuer is not insolvent or making the payment or 

providing the consideration would not render the Issuer insolvent, the Issuer may, if authorized by the 

directors, purchase or otherwise acquire any of its shares at the price and upon the terms determined by the 

directors. 

 
10.6 Prior Sales - State the prices at which securities of the same class as the securities to be 

listed have been sold within the 12 months before the date of the Listing Statement, or are to 
be sold, by the Issuer or any Related Person and the number of securities of the class sold or 
to be sold at each price. 

 
The Issuer has issued the following shares since the date of its incorporation on November 9, 2017: 

 

Date of issue 

Common 

shares 

issued 

Price per common 

share Purpose of issue 

November 9, 2018 1
(1)

 $0.01 Seed Share 

April 20, 2018 340,570,263 - Plan of Arrangement 

(1) This share is registered in the name of Global Blockchain. See section 2.4 

10.7 Stock Exchange Price: 
 

a) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed on a Canadian 
stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the price ranges and volume 
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traded on the Canadian stock exchange or market on which the greatest volume of 
trading generally occurs; 

 
b) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not listed on a 

Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the price ranges 
and volume traded on the foreign stock exchange or market on which the greatest 
volume of trading generally occurs; and 

 
c) information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if applicable, part 

month, of the current quarter and the immediately preceding quarter and on a quarterly 
basis for the next preceding seven quarters. 

 
As at the date of this Listing Statement, the common shares of the Issuer are not listed or quoted on any stock 

exchange or quotation system. 

 
 

11. Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing Statement, in 

substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of each class of securities of 
the Issuer held, to the knowledge of the Issuer, in escrow (which, for the purposes of this 
Form includes any securities subject to a pooling agreement) and the percentage that 
number represents of the outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, disclose 
the name of the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions governing the release of 
the securities from escrow. 

 

As at the date of this Listing Statement no common shares of the Issuer were held in escrow.  

 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the Issuer as of a 

specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the  Listing Statement: 
 

(a) Name; 
 

(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be listed; 
 

(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are owned both of record 
and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only; and 

 
(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer to be owned. 

The Issuer is not aware of any shareholder(s) holding in excess of 10% of the Issuer’s issued capital. 
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(2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has proposed an 
acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, indicate, to the 
extent known, the holding of each person of company described in paragraph (1) that 
will exist after giving effect to the transaction. 

 

See section 2.4. 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class of voting securities 

of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to any voting trust or other similar 
agreement, disclose, to the extent known, the designation of the securities, the number 
or amount of the securities held or to be held subject to the agreement and the duration 
of the agreement.  State the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline 
briefly their voting rights and other powers under the agreement. 

 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, there are no voting trusts or other similar agreements in place and, to 

the best of the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Issuer, there will be no voting trust or other similar 

agreement in place on completion of the Arrangement. 

 
(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an associate or affiliate of 

another person or company named as a principal shareholder, disclose, to the extent 
known, the material facts of the relationship, including any basis for influence over the 
Issuer held by the person or company other than the holding of voting securities of the 
Issuer. 

 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required calculation(s) on 

a fully-diluted basis. 
 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

13 Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive officer of the 

Issuer and indicate their respective positions and offices held with the Issuer and their 
respective principal occupations within the five preceding years. 

 

The following table sets out information regarding each of the Issuer’s directors and executive officers, 

including the names, municipality of residence, the position and office held and the period of time served in this 

position and their principal occupation for the preceding five years as of the date hereof: 
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Management 

The following is a description of the individuals who currently act and will act as senior management or 

officers of the Issuer following the completion of the Arrangement: 

 Shidan Gouran holds the position of Chief Executive Officer and President (see Section 13.11 – 

Management). 

 Johannes (Theo) van der Linde holds the position of Chief Financial Officer and Secretary (see 

Section 13.11 – Management). 

13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director and when his 
or her term of office will expire. 

 

Director Period served as a Director 

Steven Nerayoff February 27, 2018 to date 

Johannes (Theo) van der Linde November 9, 2017 to date 

Brendan Purdy February 27, 2018 to date 

Peter McCague February 27, 2018 to date 

 

 

Name and place of residence 

 

Principal occupation 

Steven Nerayoff, LL.M. 

Great Neck, New York 

Director 

Self-Employed Businessman; Founder, CEO, 

CloudParc Inc., January 2011 to date; 

Founder, CEO, Maple Ventures, January 2007 

to date. 

 

Shidan Gouran 

Toronto, Ontario  

President and CEO 

 

Self-Employed Businessman, 2010 to date. 

 

Johannes (Theo)  van der Linde 

North Vancouver, British Columbia 

CFO, Secretary and Director  

 

Self-Employed Businessman; President, 

Executive Management Solutions Ltd., May, 

2010 to date; 

 

Brendan Purdy 

Toronto, Ontario 

Director 

 

Securities lawyer; Director, Natan Resources 

Ltd., Director,  Boomerang Oil, Inc., and  

Director, Supreme Metals Corp. 

Peter McCague 

Toronto, Ontario 

Director 

Legal Consultant, PJM Consulting 

Professional Corp., March, 2011 to present; 

Associate, Torys LLP, June, 2016 to April, 

2011; Associate, Cassels Brock & Blockwell, 

March, 2003 to June, 2010. 
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Directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholder or until their successors is appointed.  

 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities of the Issuer 

or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or 
direction is exercised by all directors and executive officers of the Issuer as a group. 

 
In aggregate the directors/executive officers will hold 74,000 common shares, 0.02% of the anticipated issued 

and outstanding common shares of the Issuer upon qualifying for listing on the CSE. 

 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of each committee. 

 

The Issuer has one board committee, the Audit Committee, comprised of Brendan Purdy, Johannes (Theo) 

van der Linde and Peter McCague.  The composition and mandate of the Audit Committee is determined by 

the Issuer’s Board. Pursuant to NI 52-110, all members of the Audit Committee are financially literate. 

 
13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as an officer of a 

person or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact and state the principal business of 
the person or company. 

 

Please refer to Section 13.1 above and Section 13.11 below.  

 
13.6 Disclose if a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of 

securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, is, or within 10 years 
before the date of the Listing Statement has been, a director or officer of any other Issuer 
that, while that person was acting in that capacity: 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other 

Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period of more than 
30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made 
and whether the order is still in effect; 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be 

a director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease trade or 
similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption 
under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact 
and describe the basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in 
effect; 

 
(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 

insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 
assets, state the fact; or 
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(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact. 

 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, none of the Issuer’s directors, officers or principal shareholders are, or have 

been within the last 10 years, directors or officers of any other issuer that, while that person was acting in that 

capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the issuer access to any 

statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became bankrupt, made a proposal under 

any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement 

or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that 

issuer. 

 
13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were imposed or 

the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise to the settlement 
agreement, if a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities 
of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, has: 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 

securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into 
a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or 

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an 
investment decision. 

 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, none of the Issuer’s directors, officers or principal shareholders are, or have 

been within the last 10 years, the subject of any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 

securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or have been subject to any other 

penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important 

to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.  

 

13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement entered into before 
December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important to a reasonable investor 
in making an investment decision. 

 

Not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
13.9 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer 

to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding company of any such 
persons has, within the 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject 
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a 
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receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer, 
state the fact. 

 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, none of the Issuer’s directors, officers or principal shareholders or any 

personal holding company of such persons, has, within the last 10 years become bankrupt or made a proposal 

under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instated any proceeding, 

arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a received, received manage or trustee appointed to hold 

his, her or its assets.  

 
 
13.10 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between the Issuer or 

a subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 
 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

The directors and officers of the Issuer will not be devoting all of their time to the affairs of the Issuer.  The 

directors and officers of the Issuer are directors and officers of other companies, some of which are in the same 

business as the Issuer.  Some of the directors and officers have been and will continue to pursue the 

acquisition, exploration and, if warranted, the development of mineral resource properties on their own behalf 

and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers will be in direct 

competition with the Issuer.  The directors and officers of the Issuer are required by law to act in the best 

interests of the Issuer.  They have the same obligations to the other companies in respect of which they act as 

directors and officers.  Discharge of their obligations to the Issuer may result in a breach of their obligations to 

the other companies, and in certain circumstances this could expose the Issuer to liability to those companies.  

Similarly, discharge by the directors and officers of their obligations to the other companies could result in a 

breach of their obligation to act in the best interests of the Issuer.  Such conflicting legal obligations may 

expose the Issuer to liability to others and impair its ability to achieve its business objectives.  See section 17 – 

Risk Factors. 

 

13.11 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information for each member 
of management: 

 
(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the Issuer and 

relevant educational background; 
 

(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what proportion of the 
individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer; 

 
(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of the Issuer; 

 
(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the five years prior to 

the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with respect to each organization as of the 
time such occupation or employment was carried on: 
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(i) its name and principal business, 
 

(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer, 
 

(iii) positions held by the individual, and 
 

(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 
 

(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 
 

(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 
agreement with the Issuer. 

 

The following summarizes certain information concerning the Issuer’s directors and officers: 

 

Shidan Gouran, President and Chief Executive Officer, Age - 45 

 

Mr. Gouran is a serial entrepreneur who founded Nuovotel, one of the first and largest wholesale VoIP (voice 

over Internet protocol) service providers of its time, Jazinga, developers of an award-winning unified 

communications system and Home Jinni, developers of the first Android-based smart TV platform. Mr. 

Gouran is an investor in and adviser to a number of financial technology and blockchain start-ups. He mined 

his first bitcoin in early 2010 and has been involved with cryptocurrencies ever since. Mr. Gouran studied 

pure mathematics and theoretical physics at the University of Western Ontario. It is anticipated that Mr. 

Gouran will devote such time and expertise as is reasonably required by Issuer. 

 

Mr. Gouran has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Steven Nerayoff, Director, Age – 47 

 

Mr. Nerayoff serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of Cloudparc, Inc., a patented next-generation 

optics based solution for on and off-street parking systems. It is anticipated that Mr. Nerayoff will devote 

such time and expertise as is reasonably required by Issuer. 

 

Mr. Nerayoff has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Johannes (Theo) van der Linde, CFO, Secretary and Director, Age - 43 

 

Mr. van der Linde is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years of extensive finance, administration and 

public accounting experience in the oil and gas, mining, financial services, manufacturing and retail 

industries. 
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Mr. van der Linde, in his capacity as the CFO of the Issuer, is an independent contractor.  Executive 

Management Solutions Limited (“EMSL”) is a private company wholly owned by Theo van der Linde, 

EMSL provides management consulting services to the Issuer. It is anticipated that Mr. van der Linde will 

devote such time and expertise as is reasonably required by Issuer. 

 

Mr. van der Linde has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Brendan Purdy, Director, Age - 32 

 

Mr. Purdy is a self-employed businessman with many years of market experience. It is anticipated that Mr. 

Purdy will devote such time and expertise as is reasonably required by Issuer. 

 

Mr. Purdy has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

Peter McCague, Director, Age - 40 

 

Mr. McCague is a legal consultant and self-employed businessman. It is anticipated that Mr. McCague will 

devote such time and expertise as is reasonably required by Issuer. 

 

Mr. McCague has not entered into a non-competition or a non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 

14. Capitalization 
 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  

Issued Capital – Common Shares 

 

The aggregate number of common shares in the capital of the Issuer to be issued on completion of the 

Arrangement is subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 3.2 of the Plan of Arrangement, that is:  if 

the number of Blockchain Mining Common Shares to which a Global Blockchain Shareholder is entitled 

results in that Global Blockchain Shareholder being entitled to a fractional share, that fraction will be 

cancelled, that is, all fractional share amounts shall be rounded down to the next whole number.  The shares 

presented below are approximate only, arrived at as a result of the current issued and outstanding common 

shares of the Issuer not taking into account fractional adjustment of individual shareholder holdings.  As such, 

the shares referenced below are subject to adjustment, at the time of completion of the Arrangement, as 

required by, and after giving effect to, the cancellation of fractional shares pursuant to Section 3.2 of the Plan 

of Arrangement. 
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 Number of 

Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of 
Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  340,570,264 468,691,747 100% 100% 

     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the 
Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer 
upon exercise or conversion 
of other securities held) (B) 

74,000 74,000 0.02% 0.01% 

     

Total Public Float (A-B) 340,500,264 468,621,747 99.98% 99.99% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to 
resale restrictions, 
including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or 
other arrangements or in 
a shareholder agreement 
and securities held by 
control block holders (C)  

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-
C) 

340,570,264 468,691,747 100% 100% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Public Securityholders (Registered Only) 

Information in the following table is extracted from the Standard Registered Holders List of Global Blockchain 

(the “Global Blockchain Registered Shareholders List”) and of the Issuer as of March 1, 2018 as maintained by 

the Global Blockchain’s registrar and transfer agent, Computershare Trust Services Inc.  An exchange ratio of 

1:1 (1 common share of the Issuer to be issued for every 1 issued common shares of the Issuer) pursuant to the 

terms of the Plan of Arrangement has been applied to the Global Blockchain Registered Shareholders List in 

order to determine registered Public Security holders of the Issuer on listing of its common shares on the CSE.  

See in this Listing Statement section 2.4. 

 
Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  0  0 

     

100 – 499 securities  4  757 

     

500 – 999 securities  0  0 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities  2  2,735 

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities  1  2,429 

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities  0  0 

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  0  0 

     

5,000 or more  securities  50  314,881,686 

     

  57  314,887,607 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 
shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the 
Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it 
is sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each 
line item below; names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. 
If an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, give the 
aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  672  32,047 

     

100 – 499 securities  2,282  529,505 

     

500 – 999 securities  1,244  783,417 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities  1,536  1,824,643 

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities  734  1,603,267 

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities  330  1,053,942 

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  240  1,012,556 

     

5,000 or more  securities  1,162  88,481,974 

     

Unable to confirm  -  - 

 
 

 
8,200  95,321,351 
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Board Lot Shareholders: 

Information in the above table are the results of a shareholder distribution inquiry (the “Inquiry”) made by the 

Issuer of all intermediaries holding, as of March 1, 2018, common shares in the capital of Global Blockchain for 

non-registered shareholders.  An exchange ratio of 1:1 (1 common share of the Issuer to be issued for every 1 

issued common shares of Global Blockchain) pursuant to the terms of the Plan of Arrangement has been applied 

to the results of the Inquiry.  Tabulation of results of the Inquiry indicates that, upon completion of the 

Arrangement, an aggregate 4,002 holders of common shares in the capital of the Issuer will hold at least a board 

lot of 1,000 common shares of the Issuer. 

 
Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital  chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

100 – 499 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

500 – 999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

1,000 – 1,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

2,000 – 2,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

3,000 – 3,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

4,000 – 4,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     

5,000 or more  securities  Nil  N/A 

     

  Nil  N/A 

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of 

listed securities 
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All unexercised Global Blockchain Warrants as of March 1, 2018 will be exercisable for Blockchain Mining 

Shares in accordance with the corporate reorganization terms of such Warrants.  Pursuant to the Blockchain 

Mining Commitment, the Issuer will issue the required number of Blockchain Mining Shares upon the exercise 

of Global Blockchain Warrants as is directed by Global Blockchain (i.e., exercise of every 1 Global Blockchain 

warrants = 1 Global Blockchain share and 1 Issuer share). 

All unexercised Global Blockchain Stock Options as of March 1, 2018 will be exercisable for Blockchain 

Mining Shares in accordance with the corporate reorganization terms of such Stock Options. The Issuer will 

issue the required number of  Blockchain Mining Shares upon the exercise of Global Blockchain Stock Options 

as is directed by Global Blockchain (i.e., exercise of every 1 Global Blockchain Stock Option = 1 Global 

Blockchain share and 1 Issuer share). 

 
Description of Security (include conversion / 

exercise terms, including conversion / exercise 

price) - 

re Global Blockchain 

Number of convertible / 

exchangeable securities 

outstanding – 

re Global Blockchain 

Number of listed 

securities issuable upon 

conversion / exercise – 

re Blockchain Mining 

Warrants exercisable at $0.10 each until 

August 19, 2019 
17,399,996 17,399,996 

Warrants exercisable at $0.10 each until 

August 19, 2019 
2,461,344 2,461,344 

Warrants exercisable at $0.20 each until 

September 25, 2019 
31,278,676 31,278,676 

Warrants exercisable at $0.20 each until 

September 25, 2019 
5,333,332 5,333,332 

Warrants exercisable at $1.75 each December 

17, 2019 
33,698,340 33,698,340 

Warrants exercisable at $1.75 each December 

21, 2018 
2,358,886 2,358,886 

Warrants exercisable at $0.75 each February 

29, 2020 
9,090,909 9,090,909 

Stock Options exercisable at $0.19 each until 

March 30, 2022  
500,000 500,000 

Stock Options exercisable at $0.50 each until 

September 26, 2022 
2,000,000 2,000,000 

Stock Options exercisable at $1.18 each until 

December 27, 2022 
2,000,000 2,000,000 

Stock Options exercisable at $0.59 each until 

January 30, 2023 
22,000,000 22,000,000 

 
 
14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 

14.2. 
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The Issuer does not have any other listed securities reserved for issuance other than what has been disclosed 

in Section 14.2.  

 

15. Executive Compensation 
 
15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 51-102F6 or any successor 

instrument and describe any intention to make any material changes to that compensation. 
 
The Issuer was incorporated on November 9, 2017 specifically for the Arrangement. The Issuer’s financial 

year-end is April 30.  No directors or officers were compensated during the period from incorporation on 

November 9, 2017, to the date of this Listing Statement. The following was prepared to maintain compliance 

with reporting issuer disclosure requirements. 

General 

For the purpose of this Statement of Executive Compensation: 

“CEO” means an individual who acted as chief executive officer of the Issuer, or acted in a similar capacity, for 

any part of the most recently completed financial year; 

“CFO” means an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the Issuer, or acted in a similar capacity, for 

any part of the most recently completed financial year; 

Named Executive Officer (“NEO”) means each of the following individuals: 

a. a CEO; 

b. a CFO; 

c. each of the three most highly compensated executive officers of the Issuer, including any of its 

subsidiaries, or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the 

CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed financial year and whose total compensation 

was, individually, more than $150,000 as determined in accordance with applicable securities laws; and  

d. each individual who would be a NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was neither 

an executive officer of the Issuer, nor acting in a similar capacity at the end of the most recently 

completed financial year.  

Based on the foregoing definition, during the last completed financial period of the Issuer, the Issuer had two 

(2) NEOs, namely, Johannes (Theo) van der Linde, CFO and Secretary and Shidan Gouran, President and 

CEO. 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

The purpose of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis is to provide information about the Issuer’s 

executive compensation objectives and processes and to discuss compensation decisions relating to its named 

executive officers ("Named Executive Officers") listed in the Summary Compensation Table that follows.  

During its financial period ended April 30, 2018, the following individual was a Named Executive Officer (as 

defined in applicable securities legislation) of the Issuer, namely: 



 
 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 53 

 
  

Johannes (Theo) van der Linde, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary (appointed as President and Chief 

Executive Officer from November 9, 2017  until April 20, 2108 and as Chief Financial Officer and Secretary 

from November 9, 2017 to present date);  

Shidan Gouran, Chief Executive Officer and President (appointed as Chief Executive Officer and President 

from April 20, 2018 to present date)  

The Issuer is a technology company that intends to engage in the mining of cryptocurrencies in order to provide 

investors with access to Bitcoin through the deployment of hardware and associated infrastructure that can mine 

these coins by performing the function of verifying and validating transactions as trustworthy through the 

processing of difficult cryptographic problems that require tremendous amounts of computational power to 

solve. This achieves exposure at a fraction of the cost of ownership and speculative risk associated with retail 

purchase at current price levels. 

The Issuer has, as of yet, no significant revenues from operations and has, so far, operated with limited financial 

resources to ensure that funds are available to complete scheduled programs.  As a result, the Board of Directors 

has to consider not only the financial situation of the Issuer at the time of the determination of executive 

compensation, but also the estimated financial situation of the Issuer in the mid- and long-term.  An important 

element of executive compensation is that of stock options, which do not require cash disbursement by the 

Issuer.  

Additional information about the Issuer and its pro-forma financial statements for the financial period ended 

January 31, 2018, have been filed with regulators and are available for viewing under the Issuer’s profile at the 

Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com. 

Compensation Objectives and Principles 

The primary goal of the Issuer’s executive compensation program is to attract and retain the key executives 

necessary for the Issuer’s long term success, to encourage executives to further the development of the Issuer 

and its operations, and to motivate top quality and experienced executives.  The key elements of the executive 

compensation program are: (i) base salary; (ii) potential annual incentive award; and (iii) incentive stock 

options.  The directors are of the view that all elements of the total program should be considered, rather than 

any single element. 

Compensation Process 

The Issuer relies solely on its Board of Directors, through discussion without any formal objectives, criteria or 

analysis, to determine the compensation of the Issuer’s executive officers.  The Board of Directors is 

responsible for determining all forms of compensation, including long-term incentive in the form of stock 

options, to be granted to the Chief Executive Officer, or such person acting in capacity of Chief Executive 

Officer of the Issuer, the directors and management, and for reviewing the recommendations respecting 

compensation of the other officers of the Issuer, to ensure such arrangements reflect the responsibilities and 

risks associated with each position. 

When determining compensation, the Issuer’s Board of Directors considers:  i) recruiting and retaining 

executives critical to the success of the Issuer and the enhancement of shareholder value; ii) providing fair and 

competitive compensation; iii) balancing the interests of management and the Issuer’s shareholders; and iv) 

rewarding performance, both on an individual basis and with respect to operations in general. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Option Based Awards 

Long-term incentive in the form of options to purchase common shares of the Issuer are intended to align the 

interests of the Issuer’s directors and its executive officers with those of its shareholders, to provide a long term 

incentive that rewards these individuals for their contribution to the creation of shareholder value, and to reduce 

the cash compensation the Issuer would otherwise have to pay.  The Issuer’s Stock Option Plan is administered 

by the Issuer’s Board of Directors.  In establishing the number of the incentive stock options to be granted to the 

Named Executive Officers, reference is made to the number of stock options granted to officers of other 

companies that, similar to the Issuer, are involved in the mining industry, as well as those of other Canadian 

companies of a comparable size to that of the Issuer in respect of assets.  The Issuer’s Board of Directors also 

considers previous grants of options and the overall number of options that are outstanding relative to the 

number of outstanding common shares in determining whether to make any new grants of options and the size 

and terms of any such grants, as well as the level of effort, time, responsibility, ability, experience and level of 

commitment of the executive officer in determining the level of incentive stock option compensation. 

See “Incentive Plan Awards – Outstanding Option-Based Awards” below. 

Benefits and Perquisites 

In general, the Issuer will provide a specific benefit or perquisite only when it provides competitive value and 

promotes retention of executives, or when the perquisite provides shareholder value, such as ensuring the health 

of executives.  The limited perquisites the Issuer provides its executives may include a parking allowance or a 

fee for each board or Audit Committee meeting attended, to assist with their out-of-pocket costs, such benefits 

and perquisites as set out, respectively, in the Summary Compensation Table below. 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table provides a summary of the compensation earned by, paid to, or accrued and payable to, 

each Named Executive Officer from the period of incorporation on November 9, 2017 to April 30, 2018.  

Amounts reported in the table below are in Canadian dollars, the currency that the Issuer uses in its financial 

statements. 

 

Name and 

principal 

position 

Period 

ended 

April 

30
 

Salary 

($)
 

Share-

based 

awards 

($)
 

Option-

based 

awards ($)
 

Non-equity incentive 

plan compensation 

($) 

Pension 

value 

($)
 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

Compensation 

($) 

Annual 

incentive 

plans 

Long-term 

incentive 

plans
 

Johannes 

(Theo) van 

der Linde 
CFO & 

Secretary 

2018 Nil N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A Nil Nil 

Shidan 

Gouran 

CEO & 

President 

2018 Nil N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A Nil Nil 
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Mr. van der Linde serves as a director or officer of various companies trading on the TSX Venture Exchange 

and the CSE.  He devotes such time and expertise as is reasonably required by to the affairs of the Issuer and 

his compensation is in respect of his time spent on providing advice to the Company. 

Mr. Gouran is involved with various technologies companies trading on the TSX Venture Exchange and the 

CSE.  He devotes such time and expertise as is reasonably required by to the affairs of the Issuer and his 

compensation is in respect of his time spent on providing advice to the Issuer. 

Incentive Plan Awards 

Outstanding Option-Based Awards 

The following table sets out details of incentive stock options granted to the Named Executive Officers during 

the most recently completed financial period ended April 30, 2018, and that were outstanding as at April 30, 

2018.  No share-based awards, with other than option-like features, have been granted to the Named Executive 

Officers. 

 Option-based Awards 

Named Executive 

Officer 

Number of common 

shares underlying 

unexercised options 

(#)
 

Option exercise price 

per common share 

($)
 

Option 

expiry date
 

Value of 

unexercised 

in-the-money
 

options 

($)
 

Johannes (Theo) van 

der Linde 

CFO & Secretary 

Nil N/A N/A N/A 

Shidan Gouran 

CEO & President 
Nil N/A N/A N/A 

 Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

No incentive stock options were granted to or exercised by the Issuer’s Named Executive Officers during the 

financial period ended April 30, 2018. 

 

Named Executive Officer 

Option-based awards - 

Value vested during the 

period ended 

April 30, 2017 

($)
(1)

 

Share-based awards - Value 

vested during the period 

ended 

April 30, 2018 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 

compensation - Value 

earned during the period 

ended 

April 30, 2018 

($) 

Johannes (Theo) van der 

Linde 

CFO & Secretary 

N/A N/A N/A 

Shidan Gouran 

CEO & President 
N/A N/A N/A 
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(1) Value vested is the aggregate dollar value that would have been realized if incentive stock options had been 

exercised on the vesting date – that is, the difference between the market price of the underlying shares and the 

option price on the vesting date. 

Pension Plan Benefits 

The Issuer does not have a pension plan that provides for payments of benefits to the Named Executive Officers 

at, following, or in connection with retirement. 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

The Issuer does not have a compensation plan, contract, or arrangement where a Named Executive Officer is 

entitled to receive more than $50,000 to compensate such executive officers in connection with any termination 

(whether voluntary, involuntary or constructive), resignation or retirement, or as a result of a change in control 

of the Issuer or a change in the Named Executive Officer’s responsibilities. 

Director Compensation 

The Issuer may, from time to time, grant incentive stock options to purchase common shares to its directors, 

(see “Outstanding Option-Based Awards” below). 

The following is a summary of all amounts of compensation provided to the directors of the Issuer during the 

financial period ended April 30, 2018, excluding compensation of Mr. van der Linde in his capacity as a 

director, as he is a Named Executive Officer (as defined herein) whose compensation is disclosed above at 

“Summary Compensation Table”. 

Name 

Fees 

earned 

($) 

Share-

based 

awards 

($) 

Option-

based 

awards 

($) 

Non-equity 

incentive plan 

compensation 

($) 

Pension 

value 

($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

($) 

Brendan 

Purdy Nil N/A Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil 

Steven 

Nerayoff Nil N/A Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil 

Peter 

McCague Nil N/A Nil N/A N/A Nil Nil 

 

Outstanding Option-Based Awards 

The following table sets out option-based awards granted to the directors (excluding Mr. van der Linde) that 

were outstanding as at April 30, 2018.  See “Incentive Plan Awards” above for outstanding options held by 

Mr. van der Linde. 

No share-based awards, with other than option-like features, have been granted to the directors. 
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 Option-based Awards Share-based Awards 

Name 

Number of 

common shares 

underlying 

unexercised 

options 

(#)
 

Option 

exercise 

price per 

common 

share 

($)
 

Option 

expiration date
 

Value of 

unexercised 

in-the-money 

options 

($)
 

Number of 

shares or 

units of 

shares that 

have not 

vested 

(#) 

Market or 

payout value of 

share-based 

awards that 

have not vested 

($)
 

Brendan Purdy Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Steven 

Nerayoff Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Peter 

McCague Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

No incentive stock options were granted to or exercised by the Issuer’s non-executive directors during the 

financial period ended April 30, 2018. 

Name 

Option-based awards - 

Value vested during the 

period ended 

April 30/2018 

($)
(1) 

Share-based awards - Value 

vested during the period 

ended 

April 30/2018 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 

compensation - Value earned during 

the period ended April 30/2018 

($) 

Brendan Purdy Nil N/A N/A 

Steven Nerayoff Nil N/A N/A 

Peter McCague Nil N/A N/A 

   
(1)

 Value vested is the aggregate dollar value that would have been realized if incentive stock options had been 

exercised on the vesting date – that is, the difference between the market price of the underlying shares and 

the option price on the vesting date. 

 

The Issuer does not intend to make any Material Changes to Executive and/or Director Compensation at this 

time. 

 

 

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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 (1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a date within thirty 
days before the date of the information circular entered into in connection with: 

 
(a) a purchase of securities; and 

 
(b) all other indebtedness. 

 
(2) Report separately the indebtedness to: 
 

(a) the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and 
 
(b) another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support 

agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding 
provided by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (column (c)), 

of all officers, directors, employees and former officers, directors and employees of the Issuer 
or any of its subsidiaries. 

(3) “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide assistance in the 
maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement to provide compensation for the 
purpose of maintaining or servicing any indebtedness of the borrower. 

 

16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities Purchase and 
(2) Other Programs 

 
There is and has been no indebtedness of any director, executive officer or senior officer or associate of any of 

them, to or guaranteed or supported by the Issuer during the period from incorporation to the date of this Listing 

Statement. 

  

(1) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the most recently 
completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the Issuer, each proposed 
nominee for election as a director of the Issuer, and each associate of any such director, 
executive officer or proposed nominee, 

(a) who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed 
financial year of the Issuer has been, indebted to the Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries, or 

(b) whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the beginning of the 
most recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a guarantee, 
support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding 
provided by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, 
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and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and all other 
programs. 
 

(2 )  Note the following: 
 
Column (a) – disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the borrower was, 
during the year, but no longer is a director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borrower 
is a proposed nominee for election as a director, state that fact. If the borrower is included as 
an associate, describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, 
during the year, was a director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for election 
as a director, name that individual and provide the information required by this subparagraph 
for that individual. 

Column (b) – disclose whether the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer is the lender or the 
provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or 
understanding. 

Column (c) – disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness outstanding at any 
time during the last completed financial year. 

Column (d) – disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as at a date 
within thirty days before the date of the information circular. 

Column (e) – disclose separately for each class or series of securities, the sum of the 
number of securities purchased during the last completed financial year with the financial 
assistance (security purchase programs only). 

Column (f) – disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to the Issuer, any 
of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase programs only). 

Column (g) – disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at any time 
during the last completed financial year. 

(3 )  Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of: 

(a) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of each 
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or 
understanding, including: 

(i) the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was incurred, 

(ii) the rate of interest, 

(iii) the term to maturity, 

(iv) any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse, and 
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(v) any security for the indebtedness; 

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently completed 
financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if applicable, the guarantee, support 
agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding. Forgiveness of 
indebtedness reported in column (g) of the above table should be explained; and 

 
(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or held as 

security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of securities is not publicly 
traded, all material terms of the securities, including the provisions for exchange, 
conversion, exercise, redemption, retraction and dividends. 

 
17.  Risk Factors 

 

17.1 Disclose risk factors relating to the Issuer and its business, such as cash flow and liquidity 
problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks inherent in the business 
carried on by the Issuer, environmental and health risks, reliance on key personnel, 
regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and financial history and any other 
matter that would be likely to influence an investor’s decision to purchase securities of the 
Issuer. 

 

The common shares should be considered highly speculative due to the nature of the Issuer’s business and the 

present stage of its development.   These risk factors are not a definitive list of all risk factors associated with an 

investment in the Issuer or in connection with the Issuer’s operations.  There may be other risks and 

uncertainties that are not known to the Issuer or that the Issuer currently believes are not material but which also 

may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, operating results or prospects.  In that 

case, the trading price of the common shares could decline substantially, and investors may lose all or part of 

the value of the common shares held by them.  An investment in securities of the Issuer should only be made by 

persons who can afford a significant or total loss of their investment. The most significant risks and 

uncertainties faced by the Issuer are (in no specific order) are: 

Limited Operating History 

The Issuer has limited operating history as a technology company, and no operating history in the mining of 

cryptocurrencies. The Issuer and its business prospects must be viewed against the background of the risks, 

expenses and problems frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of their development, 

particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving markets such as the cryptocurrency and blockchain market. 

There is no certainty that the Issuer will be able to operate profitably. 

No Profits to Date  

The Issuer has not made profits since its incorporation and it is expected that it will not be profitable for the 

foreseeable future. Its future profitability will, in particular, depend upon its success in making strategic 

partnerships with companies involved in the cryptocurrency and blockchain industries Because of the limited 
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operating history, and the uncertainties regarding the development of the cryptocurrency market and blockchain 

technology, there is significant risks associated with the Issuer. 

Additional Requirements for Capital  

Substantial additional financing may be required if the Issuer is to be successful in developing its mining 

facilities. No assurances can be given that the Issuer will be able to raise the additional capital that it may 

require for its anticipated future development. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to investors and 

debt financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing and operating activities. There is no assurance 

that additional financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Issuer, if at all. If the Issuer is unable to 

obtain additional financing as needed, it may be required to reduce the scope of its operations. 

Development of Cryptocurrencies – new industry  

Cryptocurrency and blockchain technology is a young and rapidly growing business area. Although it is 

predicted that cryptocurrency will become an accepted means of digital payment, it cannot be assured that this 

will in fact occur. Currently, blockchain software is dependent on the widespread acceptance of cryptocurrency 

as a means of payment within the digital economy. For a number of reasons, including, for example, the lack of 

recognized security technologies, inefficient processing of payment transactions, problems in the handling of 

warranty claims, limited user-friendliness, inconsistent quality, lack of availability of cost-efficient high-speed 

services and lack of clear universally applicable regulation as well as uncertainties regarding proprietary rights 

and other legal issues, such cryptocurrency activities may prove in the long run to be an unprofitable means for 

businesses. 

In particular, the factors affecting the further development of the cryptocurrency industry include:  

(a) Worldwide adoption and usage of cryptocurrencies;  

(b) Regulations by governments and/or by organizations directing governmental regulations regarding the 

use and operation of and access to cryptocurrencies;  

(c) Changes in consumer demographics and public behavior, tastes and preferences;  

(d) Redirection and liberalization of using fiat currencies as well as the development of other forms of 

publicly acceptable means of buying and selling goods and services; and  

(e) General economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to cryptocurrencies. 

Regulatory Risks  

Changes in or more aggressive enforcement of laws and regulations could adversely impact companies involved 

in the cryptocurrency business. Failure or delays in obtaining necessary approvals, changes in government 

regulations and policies and practices could have an adverse impact on such businesses’ future cash flows, 

earnings, results of operations and financial condition.  



 
 

 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 62 

 
  

Regulatory agencies could shut down or restrict the use of platforms or exchanges using virtual currencies or 

blockchain based technologies. This could lead to a loss of any investment made in the Issuer.  

The legal status of cryptocurrency varies substantially from country to country and is still undefined and 

changing in many of them. While some countries have explicitly allowed its use and trade, others have banned 

or restricted it. Likewise, various government agencies, departments, and courts have classified 

cryptocurrencies differently. 

Dependence on Internet Infrastructure; Risk of System Failures, Security Risks and Rapid 

Technological Change  

The success as any developer of cryptocurrency-based, blockchain platforms will depend by and large upon the 

continued development of a stable public infrastructure, with the necessary speed, data capacity and security, 

and the timely development of complementary products such as high-speed modems for providing reliable 

internet access and services. Cryptocurrency has experienced and is expected to continue to experience 

significant growth in the number of users, amount of content and bandwidth availability. It cannot be assured 

that the cryptocurrency infrastructure will continue to be able to support the demands placed upon it by this 

continued growth or that the performance or reliability of the technology will not be adversely affected by this 

continued growth. It is further not assured that the infrastructure or complementary products or services 

necessary to make cryptocurrency a viable medium for digital payments will be developed in a timely manner, 

or that such development will not result in the requirement of incurring substantial costs in order to adapt the 

Issuer’s services to changing technologies.  

 

Loss, theft or restriction on access 

 

There is a risk that some or all of the Issuer’s coins could be lost or stolen. Access to the Issuer’s coins could 

also be restricted by cybercrime (such as a denial of service (“DDoS”) attack) against a service at which the 

Issuer maintains a hosted online wallet. Any of these events may adversely affect the operations of the Issuer 

and, consequently, its investments and profitability. 

 

The loss or destruction of a private key required to access the Issuer’s digital wallets may be irreversible. The 

Issuer’s loss of access to its private keys or its experience of a data loss relating to the Issuer’s digital wallets 

could adversely affect its investments. 

 

Cryptocurrencies are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public and private keys relating to 

the local or online digital wallet in which they are held, which wallet’s public key or address is reflected in the 

network’s public Blockchain. The Issuer will publish the public key relating to digital wallets in use when it 

verifies the receipt of cryptocurrency transfers and disseminates such information into the network, but it will 

need to safeguard the private keys relating to such digital wallets. To the extent such private keys are lost, 

destroyed or otherwise compromised, the Issuer will be unable to access its coins and such private keys will not 

be capable of being restored by network. Any loss of private keys relating to digital wallets used to store the 

Issuer’s cryptocurrencies could adversely affect its investments and profitability. 
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Incorrect or fraudulent coin transactions may be irreversible 

 

Cryptocurrency transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred coins may be irretrievable. As 

a result, any incorrectly executed or fraudulent coin transactions could adversely affect the Issuer’s investments.  

 

Coin transactions are not, from an administrative perspective, reversible without the consent and active 

participation of the recipient of the transaction. In theory, cryptocurrency transactions may be reversible with 

the control or consent of a majority of processing power on the network. Once a transaction has been verified 

and recorded in a block that is added to the Blockchain, an incorrect transfer of a coin or a theft of coin 

generally will not be reversible and the Issuer may not be capable of seeking compensation for any such transfer 

or theft. Although the Issuer’s transfers of coins will regularly be made by experienced members of the 

management team, it is possible that, through computer or human error, or through theft or criminal action, the 

Issuer’s coins could be transferred in incorrect amounts or to unauthorized third parties, or to uncontrolled 

accounts. 

 

Adequate Incentive to Continue Mining  

 

As the number of coins awarded for solving a block in the Blockchain decreases, the incentive for miners to 

continue to contribute processing power to the network will transition from a set reward to transaction fees. 

Either the requirement from miners of higher transaction fees in exchange for recording transactions in the 

Blockchain or a software upgrade that automatically charges fees for all transactions may decrease demand for 

the relevant coins and prevent the expansion of the network to retail merchants and commercial businesses, 

resulting in a reduction in the price of the relevant cryptocurrency that could adversely impact the Issuer’s 

cryptocurrency inventory and investments. 

 

In order to incentivize miners to continue to contribute processing power to the network, the network may either 

formally or informally transition from a set reward to transaction fees earned upon solving for a block. This 

transition could be accomplished either by miners independently electing to record on the blocks they solve 

only those transactions that include payment of a transaction fee or by the network adopting software upgrades 

that require the payment of a minimum transaction fee for all transactions. If transaction fees paid for the 

recording of transactions in the Blockchain become too high, the marketplace may be reluctant to accept 

network as a means of payment and existing users may be motivated to switch between cryptocurrencies or 

back to fiat currency. Decreased use and demand for coins may adversely affect their value and result in a 

reduction in the market price of coins. 

 

If the award of coins for solving blocks and transaction fees for recording transactions are not sufficiently high 

to incentivize miners, miners may cease expending processing power to solve blocks and confirmations of 

transactions on the Blockchain could be slowed temporarily. A reduction in the processing power expended by 

miners could increase the likelihood of a malicious actor or botnet obtaining control in excess of 50 percent of 

the processing power active on the Blockchain, potentially permitting such actor or botnet to manipulate the 

Blockchain in a manner that adversely affects the Issuer’s mining activities. 

 

If the award of coins for solving blocks and transaction fees are not sufficiently high, miners may not have an 

adequate incentive to continue mining and may cease their mining operations. Miners ceasing operations would 

reduce collective processing power, which would adversely affect the confirmation process for transactions 
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(i.e., decreasing the speed at which blocks are added to the Blockchain until the next scheduled adjustment in 

difficulty for block solutions) and make the network more vulnerable to a malicious actor or botnet obtaining 

control in excess of 50 percent of the processing power. Any reduction in confidence in the confirmation 

process or processing power of the network may adversely impact the Issuer’s mining activities, inventory of 

coins, and future investment strategies. 

 

Risk related to technological obsolescence and difficulty in obtaining hardware 

 

To remain competitive, the Issuer will continue to invest in hardware and equipment at the Manitoba and 

Mozambique facilities required for maintaining the Issuer’s mining activities. Should competitors introduce 

new services/software embodying new technologies, the Issuer recognizes its hardware and equipment and its 

underlying technology may become obsolete and require substantial capital to replace such equipment. 

 

The increase in interest and demand for cryptocurrencies has led to a shortage of mining hardware as 

individuals purchase equipment for mining at home. According to PC Gamer, AMD’s Radeon RX 580 and 

Radeon RX 570 have been out of stock for months. The shortage has led to chip producers Nvidia and AMD to 

consider producing graphic cards specifically designed for mining cryptocurrencies, but it is not certain when 

these cards will be available for sale. Equipment in the Manitoba and Mozambique facilities will require 

replacement from time to time. Shortages of graphics processing units may lead to unnecessary downtime as the 

Issuer searches for replacement equipment to ensure the Manitoba and Mozambique facilities are running 

smoothly. 

 

Insurance 

 

The Issuer intends to insure its operations in accordance with technology industry practice. However, given the 

novelty of cryptocurrency mining and associated businesses, such insurance may not be available, 

uneconomical for the Issuer, or the nature or level may be insufficient to provide adequate insurance cover. The 

occurrence of an event that is not covered or fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on 

the Issuer. 

Intellectual Property Rights  

Companies involved in the development and operation of virtual currencies or blockchain based technologies 

may be dependent on intellectual property rights; the loss of which could harm its business, results of 

operations and its financial condition. There can be no assurance that any company’s products will not violate 

proprietary rights of third parties or that third parties will not assert or claim that such violation has occurred. 

Any such claims and disputes arising may result in liability for substantial damages which in turn could harm 

the underlying business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Volatilities in Cryptocurrency Prices  

The markets for cryptocurrencies have experienced much larger fluctuations than other security markets. There 

can be no assurances that cryptocurrency prices will not be subject to erratic swings in the future, which could 

be related not only to improper payment activities involving cryptocurrency but also regulations by law makers 

in various countries. Furthermore, cryptocurrencies have not been widely adopted as a means of payments for 

goods and services by the majority of retail and commercial outlets. On the other hand, a significant portion of 
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the demands for cryptocurrency is generated by investors and speculators focusing on generating profits by 

buying and holding cryptocurrency which might create limitations on the availability of cryptocurrencies to 

pay for goods and services resulting in increased volatility of cryptocurrency which could adversely impact an 

investment in the Issuer. 

Several factors may affect the price and the volatility of cryptocurrency, including, but not limited to:  

(a) Global cryptocurrency demand depending on the acceptance of cryptocurrency by retail merchants and 

commercial businesses, the perception that the use and holding of cryptocurrency is safe and secure as 

well as the lack of regulatory restrictions;  

(b) Interest rates;  

(c) Currency exchange rates, including exchange rates between cryptocurrency and fiat currency;  

(d) Fiat currency withdrawal and deposit policies on cryptocurrency exchanges and liquidity on such 

cryptocurrency exchanges;  

(e) Interruption of services or failures of major cryptocurrency exchanges; 

Volatilities in Cryptocurrency Prices  

(f) Large investment and trading activities in cryptocurrency;  

(g) Monetary policies of governments, trade restrictions, currency de- and revaluations;  

(h) Regulatory measures restricting the use of cryptocurrency as a form of payment or the purchase of 

cryptocurrency;  

(i) Global or regional political, economic or financial events and situations, including increased threat of 

terrorist activities; and/or (j) Self-fulfilling expectations of changes in the cryptocurrency market. 

Stability of Bitcoin Exchanges  

The price of cryptocurrency is established by public exchanges that have, by nature of their business, a limited 

operating history. Even the largest cryptocurrency exchanges have been subject to operational interruptions or 

even collapse. The interruption and the collapse of cryptocurrency exchanges may limit the liquidity of 

cryptocurrencies resulting in volatile prices and a reduction in confidence in the cryptocurrency network and the 

cryptocurrency exchange market. The deposit or withdrawal of fiat currency into or from the cryptocurrency 

exchanges may also affect the price of cryptocurrency. Operational limits regarding the settlement with fiat 

currencies may also reduce the demand to use cryptocurrency exchanges which would adversely affect an 

investment made by the Issuer. Cryptocurrency exchanges are relatively new and largely unregulated, and may, 

therefore, be more exposed to fraud and failure than other, more established currency and commodity 

exchanges. While smaller cryptocurrency exchanges are lacking infrastructure and capitalization the larger 

cryptocurrency exchanges are more likely to become targets of hackers and malware. Also, arbitraging activities 

between cryptocurrency exchanges may destabilize some of the smaller cryptocurrency exchanges. A lack of 
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stability in the cryptocurrency exchange market may reduce the confidence in the cryptocurrency network 

affecting adversely an investment in the Issuer. 

Changes in the Bitcoin Network Protocol  

The cryptocurrency network is based on a protocol governing the peer-to-peer interactions between computers 

that are connected to each other within the cryptocurrency network. The governing code regulating such math-

based protocol is informally managed by a development team. This development team, though, might propose 

and implement amendments to the cryptocurrency network’s source code through software upgrades altering 

the original protocol, including fundamental ideas such as the irreversibility of transactions and limitations on 

the validation of blockchain software distributed ledgers. Such changes of the original protocol and software 

may adversely affect an investment made by the Issuer. 

Acceptance of Virtual Currencies  

Although the Issuer believes that the usage of cryptocurrencies will be focused on the technology to transmit 

and clear fiat currencies their usage as virtual currency will be an important factor as well. Hence, in the event 

that companies or individuals will be increasingly reluctant to accept virtual currencies, such limited usage of 

cryptocurrencies could adversely affect an investment made by the Issuer. 

Misuse of Cryptocurrencies  

Ever since the existence of cryptocurrencies, and especially bitcoins, there has been attempts to use them for 

speculation purposes and manipulations by hackers to use cryptocurrencies for malicious purposes. Although 

law makers increasingly regulate the use and applications of cryptocurrencies and software is being developed 

to curtail hacker activities as well as misuses by speculators no assurances can be given that those measures will 

be sufficiently deter those illegal activities in the future.  

In particular, misuses could occur if a malicious actor or botnet (i.e. a series of computer controlled by a 

networked software coordinating the actions of the computers) obtains a majority of the processing power 

controlling the cryptocurrency validating activities and altering the blockchain which cryptocurrency 

transactions rely upon. Moreover, if the award for solving transaction blocks declines and transaction fees are 

not sufficiently high, the incentive to continue validating blockchain transactions would decrease and could lead 

to a stoppage of validation activities. The collective processing power of the blockchain network would be 

reduced, which would adversely affect the confirmation process for transactions by decreasing the speed of the 

adaption and adjustment in the difficulty for transaction block solutions. Such slower adjustments would make 

the blockchain network more vulnerable to malicious actors or botnets obtaining control of the blockchain 

network processing power. 

Recording of Transactions  

It is feasible that blockchain validators will cease to record transactions in solved transaction blocks. In 

particular, transactions that do not include the payment of transaction fees will not be recorded on the 

blockchain until a transaction block is solved by validators who are not required to pay such transaction fees. 

Any widespread delays in the recording of transactions could result in a loss of confidence in the blockchain 

network which could adversely affect an investment in the Issuer. 
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Competition  

The market for blockchain technology and cryptocurrencies is becoming highly competitive on both a local and 

a national level. The current marketplace is dominated by a few companies, but will face substantial 

competition from and other competitors, which may have greater financial, technical, and marketing resources. 

Competitors may also have a larger installed base of users, longer operating histories or greater name 

recognition. There can be no assurance that any company will successfully differentiate its products from its 

competitors, or that the marketplace will consider one technology to be superior to others. 

Key Personnel  

The Issuer is dependent upon the continued availability and commitment of its management, whose 

contributions to immediate and future operations are of significant importance. The loss of any such 

management could negatively affect the Issuer's business operations. From time to time, the Issuer will also 

need to identify and retain additional skilled management to efficiently operate its business. Recruiting and 

retaining qualified personnel is critical to the Issuer's success and there can be no assurance of its ability to 

attract and retain such personnel. If it is not successful in attracting and training qualified personnel, the Issuer's 

ability to execute its business model and growth strategy could be affected, which could have a material and 

adverse impact on its profitability, results of operations and financial condition. 

Conflicts of Interest  

Certain of the Issuer’s directors and officers may, from time to time, serve as directors or officers of other 

companies involved in similar businesses to the Issuer and, to the extent that such other companies may 

participate in the same ventures in which the Issuer may seek to participate, such directors and officers may 

have a conflict of interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. Such 

conflicts of the Issuer's directors and officers may result in a material and adverse effect on the Issuer’s results 

of operations and financial condition.  

Should one or more of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove 

incorrect, then actual results may vary materially from those described in forward-looking statements. 

17.2  If there is a risk that securityholders of the Issuer may become liable to make an additional 
contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose that risk. 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

17.3 Describe any risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor would consider 
relevant to an investment in the securities being listed and that are not otherwise described 
under section 17.1 or 17.2. 

The Issuer is unaware of any additional material risk factors at this time. 
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18. Promoters  
 
 
18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years immediately preceding the 

date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the Issuer or of a subsidiary of the Issuer, state: 
 

(a) the person or company's name; 
 

(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity securities of 
the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over 
which control is exercised; 

 
(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property, contracts, 

options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the promoter directly or 
indirectly from the Issuer or from a subsidiary of the Issuer, and the nature and amount 
of any assets, services or other consideration therefor received or to be received by the 
Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

 
(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing Statement or 

thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by a subsidiary of the Issuer from a 
promoter: 

 
(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by which the 

consideration has been or will be determined, 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i) 
and the person or company's relationship with the Issuer, the promoter, or an 
associate or affiliate of the Issuer or of the promoter, and 

 
(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of the asset to 

the promoter. 
 

Johannes (Theo) van der Linde, a director and officer of the Issuer, may be considered to be the promoter of 

the Issuer within the meaning of applicable Securities Legislation. On the completion of the Arrangement, Mr. 

van der Linde will own, directly and indirectly, 74,000 (0.02%) of the Issuer’s Shares.  During the period from 

incorporation to and including the Effective Date, the only material thing of value which Mr. van der Linde has 

or will receive from the Issuer, is the 74,000 Blockchain Mining Shares to be issued to Mr. van der Linde 

pursuant to the Arrangement.  Mr. van der Linde will not receive any consideration for his role as promoter. 
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18.2 (1) If a promoter referred to in section 18.1 is, as at the date hereof, or was within 10 years 
before the date hereof, a director, chief executive officer, or chief financial officer of any 
person or company that: 

a) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

b) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased to be a 
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from 
an event that occurred while the promoter was acting in the capacity as director, 
chief executive officer or chief financial officer, 

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and whether the order is 
still in effect. 

There was no order made. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of section 18.2 (1), “order” means: 

 
(a) a cease trade order; 
 
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to any exemption 

under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days. 

This is not applicable. 

 

 (3)  If a promoter referred to in section 18.2 (1): 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the date hereof, a 
director or executive officer of any person or company that, while the promoter was 
acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that 
capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

This is not applicable. 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with 
creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the 
assets of the promoter, state the fact. 
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This is not applicable. 

 (4)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were 
imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise 
to the settlement agreement, if a promoter referred to in section 18.2(1) has been 
subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority 
or has entered into a settlement agreement with a provincial and territorial 
securities regulatory authority; or 

 

This is not applicable. 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would 
be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an 
investment decision. 

This is not applicable. 

 (5)  Despite section 18.2(4), no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement entered 
into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be considered 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 

19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or a subsidiary of 

the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is the subject matter and any 
such proceedings known to the Issuer to be contemplated, including the name of the court or 
agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the claim, 
the amount claimed, if any, if the proceedings are being contested, and the present status of 
the proceedings. 

The Issuer is not aware of any legal proceedings or pending legal proceedings to which the Issuer is or is likely 

to be a party to or of which its business is likely to be the subject of. 

 
 
19.2 Regulatory actions - Describe any: 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three 
years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Issuer 

necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 
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securities being listed; and 
 
(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to provincial and 

territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three 
years immediately preceding the date hereof. 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or indirect, of 

any of the following persons or companies in any transaction within the three years before 
the date of the Listing Statement, or in any proposed transaction, that has materially affected 
or will materially affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer; 
 
(b) a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or who exercises 

control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class or series of your outstanding 
voting securities; and 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in paragraphs (a) 

or (b). 

None of the executive officers or directors or principal shareholders of the Issuer or any associate or affiliate of 

the foregoing have a material interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions in which the Issuer has participated 

to the date of this Listing Statement, or will have any material interest in any proposed transaction, which has 

materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer. 

 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
 

The Issuer’s auditor is Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP (“DMCL”). DMCL has an address at #1500 – 

1140 West Pender Street, Vancouver, B.C. V6E 4G.1 
 
21.2 For each class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar, trustee, or other 

agent appointed by the Issuer to maintain the securities register and the register of transfers 
for such securities and indicate the location (by municipality) of each of the offices of the 
Issuer or transfer agent, registrar, trustee or other agent where the securities register and 
register of transfers are maintained or transfers of securities are recorded.   
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The transfer agent and registrar of the Issuer’s common shares is National Issuer Services Ltd., located at 760 - 

777 Hornby Street, Vancouver, BC, V6Z 1S4. 
 

22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary 

course of business that was entered into within the two years before the date of Listing 
Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 

The Arrangement Agreement, between the Issuer and its parent company, Global Blockchain pursuant to 

which this application is made.  See Appendix “A” attached. 

 

On April 10, 2018, the Issuer entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Global Blockchain and AB 

Mining Limited to acquire 2,500 Ebit Miner E9+ and 1,500 Miner E9 and warranty rights for a purchase price 

of $37,500,000 inclusive of tax. The Issuer shall satisfy the Purchase Price by issuing an aggregate of 

85,227,273 common shares in the capital of the Issuer upon listing on the CSE. In the event that the Issuer’s 

common shares are not listed on the CSE, Global Blockchain has agreed to issue the number of common shares 

that is equal to $37,500,000 divided by the twenty day value weighted average price.  

 

On May 1, 2018, the Issuer entered into a management agreement with Pender Street Corporate Consulting Ltd. 

(“PSCC”), a private company (the “Management Contract”).  Under the Management Contract, PSCC provides 

general management and accounting services to the Issuer for a fee of $7,500 per month plus applicable taxes.  

PSCC has the right to charge a 15% administration fee on all disbursements actually paid out by PSCC on 

behalf of the Issuer.  The Management Contract has an initial term of one year and automatically renews for 

one-year terms.  The Issuer may terminate the Management Contract by giving PSCC 90-days written notice. 

 

 
22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited partnership agreement. 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

23 Interest of Experts 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a Related Person of 

the Issuer received or to be received by a person or company whose profession or business 
gives authority to a statement made by the person or company and who is named as having 
prepared or certified a part of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or 
valuation described or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company referred to in 

section 23.1 of any securities of the Issuer or any Related Person of the Issuer. 
 
23.3 For the purpose of section 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, a general 

statement to that effect shall be sufficient. 
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23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company referred to in section 

23.1 is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee 
of the Issuer or of any associate or affiliate of the Issuer, disclose the fact or expectation. 

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

24. Other Material Facts 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities that are not disclosed 

under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the Listing Statement to contain 
full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

As at the date of this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the issuer and its securities other 

than as disclosed herein. 

 

25. Financial Statements  
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 
 

(a) copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports required to be 
prepared and filed under applicable securities legislation for the preceding three 
years as if the Issuer were subject to such law; and 

 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of the current fiscal 

year. 
 

Pro-forma financial statements of the Issuer for the period from incorporation, November 9, 2017, to January 

31, 2018 are attached hereto as Appendix B. 

 

Audited financial statements of Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 

and unaudited financial statements for the nine months ended January 31, 2018 are attached hereto as Appendix 

“C. 

 
25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

(a) the information required in sections 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
 
(b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements as if the target were the 
Issuer; 

(c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving effect to the 
transaction for: 
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(i) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer, and 

(ii) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  

This is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 
promoter of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying following 
a fundamental change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or 
company who is a promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

 
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Global Blockchain Mining Corp. hereby 
applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange.  The foregoing contains full, 
true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to Global Blockchain Mining Corp. It 
contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is 
required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver this  28th  day of  June  , 2018. 

 

 

“Shidan Gouran” 

  

 

“Theo van der Linde” 

Shidan Gouran 
Chief Executive Officer   

Johannes (Theo) van der Linde, Chief 
Financial Officer 

 
 

 

   

“Theo van der Linde”   

Johannes (Theo) van der Linde, 
Promoter   

   

   

“Peter McCague”  “Brendan Purdy” 

Peter McCague, director 
 

Brendan Purdy, director 
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APPENDIX A 

 

Arrangement Agreement 

Among 

Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. and  

Global Blockchain Mining Corp. 

dated February 16, 2018 

 

 
  



 

 

ARRANGEMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of the 16th day of February, 2018 

AMONG 

GLOBAL BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGIES CORP., a company existing under 
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 

(" Global Blockchain") 

AND 

GLOBAL BLOCKCHAIN MINING CORP., a company existing under the 
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. 

 

("Blockchain Mining”) 

WHEREAS: 
 
A. Global Blockchain proposes to reorganize its business by completing a spin-off of certain assets 
to its wholly-owned subsidiary, Blockchain Mining, in consideration for shares of that company, all 
of which will be transferred to the shareholders of Global Blockchain; and 

B. The transaction will be completed by way of a statutory arrangement under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Colombia), subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter 
contained. 

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the covenants and agreements hereinafter 
contained and other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged), the Parties agree as follows:  
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ARTICLE 1 

DEFINITIONS,  INTERPRETATION AND SCHEDULES 

1.1    Definitions 

In this Agreement: 

"Agreement" means this arrangement agreement (including the schedules hereto) as 
supplemented, modified or amended, and not any particular section, article, schedule or other 
portion hereof; 

"Arrangement" means the arrangement of the Parties pursuant to the BCBCA on the terms 
and conditions set forth in the Plan of Arrangement; 

"Arrangement Provisions" means Part 9, Division 5 of the BCBCA; 

"Arrangement Resolution" means the special resolution in respect to the Arrangement at 
the Meeting; 

"Assets" means the assets of Global Blockchain to be transferred to Blockchain Mining, 
respectively, pursuant to the Arrangement, as more particularly described in Schedule “B” 
attached hereto; 

"BCBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended; 

“Blockchain Mining Commitment” means the covenant of Blockchain Mining described 
herein whereby Blockchain Mining is obligated to issue Blockchain Mining Shares to the 
holders of Global Blockchain Share Commitments who exercise their rights thereunder after 
the Effective Date, and who are entitled under the corporate reorganization terms thereof  to 
receive Shares and Blockchain Mining Shares upon such exercise; 

"Blockchain Mining Shareholder" means the sole holder of Blockchain Mining, which 
shall remain Global Blockchain until the completion of the Plan of Arrangement; 

"Blockchain Mining Shares" means the common shares in the capital of Blockchain 
Mining; 

"Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a statutory holiday in 
Vancouver, British Columbia; 

"Circular" means the management information circular to be prepared and sent to the Global 
Blockchain Shareholders in connection with the Meeting; 

"Court" means the Supreme Court of British Columbia; 

"Dissenting Shareholder" means a Global Blockchain Shareholder who validly exercises 
rights of dissent under the Arrangement and who will be entitled to be paid fair value for his, 
her or its Global Blockchain Shares in accordance with the Interim Order, the Final Order 
and the Plan of Arrangement; 

"Dissenting Shares" means the Global Blockchain Shares in respect of which Dissenting 
Shareholders have exercised a right of dissent; 
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"Effective Date" means the Business Day following the date of the Final Order, the date that 
Arrangement shall become effective under the BCBCA; 

"Exchange" means the Canadian Securities Exchange; 

"Final Order" means the order of the Court approving the Arrangement, as such order may 
be affirmed, amended or modified by any court of competent jurisdiction; 

“Global Blockchain Options” means share purchase options issued pursuant to the Global 
Blockchain Stock Option Plan which are outstanding on the Effective Date; 
 
“Global Blockchain Share Commitments” means an obligation of Global Blockchain to 
issue Shares and to deliver Blockchain Mining Shares to the holders of Global Blockchain 
Options and Global Blockchain Warrants which are outstanding on the Effective Date, upon 
the exercise of such stock options and warrants; 
 
“Global Blockchain Warrants” means share purchase warrants of Global Blockchain that 
are outstanding on the Effective Date; 
 
"Governmental Entity" means any (i) multinational, federal, provincial, state, regional, 
municipal, local or other government, governmental or public department, central bank, 
court, tribunal, arbitral body, commission, board, bureau, agency, domestic or foreign; (ii) 
any subdivision, agent, commission, board or authority of any of the foregoing; or (iii) any 
quasi-governmental or private body exercising any regulatory, expropriation or taxing 
authority under or for the account of any of the foregoing; 

"IFRS" means International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB applicable 
to publicly accountable enterprises under applicable securities laws; 

"Interim Order" means an interim order of the Court concerning the Arrangement, 
containing declarations and directions with respect to the Arrangement and the holding of the 
Meeting, as such order may be affirmed, amended or modified by any court of competent 
jurisdiction; 

"Laws" means all laws, by-laws, rules, regulations, orders, ordinances, protocols, codes, 
guidelines, policies, notices, directions and judgements or other requirements of any 
Governmental Entity; 

"Meeting" means the annual general and special meeting of the Global Blochchain 
Shareholders to be held on April 10, 2018, or such other date as may be deemed advisable 
by the board of directors of Global Blochchain, and any adjournment(s) or postponement(s) 
thereof; 

"Parties" means Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining, and "Party" means either one 
of them; 

"Person" includes an individual, partnership, association, body corporate, trustee, executor, 
administrator, legal representative, government, regulatory authority or other entity; 

"Plan of Arrangement” means the plan of arrangement substantially in the form and 
content annexed as Schedule “A” hereto and any amendment or variation thereto made in 
accordance with this Agreement; 

"Registrar" means the Registrar of Companies for the Province of British Columbia duly 
appointed under the BCBCA; 
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“Securities Authorities" means all securities regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over the 
affairs of the Parties; 

"Shareholders" means the holders of Global Blockchain Shares; 

"Shares" means the common shares in the capital of Global Blockchain; 

"Taxes" means all taxes, assessments, charges, dues, duties, rates, fees, imposts, levies and 
similar charges of any kind lawfully levied, assessed or imposed by any Governmental 
Entity, including, without limitation, all income taxes (including any tax on or based upon net 
income, gross income, income as specially defined, earnings, profits or selected items of 
income, earnings or profits) and ail capital taxes, gross receipts taxes, environmental taxes, 
sales taxes, use taxes, ad valorem taxes, value added taxes, transfer taxes, franchise taxes, 
license taxes, withholding taxes, payroll taxes, employment taxes, Canada and Quebec 
Pension Plan premiums, employer health taxes, excise, severance, social security, workers' 
compensation, employment insurance or compensation taxes or premium, stamp taxes, 
occupation taxes, premium taxes, property taxes, windfall profits taxes, alternative or add-on 
minimum taxes, goods and services tax, customs duties or other taxes, fees, imports, 
assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, fines and any 
penalties or additional amounts imposed by any taxing authority (domestic or foreign) on 
such entity, and any interest, penalties, additional taxes and additions to tax imposed with 
respect to the foregoing or that may become payable in respect thereof; and liability for any of 
the foregoing as a transferee or successor, guarantor or surety or in a similar capacity under 
any contract, arrangement, agreement, understanding or commitment (whether written or 
oral); 

"Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada); 

"Tax Returns" means all returns, schedules, elections, forms, notices, declarations, reports, 
information returns and statements filed or required to be filed with any taxing authority 
relating to Taxes; 

"Termination Date" means August 16, 2018 or such later date as may be agreed upon by the 
Parties; 

In addition, words and phrases used herein and defined in the BCBCA shall have the same 
meaning herein as in the BCBCA unless the context otherwise requires. 

1.2 Interpretation Not Affected by Headings 

The division of this Agreement into articles, sections, subsections, paragraphs, and 
subparagraphs and the insertion of headings herein are for convenience of reference only and 
shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The terms "this 
Agreement", "hereof, "herein", "hereto", "hereunder", and similar expressions refer to this 
Agreement and the schedules attached hereto and not to any particular article, section, or other 
portion hereof and include any agreement, schedule, or instrument supplementary or ancillary 
hereto or thereto. 

1.3 Number and Gender 

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, words importing the singular shall 
include the plural and vice versa, words importing the use of either gender shall include both 
genders and neuter, and the word person and all words importing persons shall include a natural 
person, firm, trust, partnership, association, corporation, joint venture, or government 
(including any Governmental Entity, political subdivision or instrumentality thereof) and any 
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other entity of any kind or nature whatsoever. 

1.4 Date for any Action 

If the date on which any action is required to be taken hereunder by any party hereto is not a 
Business Day, such action shall be required to be taken on the next succeeding day which is a 
Business Day. 

1.5 Statutory References 

Any reference in this Agreement to a statute includes all regulations and rules made 
thereunder, all amendments to such statute or regulation in force from time to time and any 
statute or regulation that supplements or supersedes such statute or regulation. 

1.6 Currency 

All references to money in this Agreement are expressed in the lawful currency of Canada. 

1.7 Entire Agreement 

This Agreement, together with the agreements and documents herein and therein referred to, 
constitute the entire agreement among the Parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and 
supersede alt prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or 
written, among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. 

1.8 Invalidity of Provisions 

Each of the provisions contained in this Agreement is distinct and severable and a declaration 
of invalidity or unenforceability of any such provision or part thereof by a court of competent 
jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision hereof. To the 
extent permitted by applicable Law, the parties hereto waive any provision of Law which 
renders any provision of this Agreement or any part thereof invalid or unenforceable in any 
respect. The Parties shall engage in good faith negotiations to replace any provision hereof or 
any part thereof which is declared invalid or unenforceable with a valid and enforceable 
provision or part thereof, the economic effect of which approximates as much as possible the 
invalid or unenforceable provision or part thereof which it replaces. 

1.9 Accounting Matters 

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings 
attributable thereto under IFRS and all determinations of an accounting nature required to be 
made hereunder shall be made in a manner consistent with IFRS. 

1.10 Schedules 

The following schedules attached hereto are incorporated into and form an integral part of this 
Agreement: 

Schedule “A”  - Plan of Arrangement 

Schedule “B”  -  Assets  
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ARTICLE 2 

THE ARRANGEMENT 

2.1 Initial Court Proceeding 

As soon as is reasonably practicable after the date of execution of this Agreement, and if deemed 
advisable, Global Blockchain shall file with the Court, proceed with and diligently prosecute 
an application for an Interim Order providing for, among other things, the calling and holding 
of the Meeting for the purpose of considering and, if deemed advisable, approving the 
Arrangement Resolution. Upon receipt of the Interim Order, Global Blockchain and Blockchain 
Mining will proceed to carry out the terms of the Interim Order as soon as practicable, to the 
extent applicable to each. 

2.2 Information Circular and Global Blockchain Meeting 

As promptly as practical following the execution of this Agreement and in compliance with the 
Interim Order, the BCBCA, the Securities Laws and any other applicable laws, Global 
Blockchain shall: 

(a) prepare the Circular and cause such circular to be mailed to the Shareholders and 
filed with all applicable regulatory authorities in all jurisdictions where the same are 
required to be mailed and filed; and 

(b) call and convene the Meeting. 

2.3 Final Court Proceeding 

Provided all necessary approvals for the Arrangement Resolution are obtained from the 
Shareholders, upon the completion of the Meeting, Global Blockchain shall forthwith submit the 
Arrangement to the Court for approval and apply for the Final Order. 

2.4 Arrangement Procedure 

Unless this Agreement is terminated pursuant to the provisions herein, upon issuance by the 
Court of the Final Order and subject to the conditions precedent in Article 5, the Arrangement 
shall be carried out substantially on the terms set forth in the Plan of Arrangement, subject to 
such changes as may be mutually agreed to in writing by the Parties on the advice of their 
respective legal, tax, and financial advisors, and closing of the Arrangement shall proceed in 
accordance with Section 2.5. 

2.5 Closing 

The Parties convene at  11:00 am  (Vancouver time), or such other time as may be agreed upon, 
on the Effective Date for the purposes of closing and giving effect to the Arrangement. Upon 
closing, the transactions comprising the Arrangement shall occur and shall be deemed to have 
occurred without any further act or formality in the order set out in the Plan of Arrangement. On 
closing, each Party shall deliver: 

(a) all documents required to be delivered by it hereunder to complete the transactions 
contemplated hereby, provided that each such document required to be dated the 
Effective Date shall be dated as of, or become effective on, the Effective Date and shall 
be held in escrow to be released upon the occurrence of the Effective Date; and 

(b) written confirmation as to the satisfaction or waiver by it of the conditions in its favour 
set forth in Article 5 herein. 
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ARTICLE  3  

COVENANTS 

3.1 Covenants Regarding the Arrangement 

From the date hereof until the Effective Date, Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining, 
respectively, will use all reasonable efforts to satisfy (or cause the satisfaction of) the 
conditions precedent to its obligations hereunder and to take, or cause to be taken, all other 
action and to do, or cause to be done, all other things necessary, proper or advisable under 
applicable laws to complete the Arrangement, including using reasonable efforts: 

(a) to obtain all necessary waivers, consents and approvals required to be obtained by it from 
any third parties to loan agreements, leases and other contracts; 

(b) to obtain all necessary consents, assignments, waivers and amendments to or 
terminations of any instruments and take such measures as may be appropriate to fulfill 
its obligations hereunder and to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby; and 

(c) to effect all necessary registrations and filings and submissions of information 
requested by governmental authorities required to be effected by it in connection with the 
Arrangement. 

3.2 Covenants Regarding Execution of Documents 

Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining, respectively, will perform all such acts and things, and 
execute and deliver all such agreements, notices and other documents and instruments as may 
reasonably be required to facilitate the carrying out of the intent and purpose of this Agreement. 

3.3 Global Blockchain Options and Warrants 

Blockchain Mining covenants and agrees, upon the exercise after the Effective Date of any 
Global Blockchain Share Commitments, to issue to the holder of the Global Blockchain 
Share Commitments that number of Blockchain Mining Shares that is equal to the number 
of Shares acquired upon the exercise of the Global Blockchain Share Commitments 
multiplied by the Exchange Factor, and Global Blockchain covenants and agrees to act as 
agent for Blockchain Mining to collect and pay to Blockchain Mining a portion of the 
proceeds received for each Global Blockchain Share Commitment so exercised, with the 
balance of the exercise price to be retained by Global Blockchain determined in accordance 
with the following formula: 

A = B x C/D 

Where:  

A is the portion of the proceeds to be received by Blockchain Mining for each 
Global Blockchain Share Commitment exercised after the Effective Date; 

B is the exercise price of the Global Blockchain Share Commitment; 

C is the fair market value of the Asset to be transferred to Blockchain Mining 
under the Arrangement, fair market value to be determined as at the 
Effective Date by resolution of the board of directors of Global Blockchain; 
and  

D is the total fair market value of all of the Asset of Global Blockchain 
immediately prior to completion of the Arrangement on the Effective Date.  
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Fractions of Blockchain Mining Shares resulting from such calculation will be cancelled as 
provided for in the Plan of Arrangement. 

ARTICLE 4 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

4.1    Representations and Warranties 
 
Each Party hereby represents and warrants to the other Parties that: 

(a) it is a corporation duly incorporated and validly subsisting under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of existence, and has full capacity and authority to enter into this 
Agreement and to perform its covenants and obligations hereunder; 

(b) it has taken all corporate actions necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by it; 

(c) neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the performance of any of its 
covenants and obligations hereunder will constitute a material default under, or be in 
any material contravention or breach of: (i) any provision of its constating or governing 
corporate documents, (ii) any judgment, decree, order, law, statute, rule or regulation 
applicable to it or (iii) any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it 
is bound; and 

(d) no dissolution, winding up, bankruptcy, liquidation or similar proceedings has been 
commenced or is pending or proposed in respect of it. 

ARTICLE 5 

CONDITIONS  PRECEDENT 

5.1    Mutual Conditions 

The obligations of the Parties to complete the transactions contemplated hereby are subject to 
fulfillment of the following conditions on or before the Effective Date or such other time as is 
specified below: 

a) the Arrangement Resolution shall have been passed by the Shareholders at the Meeting 
in accordance with the Arrangement provisions, the BCBCA, the constating 
documents of Global Blockchain, the Interim Order, if any, applicable securities 
regulations, and the requirements of any applicable regulatory authorities; 

b) the Final Order shall have been granted in form and substance satisfactory to each of 
Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining, acting reasonably, and shall not have been 
set aside or modified in a manner unacceptable to such Parties on appeal or otherwise; 

c) there shall be not be in force any order or decree restraining, enjoining or prohibiting 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the 
Arrangement, or that would result in a judgement or assessment of damages, directly 
or indirectly, relating to the transactions contemplated herein that is materially 
adverse; 

d) all approvals shall have been obtained and all other consents, waivers, permits, orders 
and approvals of any Governmental Entity or other Person, and the expiry of any 
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waiting periods, in connection with, or required to permit, the consummation of the 
Arrangement, the failure of which to obtain or the non expiry of which would be 
materially adverse to any Party, or materially impede the completion of the 
Arrangement, shall have been obtained or received on terms reasonably satisfactory 
to each Party; 

e) this agreement shall not have been terminated under Section 6.2; 

f) the shares issuable under the Arrangement shall be eligible for issuance pursuant to 
a prospectus exemption and shall not be subject to resale restrictions in Canada other 
than in respect of restrictions applicable to sales of control block shares, seasoning 
periods and requirements of general application; 

The foregoing conditions are for the mutual benefit of the Parties and may be waived, in whole or 
in part, by any of Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining at any time without prejudice to 
such Party's right to rely on any other of such conditions. If any of the said conditions precedent 
shall not be satisfied or waived as aforesaid on or before the date required for the performance 
thereof, any one of Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining may rescind and terminate this 
Agreement by written notice to the other Parties and the rescinding Party shall have no other 
right or remedy. 

5.2    Merger of Conditions 

The conditions set out in Section 5.1 shall be conclusively deemed to have been satisfied, 
waived or released upon the Effective Date and the depositing of an entered copy of the Final 
Order with Global Blockchain’s records office. 

ARTICLE 6  

GENERAL MATTERS 

6.1 Amendment 

This Agreement may, at any time and from time to time before or after the holding of the Meeting, 
be amended by mutual written agreement of the Parties without, subject to applicable Laws, 
further notice to or authorization on the part of their respective shareholders provided that no 
such amendment reduces or materially adversely affects the consideration to be received by a 
Shareholder without approval by the Shareholders, given in the same manner as required for the 
approval of the Arrangement Resolution or as may be ordered by the Court. 

6.2 Termination 

This Agreement may be terminated in accordance with Section 5.1 or by mutual agreement of 
the Parties at any time prior to the Effective Date, in each case without further action on the part 
of the Shareholders. This Agreement will terminate automatically if the Arrangement has not 
been effected by the Termination Date. The right of any Party to terminate this Agreement shall 
be extinguished upon the occurrence of the Effective Date. 
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6.3 Expenses 

All costs and expenses of the transactions contemplated hereby, including legal fees, financial 
advisory fees, regulatory filing fees, all disbursements by advisors and printing and mailing costs 
shall be paid and borne by Global Blockchain. 

6.4 Notices 

Any notice, consent, waiver, direction or other communication required or permitted to be given 
under this Agreement by a Party to the other Party shall be in writing and may be given by 
delivering same or sending same by facsimile transmission or by delivery addressed to the Party 
to which the notice is to be given at its address set out below or such other address as a Party 
may, from time to time, advise to the other Party by notice in writing made in accordance with 
this section. Any notice, consent, waiver, direction or other communication aforesaid shall, if 
delivered, be deemed to have been given and received on the date on which it was delivered to the 
address provided herein (if a business day, if not, then on the next succeeding business day) and 
if sent by facsimile transmission be deemed to have been given and received at the time of 
receipt unless received after 4:00 p.m. at the point of delivery in which case it shall be deemed 
to have been given and received on the next business day as follows: 

if to Global Blockchain: 

Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. 
810 – 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, 
BC V6C 1H2  
Fax: 604-687-3141 

if to Blockchain Mining 

Global Blockchain Mining Corp. 
810 – 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, 
BC V6C 1H2  
Fax: 604-687-3141 

6.5 Third Party Beneficiaries 

The Parties intend that this Agreement shall not benefit or create any right or cause of action in 
or on behalf of any Person other than the Parties. 

6.6 Governing Law 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province 
of British Columbia and the laws of Canada applicable therein. Each Party hereby attorns to the 
exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of the Province of British Columbia, sitting in the City of 
Vancouver, in respect of all matters arising under or in relation to this Agreement. 
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6.7 Waiver 

No waiver by any Party shall be effective unless in writing and any waiver shall affect only the 
matter, and the occurrence thereof, specifically identified and shall not extend to any other 
matter or occurrence. 

6.8 Enurement and Assignment 

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. This Agreement is personal to the Parties and may not be 
assigned by any Party without the prior written consent of the other Party. For greater certainty, 
a change of control shall be deemed to be an assignment in respect of which such prior 
written consent shall be required. 

6.9 Execution in Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and delivered by electronic methods of 
communication, and each electronic signature shall be deemed to be an original and all 
counterparts collectively shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above 
written. 

GLOBAL BLOCKCHAIN TECHNOLOGIES CORP. 

 

Per:        
Authorized Signatory 

 

GLOBAL BLOCKCHAIN MINING CORP.  

 

Per:        
Authorized Signatory 

 



 
 

12 
 

SCHEDULE A 

 

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 

ARTICLE 1 

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1    Definitions 

In this Plan of Arrangement the following capitalized words and terms shall have the 
following meanings: 

"Arrangement", "herein", "hereof, "hereto", "hereunder" and similar expressions mean 
and refer to the proposed arrangement involving Global Blockchain and Blockchain 
Mining and the Shareholders pursuant to the Arrangement Provisions on the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Plan of Arrangement as supplemented, modified or amended, 
and not to any particular article, section or other portion hereof; 

"Arrangement Agreement' means the arrangement agreement among Global Blockchain 
and Blockchain Mining, dated the 16th day of February 2018, and all amendments 
thereto; 

"Arrangement Provisions" means Division 5 of Part 9 of the BCBCA; 

"Arrangement Resolution" means the special resolution in respect to the Arrangement 
and other related matters to be considered at the Meeting; 

"Assets" means the assets of Global Blockchain described in Schedule “B” to the 
Arrangement Agreement; 

"BCBCA" means the Business Corporations Act, (British Columbia), as amended or 

replaced from time to time; 

"Blockchain Mining" means Global Blockchain Mining Corp., a private company 
incorporated under the BCBCA; 

“Blockchain Mining Commitment” means the covenant of Blockchain Mining 
described herein whereby Blockchain Mining is obligated to issue Blockchain Mining 
Shares to the holders of Global Blockchain Share Commitments who exercise their rights 
thereunder after the Effective Date, and who are entitled under the corporate 
reorganization terms thereof  to receive Shares and Blockchain Mining Shares upon such 
exercise; 

"Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares" means the Blockchain Mining Shares that are 
to be distributed to the Shareholders pursuant to §2.4; 
 
"Blockchain Mining Shareholder" means the sole holder of Blockchain Mining Shares, 
which shall remain Global Blockchain until the completion of the Plan of Arrangement; 

"Blockchain Mining Shares" means the common shares without par value in the 
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authorized share structure of Blockchain Mining; 

"Business Day" means any day other than Saturday, Sunday and a statutory holiday in 
the Province of British Columbia; 

"Circular" means the management information circular to be sent to the Global 
Blockchain in connection with the Meeting; 

"Court" means the Supreme Court of British Columbia; 

"Effective Date" means the Business Day following the date of the Final Order, the date 
that Arrangement shall become effective under the BCBCA; 

"Final Order" means the final order of the Court approving the Arrangement, as such 
order may be affirmed, amended or modified by any court of competent jurisdiction; 

"Global Blockchain" means Global Blockchain Mining Corp., a company incorporated 

under the BCBCA; 

“Global Blockchain Options” means share purchase options issued pursuant to the 
Global Blockchain Stock Option Plan which are outstanding on the Effective Date; 

“Global Blockchain Share Commitments” means an obligation of Global 
Blockchain to issue Shares and to deliver Blockchain Mining Shares to the holders of 
Global Blockchain Options and Global Blockchain Warrants which are outstanding 
on the Effective Date, upon the exercise of such stock options and warrants; 

“Global Blockchain Warrants” means share purchase warrants of Global 
Blockchain that are outstanding on the Effective Date; 

 “Interim Order" means an interim order of the Court concerning the Arrangement, 
containing declarations and directions with respect to the Arrangement and the holding of 
the Meeting, as such order may be affirmed, amended or modified by any court of 
competent jurisdiction; 

"Meeting" means the special meeting of Shareholders to be held to consider the 
Arrangement Resolution and related matters, and any adjournments thereof; 

“Parties" means Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining, and "Party" means any 
one of them; 

"Plan" or "Plan of Arrangement" means this plan of arrangement as amended or 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and the Arrangement 
Agreement; 

"Registrar" means the Registrar of Companies for the Province of British Columbia 
duly appointed under the BCBCA; 

"Share Distribution Record Date" means the Record Date for the Meeting, which date 
establishes the Shareholders who will be entitled to receive Blockchain Mining Shares 
pursuant to this Plan of Arrangement; 

"Shareholder" means a holder of Global Blockchain Common Shares; 

"Shares" means the common shares without par value in the authorized share structure 
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of Global Blockchain; 

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended; 

"Transfer Agent" means National Issuer Services Ltd; 

1.2 Interpretation Not Affected by Headings 

The division of this Plan of Arrangement into Articles, Sections, subsections and paragraphs 
and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect in any 
way the meaning or interpretation of this Plan of Arrangement. 

1.3 Article References 

Unless the contrary intention appears, references in this Plan of Arrangement to an Article, 
Section, subsection, paragraph or Schedule by number or letter or both refer to the Article, 
Section, subsection, paragraph or Schedule, respectively, bearing that designation in this Plan 
of Arrangement. 

1.4 Number and Gender 

In this Plan of Arrangement, unless the contrary intention appears, words importing the singular 
include the plural and vice versa; words importing gender shall include all genders; and words 
importing persons shall include a natural person, firm, trust, partnership, association, 
corporation, joint venture or government (including any governmental agency, political 
subdivision or instrumentality thereof). 

1.5 Capitalized Terms 

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the 
Arrangement Agreement. 

1.6 Date for Any Action 

If any date on which any action is required to be taken hereunder by any of the Parties falls on a 

day that is not a Business Day, such action is required to be taken on the next succeeding day 
which is a Business Day. 

1.7 Currency 

All references to currency in this Plan of Arrangement are to Canadian dollars. 

ARTICLE 2 

ARRANGEMENT 

2.1 Arrangement Agreement and Effective Date 

This Plan of Arrangement is made pursuant and subject to the provisions of the Arrangement 
Agreement as it may be amended and in accordance with the directions of the Court. The 
Arrangement as set forth in the Plan of Arrangement will become effective on the Effective 
Date in accordance with the terms thereof and hereof. 

2.2 Conditions Precedent 

The implementation of this Plan of Arrangement is expressly subject to the fulfillment and/or 
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waiver by the Party or Parties entitled of the conditions precedent set out in the Arrangement 
Agreement. 

 

2.3 Binding Nature 

The Arrangement shall become final and conclusively binding on the Shareholders, the 
Blockchain Mining Shareholder, Global Blockchain and Blockchain Mining, on the Effective 
Date. 

2.4 Arrangement Procedure 

On the Effective Date the following shall occur and be deemed to occur in the following 
chronological order without further act or formality, notwithstanding any other provisions 
hereof, but subject to the provisions of Article 3: 

Blockchain Mining 

a) Global Blockchain shall transfer the specified Assets to Blockchain Mining and 
Blockchain Mining shall issue the same amount of common shares that are 
issued and outstanding of Global Blockchain as of the Record Date, of 
Blockchain Mining Shares to Global Blockchain, all of which Blockchain 
Mining Shares (the "Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares") shall be 
immediately transferred to the Shareholders as a dividend, as contemplated by 
§2.4 (b); 

b) Global Blockchain shall transfer the Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares to 
each Shareholder on the basis of 1 Blockchain Mining Distribution Share for 
every 1 Share held as of the Share Distribution Record Date; and 

c) each holder of Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares shall be added to the 
central securities register of  Blockchain Mining. 

After the Effective Date: 

d) all Global Blockchain Share Commitments will be exercisable for Shares and 
Blockchain Mining Shares in accordance with the corporate reorganization terms 
of such commitments, whereby the acquisition of one Global Blockchain Share 
under an Global Blockchain Share Commitment will result in the holder of the 
Global Blockchain Share Commitment receiving one Share and such number of 
Blockchain Mining Shares equal to the number of Shares so received multiplied 
by the Exchange Factor, 

e) pursuant to the Blockchain Mining Commitment, Blockchain Mining will issue 
the required number of Blockchain Mining Shares upon the exercise of Global 
Blockchain Share Commitments as is directed by the Company, and 

f) the Company will, as agent for Blockchain Mining collect and pay to Blockchain 
Mining a portion of the proceeds received for each Global Blockchain Share 
Commitment so exercised, with the balance of the exercise price to be retained 
by Blockchain, as determined in accordance with §3.3 of the Arrangement 
Agreement. 
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2.5 Fractional Shares 

Notwithstanding §2.4 no fractional Blockchain Mining Shares shall be distributed to the 
Shareholders or the holders of Global Blockchain Share Commitments and as a result all 
fractional share amounts arising under such sections shall be rounded down to the nearest whole 
number. Any Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares not distributed as a result of such rounding 
shall be dealt with as determined by the board of directors of Global Blockchain in its absolute 
discretion. 

2.6 Valid Issuance of Shares 

All shares issued pursuant to this Plan of Arrangement shall be deemed to be validly issued and 
outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable shares for all purposes of the BCBCA. 

2.7 Further Acts 

Notwithstanding that the transactions or events set out in this Article 2 occur and shall be 
deemed to occur in the order herein set out without any further act or formality, each of Global 
Blockchain and Blockchain Mining agree to make, do and execute or cause to be made, done 
and executed all such further acts, deeds, agreements, transfers, assurances, instruments or 
documents as may be required by it in order to further document or evidence any of the 
transactions or events set out in this Article 2 including, without limitation, any resolutions of 
directors authorizing the issue, transfer or cancellation of shares, any share transfer powers 
evidencing the transfer of shares and any receipt therefor and any necessary additions to or 
deletions from share registers. 

2.8 Trades after the Share Distribution Record Date 

Shares traded after the Share Distribution Record Date shall not carry any right to receive a portion 
of the Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares. 

ARTICLE 3 

 DISSENTING SHAREHOLDERS 

3.1  Notwithstanding Article 2 hereof, holders of Shares may exercise rights of dissent 
(the "Dissent Right") in connection with the Arrangement pursuant to the Interim Order, if 
any, and in the manner set forth in sections 237 to  247  of the BCBCA (appended to the 
Information Circular for the Meeting) (collectively,  the  "Dissent Procedures"). 

3.2 Shareholders who duly exercise Dissent Rights with respect to 
their Shares ("Dissenting Shares") and who: 

(a) are ultimately entitled to be paid fair value for their Dissenting Shares, shall 
be deemed to have transferred their Dissenting Shares to Global Blockchain 
for cancellation immediately before the Effective Date; or 

(b) for any reason are ultimately not entitled to be paid fair value for their 
Dissenting Shares, shall be deemed to have participated in the Arrangement 
on the same basis as a non-dissenting Shareholder and shall receive Blockchain 
Mining Distribution Shares on the same basis as every other non-dissenting 
Shareholder. 

3.3 If a Shareholder exercises the Dissent Right, Global Blockchain shall on the Effective Date 
set aside and shall not distribute that portion of the Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares that 



 
 

17 
 

is attributable to the Shares for which the Dissent Right has been exercised. If the dissenting 
Shareholder is ultimately not entitled to be paid for their Dissenting Shares Global Blockchain 
shall distribute to such Shareholder his, her or its pro-rata portion of the Blockchain Mining 
Distribution Shares. If a Shareholder duly complies with the Dissent Procedures and is 
ultimately entitled to be paid for their Dissenting Shares, then Global Blockchain shall retain the 
portion of the Blockchain Mining Distribution Shares attributable to such Shareholder (the 
"Non-Distributed Shares"), and the Non-Distributed Shares shall become assets of Global 
Blockchain and shall be dealt with as determined by the board of directors of Global 
Blockchain in its absolute discretion. 

ARTICLE 4  

 AMENDMENTS 

4.1 The Parties may amend, modify and/or supplement this Plan of Arrangement at any 
time and from time to time prior to the Effective Date, provided that each such amendment, 
modification and/or supplement must be: 

(a) set out in writing; 

(b) filed with the Court and, if made following the Meeting, approved by the Court; 
and  

(c) communicated to holders of Shares and Blockchain Mining Shares , as the case 
may be, if and as required by the Court. 

4.2 Any amendment, modification or supplement to this Plan of Arrangement may be 
proposed by Global Blockchain at any time prior to the Meeting with or without any other prior 
notice or communication, and if so proposed and accepted by the persons voting at the Meeting 
(other than as may be required under the Interim Order, if any), shall become part of this Plan 
of Arrangement for all purposes. 

4.3 Global Blockchain, with the consent of Blockchain Mining, may amend, modify and/or 
supplement this Plan of Arrangement at any time and from time to time after the Meeting and 
prior to the Effective Date with the approval of the Court. 

4.4 Any amendment, modification or supplement to this Plan of Arrangement may be 
made following the Effective Date but shall only be effective if it is consented to by all of the 
Parties, provided that such amendment, modification or supplement concerns a matter which, 
in the reasonable opinion of the Parties, is of an administrative nature required to better give effect 
to the implementation of this Plan of Arrangement and is not adverse to the financial or 
economic interests of the Parties or any former Shareholder or Blockchain Mining Shareholder, 
as the case may be. 

ARTICLE 5 

REFERENCE DATE AND TERMINATION 

5.1 This Plan of Arrangement is dated for reference the date first written in the 
Arrangement Agreement. 

5.2 At any time up until the time the Final Order is made, the Parties may mutually 
determine not to proceed with this Plan of Arrangement, or to terminate this Plan of 
Arrangement, notwithstanding any prior approvals given at the Meeting. In addition to the 
foregoing, this Plan of Arrangement shall automatically, without notice, terminate immediately 
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and be of no further force or effect, upon the termination of the Arrangement Agreement in 
accordance with its terms. 
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SCHEDULE B 

ASSETS 

 

To Global Blockchain Mining Corp. 

 

1) 6,666 machines and 100 mw of power; 
2) the proposed acquisition of Coinstream; 
3)  Coinstream’s additional assets including its stake in Distributed Mining; and  
4) $500,000 for working capital. 
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Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements of Global Blockchain Mining Corp.  

for the period from incorporation, November 9, 2017 to January 31, 2018 

 

 

 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GLOBAL BLOCKCHAIN MINING CORP. 
 

Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at January 31, 2018 

(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

  



 
 

NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

 
 

 
Under National Instrument 51-102, Continuous Disclosure Requirement, if an auditor has not performed a review of the consolidated 
pro forma financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial 
statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. 
 
The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated interim financial statements of Global Blockchain Mining Corp. (the 
“Company”) have been prepared by and are the responsibility of management.  These pro forma consolidated financial statements as 
at January 31, 2018 have not been reviewed or audited by the Company’s independent auditors in accordance with standards 
established by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. 



Global Blockchain Mining Corp. 
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at January 31, 2018 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
   Global 

Blockchain 
Technologies 

Corp., as at 
January 31, 

2018 
(Note 1) 

  
Notes to Pro 

Forma 
Adjustments 

(Note 2(a))  (Note 2(b))  (Note 2(c)) 

Pro forma 
statement of 

financial 
position 

ASSETS      

Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 3,149,571 $  (2,649,571) $ - $   $ 500,000 
Amounts receivable   104,233 (104,233) - -   - 
Share subscriptions receivable   73,333 (73,333) - - - 
Marketable securities   36,400 (36,400) - - - 
Interest receivable   11,308 (11,308) - - - 
Investments   12,043,373 (12,043,373) - - - 
Prepaid   876,509 (876,509) - - - 
   16,294,727 (15,794,727) - -   500,000 
Non-current assets      
Property and equipment 31,782,436 - - - 31,782,436 
Investment in Coinstream Mining Corp.   - - 44,525,000 - 44,525,000 
Investments - - - 1,888,200 1,888,200 
    31,782,436   -   44,525,000   1,888,200 78,195,636 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 48,077,163  $ (15,794,727)  $ 44,525,000  $ 1,888,200  $ 78,695,636 

LIABILITIES   
 

  
Current liabilities      
Trade payables   $ 96,825 $      (96,825) $ - $   $ - 
 

  
 

  
Non-current liabilities 
Due to Global Blockchain Technology 
Corp.   - - 

 
 

44,525,000 1,888,200 46,413,200 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   96,825 (96,825) 44,525,000 1,888,200 46,413,200 

EQUITY   
 

  
Share capital   57,149,406   (24,866,970) - -   32,282,436 
Reserves   18,407,538   (18,407,538) - -   - 
Accumulated deficit   (27,576,606) 27,576,606 - -   - 

TOTAL EQUITY   47,980,338 (15,697,902) - -   32,282,436 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 48,077,163 $  (15,794,727) $  44,525,000 $    1,888,200  $ 78,695,636 

      
 
 



Global Blockchain Mining Corp. 
Notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of Financial Position 
As at January 31, 2018 
 
1. Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position of Global Blockchain Mining Corp. (the “Company”) 
has been prepared by management to show the proposed transactions (the “Transaction”) as described in Note 2. The Company was 
incorporated on November 9, 2017 under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Global 
Blockchain Technologies Corp. (“GBT”). 
 
The pro-forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared from information derived from and should be read in conjunction 
with the condensed consolidated interim financial statements of GBT as at January 31, 2018.  
 
The unaudited pro-forma statement of financial position of the Company as at January 31, 2018 has been presented assuming the 
transaction had been completed on January 31, 2018. 
 
The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments necessary for fair presentation.  
 
The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position have been prepared for illustration purposes only and may not be 
indicative of the results or financial position had the Transaction been in effect at the date and for the period indicated. 
 
2. Pro-Forma Assumptions and Adjustments 
 
The Company and GBT have completed a plan of arrangement to spin out certain GBT assets into the Company and list it as a 
separate publicly listed Canadian entity (the “Transaction”). The spinout was completed on a one-for-one basis with every share held of 
GBT as at March 1, 2018 entitling the holder to one share of the Company.  
 
The unaudited consolidated pro-forma statement of financial position gives effect to the following assumptions and adjustments: 
 

a) The deduction of the assets and liabilities of GBT to give effect to the remaining assets and liabilities of the Company upon 
spinout; 
 

b) The issuance by GBT of 32,500,000 common shares with a fair value of $44,525,000 for the Company to acquire 100% of the 
issued and outstanding shares of Coinstream Mining Corp.; and 

 
c) The acquisition of a 25% interest in Distributed Mining Inc. (“DMI”), a private US Corporation, by the Company with a fair value 

of $1,888,200 (USD $1,500,000), paid for by GBT.   
 
3. Pro-forma share capital 
 
The Company issued 340,570,263 common shares to the GBT shareholders on the date of the Transaction with a fair value of 
$32,282,436, which is the value of property and equipment and cash transferred from GBT. 
 
Company’s common shares issued and outstanding as at January 31, 2018   1  $ - 
Shares issued to GBT shareholders on spinout   340,570,263   32,282,436 
   340,570,264  $ 32,282,436 
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APPENDIX C 

 

Audited Financial Statements of Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. 

for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 and Unaudited Interim Financial Statements of 

Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. for the nine month period ended January 31, 2018. 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

CARRUS CAPITAL CORPORATION 
 
Financial Statements 
 
For the year ended April 30, 2017 
 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of: 

Carrus Capital Corporation 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Carrus Capital Corporation which comprise the statements of 

financial position as at April 30, 2017 and 2016, the statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in 

shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.  
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the company’s  internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the financial statements. 
 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Carrus Capital 

Corporation as at April 30, 2017 and 2016, and its financial performance and cash flows for the years then ended, in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

Emphasis of Matters 
 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that the Company 

has incurred losses to date.  This condition, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicates the existence of a 

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.   

     

“Charlton & Company” 

      CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, BC 

July 27, 2017
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(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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As at April 30 2017  2016 

ASSETS                                                

CURRENT ASSETS         

Cash  $  531,489  $  21,811  

Interest receivable (Note 5)    2,045     647  

Prepaid  536  - 

Marketable securities (Note 4)   21,375    65,942 

Current investment (Note 5)  9,819  - 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   565,264   88,400 
         

Long-term investment (Note 5)  -  9,247 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 565,264 $  97,647 

          

           

LIABILITIES         

CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Trade and other payables (Note 6) $ 93,299  $  17,855  

Current promissory notes and interest payable (Note 7)   -     12,930  

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES    93,299    30,785 
         

Long-term promissory notes and interest payable (Note 7)  -  168,938 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   93,299   199,723 

          

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY         

Share capital (Note 8)    1,869,933    1,665,195 

Reserves (Note 8)    1,247,173    115,440 

Accumulated deficit    (2,645,141)      (1,882,711)    

    471,965     (102,076)   

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 565,264 $  97,647 

 

 

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on July 27, 2017. They are signed on 
the Board's behalf by:  

            “Troy Grant”                   “Brandon Boddy” 
______________________________           _______________________________          

Director         Director 

 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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3 

 

  
   
For the year ended April 30, 

 
 

2017 

 
 

2016 

Investment loss         

Fair value loss on marketable securities (Note 4) $ (46,567) $ (400,237) 

        

Expenses       

Consulting fees   39,503   27,540 

Investor communications   2,546   2,970 

Management fees on marketable securities   242   4,927 

Office and general administration   10,169   4,029 

Professional fees   25,174   25,242 

Transfer agent, regulatory and listing fees   24,006   21,938 

Share-based payments  608,360  - 

Total expenses   710,000   86,646 

Loss from operations   (756,567)   (486,883) 

Foreign exchange loss   -   (100) 

Finance costs (Note 7)   (17,697)   (28,573) 

Interest income (Note 5)  1,398  1,647 

Settlement of debt (Note 9)  -  74,087 

Recovery on payables  -  15,303 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period $ (772,866) $ (424,519) 

        

Basic and diluted loss per share for the period  $ (0.29) $ (0.18) 

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding    2,695,357   2,292,414 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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       Reserves      

  

 Number of 
common 

shares  
 Share 
capital  

Equity settled 
share-based 

payment 
reserve  Finders fees  

    Other 
reserves   Total  

 Accumulated 
deficit  

  Total 
shareholders' 

equity 

 Balance, April 30, 2015   2,292,414  $1,665,195  $27,097  $            -  $100,000  $127,097  $(1,474,853) $317,439  

 Share purchase warrants issued pursuant                                                                                                                                                    
to promissory notes (Note 8) 

-  - 5,004  -  - 5,004  -  5,004  

 Reclassification of grant-date fair value 
 on expired of stock options  

 -   -   (16,661) -  -   (16,661)  16,661   -  

 Net loss for the period  -   -   -   -   -   -   (424,519)  (424,519) 

 Balance, April 30, 2016   2,292,414  $1,665,195  $15,440  $            -  $100,000 $115,440  $(1,882,711) $(102,076) 

 Cash received from:         

Private placement, net 1,633,498 159,734 38,813 - - 38,813 - 198,547 

Warrants exercised  800,000 45,004 (5,004) - - (5,004) - 40,000 

Issuance of special warrants - - 536,560 (36,560) - 500,000 - 500,000 

  Reclassification of grant-date fair value 
  on expired of stock options 

- - (10,436) - - (10,436) 10,436 - 

  Share-based payments - - 608,360 - - 608,360 - 608,360 

  Net loss for the period  -   -   -   -   -   -   (772,866)  (772,866) 

 Balance, April 30, 2017  4,725,912  $1,869,933  $1,183,733 $(36,560) $100,000 1,247,173  $(2,645,141) $471,965 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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For the year ended 

  
 

 
April 30, 2017 

  
 

April 30, 2016 

Cash provided by (used in):          

OPERATING ACTIVITIES         
Net loss for the year $ (772,866) $  (424,519) 
Purchase of marketable securities   (2,000)   (15,000) 
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities   -   42,063 

               (774,866)   (397,456) 

Items not affecting operating cash:          

Share-based payments   608,360   -  

Fair value loss on marketable securities                 46,567    400,237  

Finance costs on promissory notes payable                   18,269   6,406 

Accretion  (572)  - 

Finance costs on government assistance                   -   15,185 

Warrants attached to loan payable  -  5,004 

Bonus common share warrants from loan agreement  -  753 

Recovery on payables  -  (15,303) 

Settlement of government assistance debt  -                  (74,089) 

                 (102,242)                (59,263) 

Net changes in non-cash working capital:          

Other receivable   -   61,526 

Interest receivable on promissory notes receivable   (1,398)    - 

Prepaid expenses   (536)    5,200 

Trade and other payables  75,444  (15,974) 
             (28,732)    (8,511) 

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES         

Loans receivable issued  -  (20,000) 

Loans receivable repaid  -  10,000 

    -                (10,000)  

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

Cash received from special warrants  500,000  - 

Proceeds from exercise of warrants  40,000  - 

Proceeds from private placement  245,025  - 

Share issuance costs  (46,478)  - 

Repayment of loans and accrued interest  (200,137)  - 

Funds from promissory notes payable  -  40,000 

Government assistance repayments  -  (38,798) 

    538,410   1,202 

          

Increase in cash                  509,678                 (17,309) 

Cash, beginning of the year                   21,811                    39,120  

Cash, end of the year $                 531,489  $ 21,811  

          

OTHER SUPPLEMENT INFORMATION 

Interest paid  $  30,137 
 

$  -  

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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1 NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  

Carrus Capital Corporation (“Carrus” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) as a biotechnology company on February 12, 2010.  
 
On August 19, 2011, the Company received TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) approval of its change of business 
from a biotechnology company to an investment issuer and its application to list its common shares for trading 
on the TSXV as a tier 2 “investment issuer”. The Company’s common shares are listed on the TSXV under the 
symbol "CHQ". The Company’s primary business is the identification and strategic investment in a diversified 
portfolio of public and private companies for capital growth. The Company’s registered office is located at 1320 
– 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3E8. 
 
On February 11, 2014, the Company entered into a plan of arrangement agreement ("Arrangement"). Pursuant to 
the Arrangement, the Company incorporated three wholly-owned Canadian subsidiaries: BioAB Strategies Ltd. 
(“BioAB”), BioDE Ventures Ltd. (“BioDE”) and BioHEP Technologies Ltd. (“BioHEP”) and transferred certain 
biotechnology assets to the subsidiaries in exchange for common shares of the respective entities. Subsequently, 
the Company distributed the shares of BioAB, BioDE and BioHEP to its shareholders in a spin-out arrangement. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes that the Company will 
be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business in the foreseeable future. 
During the year ended April 30, 2017 the Company generated a net loss of $772,866 (2016 – $424,519) and had 
working capital of $471,965 as at April 30, 2017 (April 30, 2016 – $57,615). The Company will require additional 
financing or need to liquidate certain of its investments to continue operating. Management is planning to raise 
additional capital to finance operations and expected growth, and continues to seek high return opportunities 
through the identification of investment in the securities of other companies, assets or businesses. These financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to the recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that 
might be necessary, should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and realize its assets is dependent on its ability to raise 
capital through public equity financing, or upon the generation of income from the disposition of its investments, 
the outcome of which cannot be predicted at this time. 
 

 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

(a) Statement of compliance  

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
(b) Approval of the financial statements 

These financial statements were reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and authorized for issuance by 
the Board of Directors of the Company on July 27, 2017. 
 
(c) Basis of presentation 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments 
that have been measured at fair value. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information.  
 
The presentation and functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar. 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

(d) Significant accounting judgments and estimates  

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. The financial 
statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impact of such estimates are pervasive 
throughout the financial statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and may affect 
both the period of revision and future periods. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty and judgments that 
management has made at the statements of financial position date, that could result in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate 
to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities include, but are not limited to the following: 
 
The fair value of financial instruments 
 
The fair value of certain financial instruments is subject to the limitations of the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model that incorporates market data and involves uncertainty in estimates made by management in the 
assumptions. Because the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective 
assumptions, including the volatility of share prices, changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect 
the fair value estimate. 
 
Interest rate 
 
The Company estimates a fair value interest rate in determining the bifurcation of the promissory notes payable 
into its liability and equity components.  
 
The recoverability of other receivables 
 
Other receivables are recorded at the estimated recoverable amount, which involves the estimate of uncollectible 
accounts.  
 
While management believes judgments and the estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from those 
judgments and estimates and could impact future results of operations and cash flows. 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

(d) Significant accounting judgments and estimates (Continued) 

 
Share-based payment expense 
 
The Company grants share-based awards to certain officers, employees, directors and other eligible persons. For 
equity settled awards, the fair value is charged to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss and 
credited to contributed surplus, over the vesting period using the graded vesting method, after adjusting for the 
estimated number of awards that are expected to vest. 
 
The fair value of the equity-settled awards is determined at the date of the grant using the Black-Sholes option 
pricing model. Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected 
price, expected volatility and expected life of the options. Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the 
fair value estimate, and therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair 
value of the Company’s stock options. 
 
Critical accounting judgments 
 
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements include, but are not limited to: 
 
Going concern assumption 
 
The assessment of whether the going concern assumption is appropriate requires management to take into 
account all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end 
of the reporting period. 
 
While management believes judgments and the estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from those 
judgments and estimates and could impact future results of operations and cash flows. 

 
3     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Company. 
 
(a) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the statements of financial position when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Marketable securities transactions are 
accounted for on a settlement date basis. 
 

  



Carrus Capital Corporation  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended April 30, 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

9 

3     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Financial assets 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, at initial recognition, depending 
on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as 
follows: 
 
Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives or financial assets acquired or incurred 
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. They are carried in the statements of 
financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

 
Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at amortized cost less any provision for impairment. 
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective 
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss 
when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  
 
Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. If there is 
objective evidence that the investment is impaired, determined by reference to external credit ratings and other 
relevant indicators, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any 
changes to the carrying amount of the investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as 
available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive 
income. Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of 
impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from equity and recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Transactions costs associated with fair value through profit or loss financial assets are expensed as incurred, 
while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the 
asset. 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has 
been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and prolonged decline in the 
value of the instrument is considered to determine when impairment has arisen.  
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the 
liability was incurred. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as follows: 
 
Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives or liabilities acquired or incurred principally 
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. They are carried in the statements of financial position 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Other financial liabilities - This category includes trade and other payables and government assistance repayable. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.   
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3     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Impairment of non-current assets 

At each financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. Where the asset does 
not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. Fair value is 
determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit 
or loss. 

 
(c) Share capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares 
and common share warrants are recognized as a deduction from equity. Common shares issued for non-
monetary consideration are measured based on their market value at the date the common shares are issued.  

 

            The proceeds from the issuance of units are allocated between common shares and warrants based on the 
residual value method. Under this method, the proceeds are allocated first to capital stock based on the fair 
value of the common shares at the time the units are priced and any residual value is allocated to the warrants 
reserve. Consideration received for the exercise of warrants is recorded in capital stock, and any related amount 
recorded in warrants reserve is transferred to capital stock. 

 

(d) Income (loss) per share 

The Company presents basic and diluted income (loss) per share data for its common shares, calculated by 
dividing the income (loss) attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income per share is determined by adjusting the income 
attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential common shares. However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes the 
effects of various conversions and exercise of options and warrants that would be anti-dilutive. Basic and diluted 
income (loss) per share is the same for the years presented.  
 
(e) Finance costs 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(g) Government grants 

An unconditional government grant is recognized in profit or loss as other income when the grant becomes 
receivable. Other government grants are recognized initially as deferred income at fair value when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with the conditions associated with 
the grant. Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognized in profit or loss as other 
income on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate 
the Company for the cost of an asset are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of 
the asset. The liability to repay these government grants is recognized during the period in which conditions arise 
that would cause the government grant to be repayable. 
 
(h) Share-based payments 

The share option plan allows the Company’s directors, executive officers, employees and consultants to acquire 
common shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is recognized as a share-based payment 
expense with a corresponding increase in equity-settled share-based payment reserve. An individual is classified 
as an employee when the individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes (direct employee) or provides services 
similar to those performed by a direct employee. 
 
The fair value of employee options is measured at the grant date, and the fair value of non-employee options is 
measured at the date or over the period during which goods or services are received. The fair value of the options 
granted to employees is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair value of each tranche of options granted, which do 
not vest immediately on grant, is recognized using the graded vesting method over the period during which the 
options vest. At each financial position reporting date, the amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the actual number of share options that are expected to vest. Share-based payments for non-employees are 
measured at either the fair value of the goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instrument issued, 
if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured.  
 
Share-based payment expense is credited to the equity-settled share-based payment reserve. If the options are 
later exercised, their fair value is transferred from the reserve to share capital.  
 
For unexercised expired options, the corresponding amount of share-based payment expense attributed to these 
options is reclassified from equity-settled share-based payment reserve to deficit.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(i) Income taxes 

Income tax on profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case 
it is recognized as equity.  

 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at period-end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regard to prior years. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the statement of financial position method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax 
purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using expected tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the 
statement of financial position. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  

 
(j) Return of capital 

The liability to distribute non-cash assets to the Company’s shareholders as return of capital is measured at the 
fair value of the assets to be distributed. At the end of each reporting period and at the date of settlement, the 
carrying amount of the payable is reviewed and adjusted, with any changes in the carrying amount of the payable 
recognized in equity as adjustments to the amount of the distribution. When the liability is settled, any difference 
between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the payable shall be recognized 
in profit or loss. 

 
(k)  Future changes to accounting standards 

New Standards Recently Adopted 
 
The Company has adopted the following new accounting standards and interpretations effective May 1, 2016.  
These changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions and had no impact on its 
financial statements. 

 

 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments - The amendment clarifies the applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 
Disclosure - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities to financial statements. This amendment 
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(k)  Future changes to accounting standards 
New Standards Not Yet Effective 
 
The following is an overview of new accounting standards that the Company will be required to adopt in future 
years.  The Company does not expect to adopt any of these standards before their effective dates.  The Company 
continues to evaluate the impact of these standards on its financial statements. 

 

 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments - This standard provides added guidance on the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. 

 

 IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows) - These amendments require 
that the following changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are disclosed (to the extent 
necessary): (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of 
subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair 
values; and (v) other changes.  One way to fulfil the new disclosure requirement is to provide a 
reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position for 
liabilities arising from financing activities.  Finally, the amendments state that changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities must be disclosed separately from changes in other assets and liabilities.  These 
amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 

 

 IFRS 16, Leases - On January 13, 2016, the IASB published a new standard, IFRS 16, Leases. The new 
standard brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the 
distinction between operating and finance leases. Under the new standard, a lessee recognizes a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated similarly to other non-financial assets 
and depreciated accordingly. The liability accrues interest. This will typically produce a front-loaded 
expense profile (whereas operating leases under IAS 17 would typically have had straight-line expenses). 
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (i.e., calendar periods 
beginning on January 1, 2020), and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. 

 
4 MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

  April 30, 2017 April 30, 2016 

   Number   Cost  
 Fair 

Value   Number   Cost   Fair Value  

 Free trading equities              
 BlueOcean NutraSciences 
Inc. (i) 

216,588 $341,922 $ 18,410 216,588 $341,922 $ 64,977 

   $341,922 $18,410  341,922 64,977 

        
 Other securities (Note 5)       
BioDE Ventures Ltd. (ii) 80,000 2,339 2,339 40,000 339 339 

BioHEP Technologies Ltd. 80,000 626 626 80,000 626 626 

        

   $344,887 $ 21,375  $342,887 $ 65,942 
 

(i) Exchanged with shares of Solutions4CO2 Inc. 10 to 1 share consolidation occurred on September 30, 2016 
(ii) BioDE Ventures Ltd. (“BioDE”) completed a 1 for 1000 share consolidation and 500 for 1 share split on 
November 17, 2016 
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4 MARKETABLE SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

A continuity schedule of the fair value of the Company’s marketable securities is as follows: 
 

 Balance, April 30, 2015  
 

$  493,242 

   Cost of purchases          15,965  

   Proceeds on sales         (43,028) 

   Fair value adjustment       (400,237) 

 Balance, April 30, 2016             65,942 

     Cost of purchases  2,000 

   Fair value adjustment    (46,567) 

 Balance, April 30, 2017  
 

$  21,375 

 
5 INVESTMENTS 

On October 8, 2015, the Company, as a lender, entered into a loan agreement for an amount of $10,000 with BioDE. 
The loan agreement provides for a term of one year and bears simple interest at 14% per annum, with interest 
receivable upon maturity date. The loan is unsecured. As additional consideration of the risk associated with the 
loan, BioDE issued 80,000 common shares, valued at $339 using the residual method, to the Company during the 
year ended April 30, 2016. This loan was repaid in full during the year ended April 30, 2016. During the year ended 
April 30, 2017, BioDE offered rights to holders of its common shares; whereby, shareholders could receive an 
additional common share for each common share held at a price of $0.025 per share. The Company exercised 
80,000 rights at $0.025 per right for a total of $2,000. BioDE then completed a 1 for 1,000 share consolidation and 
a subsequent 500 for 1 share split (note 4). 
 
On November 13, 2015, the Company, as a lender, entered into a loan agreement for an amount of $10,000. The 
loan agreement provides for a term of two years and bears simple interest at 14% per annum, with interest 
receivable upon maturity date. The loan is unsecured. As additional consideration of the risk associated with the 
loan, the borrower issued 80,000 common shares, valued at $626 using the residual method, to the Company 
during the year ended April 30, 2016. The loan is being amortized up to its maturity value over the term of the loan 
using the effective interest method with $572 recognized within interest expense during the year ended April 30, 
2017 (2016 - $nil) . This loan and the accrued interest is outstanding as of April 30, 2017. 

 
6 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade and other payables are comprised of the following: 
 

    April 30, 2017  April 30, 2016 

Trade payables $ 18,299  $ 648  

Accrued liabilities   70,000   14,707  

Due to related parties   5,000    2,500                      

  $ 93,299 $ 17,855  

 
7  PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE 
 

On October 6, 2014, the Company entered into loan agreements for an aggregate amount of $130,000. The loans 
matured October 5, 2015 and bear simple interest at 12% per annum, with interest payable upon maturity date. 
The loans are unsecured. As additional consideration of the risk associated with the loans, the Company also 
issued 260,000 common shares.  
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7  PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
The liability component of the promissory notes payable was recognized initially at the fair value of a similar 
liability that does not have an obligation to issue shares, which was calculated based on the application of a market 
interest rate of 18%. The difference between the face value of $130,000 and the initial fair value of the promissory 
notes payable represents the value attributed to common shares. 
 
During the year ended April 30, 2016, the existing loans were refinanced for another 2 year term at 14% simple 
interest. 
 
The company received an additional $40,000 from new loans at a simple interest rate of 14%. The loans mature 
October 30, 2020. 800,000 warrants with an exercise price of $.05 were attached to this loan. The warrants are 
detailed in note 8(c). 
 
During the year ended April 30, 2017, the loans were repaid. Accretion and interest expense for the year ended 
April 30, 2017 was $17,697 (2016 - $28,573) and has been recorded as a charge to profit or loss.  

 
8      SHARE CAPITAL 

 
Authorized 
There are an unlimited number of common shares without par value authorized for issue. 
 

Issued 

During the year ended April 30, 2017, the Company issued 800,000 shares pursuant to the exercise of 800,000 
warrants raising $40,000. As a result, previously recorded warrant fair value of $5,004 was reclassified from 
reserves to share capital.  
 
On March 14, 2017, the completed a non-brokered private placement to raise gross proceeds of $245,025 for the 
issuance of 1,633,498 units (“Units”) of the Company at a price of $0.15 per Unit.  Each Unit will comprise of one 
common share (“Share”) and one share purchase warrant (“Warrant”); each Warrant entitling the holder to acquire 
one additional Share at $0.20 for a period of 24 months.  
 
In conjunction with the private placement, the Company incurred finders’ fees consisting of cash of $24,002, legal 
and share issue costs of $22,476, and finders’ warrants measured at a fair value of $38,813. A total of 163,013 
Finders’ warrants were granted with the same terms as the warrants issued as part of the private placement units. 
Finders’ warrants were measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
stock price - $0.30; exercise price - $0.20; expected life - 2 years; volatility – 167%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-
free rate - 0.85%. 
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8      SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Share options (continued) 

 

The Company's 2006 share option plan (“2006 Plan”) was approved by the shareholders on September 12, 2006 
(with amendments approved effective March 19, 2010 and August 8, 2011), under which the Company grants 
share options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants. Options granted to non-executive 
directors under the share option plan generally vest immediately and options granted to other optionees generally 
vest in equal amounts over a three or four year period or as determined by the Board of Directors. Options are 
exercisable for five years from the date of grant. 
 
In February 2014, the Company replaced the 2006 Plan with a “rolling” stock option plan (the “New Plan”), pursuant 
to which 10% of the issued and outstanding shares as of that date are available for purchase upon the exercise of 
options awarded by the Company, including options previously awarded under the 2006 Plan. The New Plan 
provides that options will be issued to directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company or a subsidiary 
of the Company. Pursuant to the New Plan all options expire on a date not later than ten years after the date of 
grant of an option. All options outstanding under the 2006 Plan were rolled into the New Plan. 
 
On March 30, 2017, the Company granted 1,545,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.38 per option with a 
term of five years. The options become exercisable at the earlier of May 6, 2017 or receipt for a final prospectus 
by the Company to qualify the issuance of shares and warrants upon conversion of the special warrants. The 
grant date fair value of the options was measured as $726,107, with $608,360 recognized during the year ended 
April 30, 2017, with the remainder to be recognized when the options become exercisable. The Options were 
measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: stock price - $0.50; 
exercise price - $0.38; expected life - 5 years; volatility – 161%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate – 1.10%. 

 
A continuity schedule of the Company's outstanding options is as follows: 
 

  
Number of optioned 

common shares 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

Outstanding, April 30, 2015                    47,143   $                     0.87  

Expired                    (4,286)                        1.866  

Outstanding, April 30, 2016                    42,857   $                     0.77  

Expired                    (42,857)                        0.77  

Granted 1,545,000 0.38 

Outstanding, April 30, 2017                    1,545,000   $                     0.38  

 
As of April 30, 2017, the Company had options outstanding and exercisable to acquire common shares of the 
Company as follows: 

Expiry Date Exercise price 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 

Number of 
options 

exercisable 

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life (in years) 

March 30, 2022  $                  0.38         1,545,000  - 4.92  
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8      SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 

(c)  Common Share Purchase Warrants 
 

During year ended April 30, 2016, 800,000 common share purchase warrants with an exercise price of $0.05 were 
issued as part of a $40,000 loan (Note 7).  During the year ended April 30, 2017, 800,000 warrants were exercised 
raising $40,000.  
 
At April 30, 2017, the following warrants are outstanding: 
 

Expiry Date 
Exercise Price Number of 

Warrants 

March 14, 2019 $0.20 1,633,498 

Total warrants outstanding  1,633,498 

Weighted Average $0.20  

 
Pursuant to the March 14, 2017 private placement, the Company issued 163,013 finders’ warrants with an exercise 
price of $0.20.  
 
At April 30, 2017, the following finders’ warrants are outstanding: 
 

Expiry Date 
Exercise Price Number of 

Warrants 

March 14, 2019 $0.20 163,013 

Total warrants outstanding  163,013 

Weighted Average $0.20  

 
(d)  Special Warrants 

 
 On December 5, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement, of 10,000,000 special warrants 

(“Special Warrants”) of the Company at a price of $0.05 per Special Warrant. Each Special Warrant will entitle the 
holder to receive, without payment of any additional consideration or need for further action, one unit (“Unit”) of 
the Company, each Unit comprising of one common share (“Share”) and one share purchase warrant (“Warrant”); 
each Warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional Share at $0.05 for a period of 24 months. An additional 
731,200 of special warrants were issued as finders’ fees with the same terms as the special warrants received 
pursuant to the private placement. As such, a fair value of $36,560 was included as share issue costs within 
reserves. On May 9, 2017, the Company converted the special warrants and special finders’ warrants into an 
equivalent number of free trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share 
and one share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.05 for a 
period of 24 months. 
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9 GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE REPAYABLE 
 
In March 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with the Government of Canada through a program now 
managed by Industry Canada’s Industrial Technologies Office (“ITO”). The ITO funding agreement (“ITO 
Agreement”) covered approximately 26% of eligible research and development costs of the Company’s lipopeptide 
(MX-2401) program up to a maximum contribution from ITO of approximately $9,266,000. 
 
As a result of reductions in the Company’s operations, discussions with ITO occurred regarding the status of the 
MX-2401 program, and the Company’s ability to advance the MX-2401 development under the agreement. On 
December 15, 2009, as amended March 19, 2010, the Company and ITO completed a settlement agreement 
regarding the termination of the ITO Agreement. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the Company was 
required to repay to ITO an aggregate amount of $300,000 (by monthly payments of $3,010) during the period 
commencing in December 2009 and ending in March 2017. 
 
During the year ended April 30, 2016, the Company and ITO further amended the settlement agreement dated 
March 19, 2010.  As settlement of all claims and repayment obligations under the Contribution Agreement, the 
Company agreed to pay ITO $230,000. ITO acknowledged that the Company had paid $201,305. Pursuant to the 
October 2015 settlement agreement, the Company is required to pay the balance of the settlement amount, 
$29,768, to the Receiver General of Canada on or before November 15, 2015 (paid).  In connection with the 
amended settlement agreement, the Company wrote off $75,517 of the government assistance payable, including 
the related accrued interest payable. 
 

  10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 The fair value of the Company’s trade and other payables, interest receivable approximate the carrying amount 
due to the short-term nature of the instruments. The Company’s investment and promissory notes payable are 
measured at amortized cost and marketable securities are measured at fair value.  

The Company's financial assets and liabilities are classified as follows: 
 

  April 30, 2017 April 30, 2016 

Financial Assets     

Held for trading:      

Cash  $                  531,489   $                  21,811  

Interest receivables  $                       2,045   $                       647  

Marketable securities  $                    21,375   $                  65,942  

Amortized cost:      

Investment  $                       9,819   $                    9,247  

   

Financial Liabilities   

Other financial liabilities:     

Trade and other payables  $                    93,299   $                17,855  

Promissory notes payable   $                             -  $              181,868  

   

The Company’s financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. 
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  10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s maximum credit risk exposure is as follows: 
 

  April 30, 2017 April 30, 2016 

Cash $            531,489  $                  21,811  

Interest receivable                    2,045                           647  

Marketable securities                  21,375                      65,942  

Investment                    9,819                        9,247  

   $               564,728  $                  97,647 

      
The Company deposits the majority of its cash with high credit quality financial institutions in Canada. Therefore, 
management considers its exposure to credit risk arising from its cash to be minimal. Credit risk with respect to 
receivables has been assessed as low from management as receivables are due from companies with related 
parties and the Company has strong working relationships with the parties involved. All transactions executed by 
the Company in listed securities are settled upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered 
minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a 
purchase only once the broker has received the securities. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its 
obligation

 
(b) Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. To 
the extent that the Company does not believe it has sufficient liquidity to meet its current obligations, the Board 
of Directors considers securing additional funds through equity, debt or partnering transactions. The Board of 
Directors approves the Company’s annual operating budget as well as any material transactions outside the 
ordinary course of business. 

 
At April 30, 2017, the Company had cash of $531,489 (April 30, 2016 - $21,811) and current liabilities of $93,299 
(April 30, 2016 - $30,785). The Company has raised $500,000 through the issuance of special warrants, $40,000 
through the exercise of warrants, $245,025 through the issuance of units pursuant to a private placement (note 
8), which will be used to fund ongoing operations.  
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10  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
(c) Market risk 

Market risk consists of currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. These are discussed further below. 
 
Currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is limited to the portion of the Company’s business transactions denominated in currencies 
other than the Canadian dollar.  
 
The Company has not entered into any foreign currency contracts to mitigate this risk, but manages the risk by 
minimizing the value of financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.  The Company is not exposed to 
significant currency risk. 
 
Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk consists of two components: 
 
i) To the extent that payments made or received on the Company’s monetary assets and liabilities are affected 

by changes in the prevailing market interest rates, the Company is exposed to interest rate cash flow risk. 
ii) To the extent that changes in prevailing market rates differ from the interest rate in the Company’s monetary 

assets and liabilities, the Company is exposed to interest rate price risk. 
 
The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk with respect to the promissory notes payable as the rate of 
interest is not variable.  

 
Other price risk 

The Company is exposed to other price risk on its marketable securities due to fluctuations in the current market 
prices and fluctuations in trading volumes of those securities. At April 30, 2017, the Company held marketable 
securities with a fair value of $21,375 (April 30, 2016 - $65,942). These investments are subject to market price 
fluctuations. A 4.90% (April 30, 2016 - 9.05%) increase or decrease in market prices, by reference to the change of 
S&P/TSX Composite index, would result in an estimated increase or decrease of approximately $1,000 (April 30, 
2016 - $6,200) in net income or loss.  

 
The Company has an investment policy governing the purchase of marketable securities, pursuant to which the 
Company monitors these investments on a regular basis. The investment policy contains objectives for the 
purchase of investments including preservation of capital, liquidity and return, as well as specifying minimum 
credit ratings for investments, types of permitted investments and diversification requirements. The Company’s 
investment policy is periodically reviewed by the Company’s audit committee.  

 

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped in levels 1 to 3 
of the fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which inputs used in measuring fair value is observable:   
 

 Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
  
The Company’s financial instruments are classified in the fair value hierarchy as follows: 
 

  April 30, 2017 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Cash  $         531,489   $                     -   $                 -  

Interest receivable 2,045 -                     - 

Marketable securities 18,410 - 2,965 

Investment - 9,819 - 

   $          551,944   $            9,819      $         2,965 

 
 April 30, 2016 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Cash  $         21,811   $                     -   $                 -  
Other receivables 647 -                     - 
Marketable securities 65,942 -              1,015 
Investment - 9,247 - 
Promissory notes payable                        -                (181,868)                     -  

  $          88,400   $      (172,621)        $         1,015    

 
 
11   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
entity, and include all directors and officers. Key management compensation for the year ended April 30, 2017 and 
2016 are comprised of the following. 

  2017 2016 

   

Management fees      $              5,000    $                        -  

Consulting fees                  34,503 19,534  

  $              39,503  $               19,534  

 
During the year ended April 30, 2017, the Company issued a promissory note payable with a principal of $nil (2016 
- $15,000) to a director and an officer (note 7).  

 
As at April 30, 2017, $5,000 was owed to a company owned by an officer of the Company was included in trade 
and other payables (April 30, 2016 - $2,500) for CFO services provided. 
 
As at April 30, 2017 Company held investments with an amortized balance of $9,819 (2016 - $9,247) with a 
company with shared directors and management by issuance of debt (Note 5). As at April 30, 2017, accrued 
interest on the investment was $2,045 (2016 – $647). 
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12 INCOME TAXES 
 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with reported taxes is as follows:  
 

 2017 2016 

   
Net income (loss) for the year $ (772,866) $ (424,519) 
Statutory income tax rates   26%             26%           

   
Income tax benefit computed at Canadian statutory tax rate  (200,945)  (110,375) 

Items not deductible for income tax purposes  158,174  2,994 
Unrecognized benefit of deferred income tax assets  42,771  107,381 
Change in timing difference - - 
Effect of change in tax rates                      -                      - 

Total income tax recovery $ - $ - 

 
The Company recognizes tax benefits on losses or other deductible amounts where it is probable the Company 
will generate sufficient taxable income to utilize its deferred tax assets.  

 
The Company’s unrecognized deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset is recognized consist of the following amounts: 
 

Temporary differences for:  2017 2016 

Income tax assets   
   Non-capital loss carry-forward $ 7,821,000 $ 7,656,000 

Capital loss carry-forward  30,000  30,000 

  
$ 7,851,000 

 
$ 7,686,000 

 
At April 30, 2017, the Company has accumulated non-capital losses for income tax purposes of approximately 
$7,821,000 (2016 - $7,656,000). The losses expire in the following years:  
 

Year of expiration  Non-capital loss 

2030 $ 104,000 
2031  887,000  
2032  858,000  
2033  440,000  
2034  4,763,000  
2035   203,000  
2036   401,000  
2037  165,000  

 $ 7,821,000 

 
13 SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company operates primarily in one business segment as an investment issuer and all of the Company’s non-
current assets are located in a single geographic segment in Canada.  
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14 MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

The Company’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure sufficient liquidity to finance its corporate 
administration and working capital. In managing its liquidity, the Company aims to minimize shareholder dilution 
whenever possible. The Company manages its capital through regular board meetings and ongoing review of 
financial information. The Company considers shareholders’ equity as its capital. 
 
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. Other than the steps taken by the 
Company to conserve capital as described above, there have been no changes to the Company’s objectives and 
what it manages as capital for the year ended April 30, 2017. 
 

15 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

 On May 10, 2017, 10,000,000 special warrants and 731,200 special finders’ warrants previously issued on January 
5, 2017, were converted to an equivalent number of units of the Company. Each unit consists of one common 
share and one share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.05 
for a period of 24 months.  
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NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
 

 

 

Under National Instrument 51-102, Continuous Disclosure Requirement, if an auditor has not performed a review of 
the condensed consolidated interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the 
unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. 
 
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Global Blockchain Technologies 
Corp. (formerly Carrus Capital Corporation) (the “Company”) have been prepared by and are the responsibility of 
management.  These condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the nine months ended January 31, 
2018 and 2016 have not been reviewed or audited by the Company’s independent auditors in accordance with 
standards established by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.
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Note January 31, 2018  April 30, 2017 

(Audited) 

ASSETS                                                    

CURRENT ASSETS             

Cash and cash equivalents     $   3,149,571  $   531,489  

Amounts receivable         104,233      -  

Share subscriptions receivable 8(b)       73,333      -  

Marketable securities 3       36,400      21,375  

Interest receivable 4       11,308      2,045  

Investments 5       12,043,373      -  

Other investment 4       -      9,819  

Prepaid         876,509      536  

          16,294,727      565,264  

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 6       31,782,436      -  

TOTAL ASSETS     $   48,077,163  $   565,264  

              

LIABILITIES             

CURRENT LIABILITIES             

Trade and other payables 7   $   96,825  $   93,299  

TOTAL LIABILITIES         96,825      93,299  

              

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY             

Share capital 8       57,149,406      1,869,933  

Reserves 8       18,407,538      1,247,173  

Accumulated deficit          (27,576,606)     (2,645,141) 

          47,980,338      471,965  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND  

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY     $   48,077,163  $   565,264  

Note 1: Nature and continuance of operations 

Note 16: Subsequent events 

 

These interim financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 3, 2018.  

They are signed on the Board's behalf by:  

 

“Brendan Purdy”        “Peter McCague” 

______________________________          _______________________________          

Director          Director 
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements 
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    Three months ended January 31     Nine months ended January 31 

Note 2018     2017     2018     2017 

Expenses                         

Consulting fees   $   1,803,172    $   -     $   3,774,256    $   10,450  

Corporate development expenditures       770,651        -        2,948,838        -  

Investor communications       8,755        263        15,852        263  

Management fees on marketable securities       -        -        -        242  

Office, general & administration       32,370        1,010        91,563        3,009  

Professional fees       307,539        4,349        368,054        13,533  

Transfer agent, regulatory and listing fees       98,311        7,428        214,756        14,344  

Payroll expenses       14,714        -        14,714        -  

Share-based payments 8(c)      14,487,160        -        18,545,992        -  

Loss from operations       (17,522,672)       (13,050)       (25,974,025)       (41,841) 

Other income (expenses)                         

Foreign exchange gain       375,865        -        340,970        -  

Finance costs        -        (3,273)       -        (18,269) 

Interest income 4     11,075        354        15,064        1,057  

Unrealized fair value gain (loss) in 
marketable securities 3     52,265        3,249        40,353        (35,737) 

Unrealized fair value gain in investments 5     646,173        -        646,173        

Net loss and comprehensive loss 

for the period   $   (16,437,294)  $   (12,720)    $   (24,931,465)  $   (94,790) 

                          

Basic and diluted loss per share 
for the period  14  $   (0.16)  $   (0.00)    $   (0.44)  $   (0.02) 

Weighted average number of  
common shares outstanding  14      101,797,532      4,685,926       56,182,860     4,614,992 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements
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        Reserves     

  

Note 

Number of 

common 

shares 

# 

Share 

 capital  

$ 

Equity settled 

share-based 

payment 

reserve  

$ 

Finders fees  

$ 

Other 

reserves 

$ 

Total  

$ 

Accumulated 

deficit 

$ 

Total 

shareholders' 

equity 

$   

 Balance, April 30, 2016      2,292,414    1,665,195    15,440    -    100,000    115,440    (1,882,711)   (102,076) 

 Net loss for the period     -    -    -    -    -    -    (94,790)   (94,790) 

 Proceeds from warrants exercised     700,000    39,379    (4,379)   -    -    (4,379)   -    35,000  

 Issuance of special warrants     -    -    500,000    -    -    500,000    -    500,000  

 Finders' special warrants     -    -    35,560    (35,560)   -    -    -    -  

 Balance, January 31, 2017     2,992,414    1,704,574    546,621    (35,560)   100,000    611,061    (1,977,501)   338,134  

                    

Balance, April 30, 2017     4,725,912    1,869,933    1,183,733    (36,560)   100,000    1,247,173    (2,645,141)   471,965  

  Net loss for the period     -    -    -    -    -    -    (24,931,465)   (24,931,465) 

  Issuance of 23,333,333 special warrants 8(f)   -    -    3,500,000    350,000    -    3,850,000    -    3,850,000  

  Issuance of 2,333,333finders' special warrants 8(f)   -    -    350,000    (350,000)   -    -    -    -  

  Issuance of 26,666,666 special warrants 8(f)   -    -    8,000,000    800,000    -    8,800,000    -    8,800,000  

  Issuance of 2,666,666finders' special warrants 8(f)   -    -    800,000    (800,000)   -    -    -    -  

  Conversion of special warrants 8(b)(f)   60,731,189    12,000,000    (12,000,000)   -    -    (12,000,000)   -    -  

  Conversion of 2,333,333 finders' special warrants 8(b)(f)   2,333,333    350,000    (350,000)   -    -    (350,000)   -    -  

  Conversion of 2,666,666 finders' special warrants 8(b)(f)   2,666,666    800,000    (800,000)   -    -    (800,000)   -    -  

  Private placements 8(b)   16,849,170    42,965,384    2,812,640    -    -    2,812,640    -    45,778,024  

  Proceeds from options exercised 8(c)    5,574,045    6,806,506    (3,492,788)   -    -    (3,492,788)   -    3,313,718  

  Proceeds from warrants exercised 8(d)   25,949,490    3,823,564    -    -    -    -    -    3,823,564  

  Proceeds from finders' warrants exercised 8(d)  2,025,876    500,974    -    (205,479)   -    (205,479)   -    295,495  

  Share issuance costs 8(b)  -    (11,966,955)   -    -    -    -    -    (11,966,955) 

  Share-based payments 8(c)    -    -    18,545,992    -    -    18,545,992    -    18,545,992  

 Balance, January 31, 2018     120,855,681    57,149,406    18,344,098    (36,560)   100,000    18,407,538    (27,576,606)   47,980,338  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements 
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Nine months ended January 31 

2018   2017 

Cash provided by (used in):          

OPERATING ACTIVITIES         

Net loss for the period $   (24,931,465) $   (94,790) 

Purchase of marketable securities     -      (2,000) 

      (24,931,465)     (96,790) 

Items not affecting operating cash:          

Share-based payments     18,545,992      -  

Fair value of special warrants     -      

Fair value (gain) loss on marketable securities     (15,025)     35,737  

Fair value (gain) loss on investments     (646,173)     -  

Finance costs on promissory notes payable     -      18,269  

      (7,046,671)     (42,784) 

Net changes in non-cash working capital:         

Amounts receivable      (94,414)     -  

Interest receivable on promissory notes receivable     (9,263)     (1,056) 

Prepaid expenses     (875,973)     -  

Trade and other payables     58,526     (650) 

Cash used in operating activities     (7,967,795)     (44,490) 
          

FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

Cash received from special warrants     11,500,000      500,000  

Repayment of loans and accrued interest     -      (200,137) 

Private placements     42,945,384      -  

Shares received in advance     -      -  

Exercise of warrants     3,715,231      35,000  

Exercise of finders' warrants     295,495      -  

Exercise of options     3,313,718      -  

Share issuance costs     (8,004,315)     -  

Cash received from financing activities     53,765,513      334,863  
          

INVESTING ACTIVITIES          

Investments     (11,397,200)     -  

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment     (31,782,436)     -  
          -  

Cash used in investment activities     (43,179,636)     -  
          

Increase in cash      2,618,082      290,373  

Cash, beginning of the period     531,489      21,811  

Cash, end of the period $   3,149,571  $   312,184  

          

OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION         

Interest paid $   -  $   -  

Income taxes paid $   -  $   -  

 
 

Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 12) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements 



Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. 

(formerly Carrus Capital Corporation) 
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 

For the nine months ended January 31, 2018 

(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

6 

1 NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  

Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. (formerly Carrus Capital Corporation) (“Carrus” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the 
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) as a biotechnology company on February 12, 2010.  
 
On August 19, 2011, the Company received TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) approval of its change of business from a biotechnology 
company to an investment issuer and its application to list its common shares for trading on the TSXV as a tier 2 “investment issuer”.  
 
On February 11, 2014, the Company entered into a plan of arrangement agreement ("Arrangement"). Pursuant to the Arrangement, the 
Company incorporated three wholly-owned Canadian subsidiaries: BioAB Strategies Ltd. (“BioAB”), BioDE Ventures Ltd. (“BioDE”) 
and BioHEP Technologies Ltd. (“BioHEP”) and transferred certain biotechnology assets to the subsidiaries in exchange for common 
shares of the respective entities. Subsequently, the Company distributed the shares of BioAB, BioDE and BioHEP to its shareholders in 
a spin-out arrangement. 
 
On October 4, 2017, the Company received TSXV approval to change its name to Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. and on October 
5, 2017, the Company traded under its new name and a new trading symbol of “BLOC”.  
 
Effective at the close of business on January 19, 2018, the Company voluntary de-listed its common shares from the TSX Venture 
Exchange, and on January 22, 2018, the Company’s shares commenced trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the 
same trading symbol “BLOC”. 
 
On November 7, 2018, the Company incorporated Global Blockchain Mining Corp. under the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia) as a wholly-owned subsidiary. As a result, from this date, the present interim financial statements are presented on a 
consolidated basis.  
 
The Company is a publicly traded technology company with two notable and very distinct verticals: 

1. Global Blockchain Technologies. The investment in or incubation and creation of new blockchains & blockchain applications, ICOs 
[initial coin offerings] and tokens specifically in partnership with leading brands that have large captive user bases, and/or in 
collaboration with industry participants whose principal areas of business truly merit and benefit from decentralization and the 
blockchain. The primary objective with investing in the cryptocurrency and blockchain industries, as well investment in their digital 
assets is to generate returns from capital appreciation and investment income.  The Company intends to accomplish these goals 
through the identification of and investment in securities of private and publicly listed entities that are involved with new blockchains 
& blockchain applications, ICOs and tokens specifically in partnership with leading brands that have large captive user bases involved 
in the cryptocurrency and blockchain industries, as well investment in their digital assets. The Company will provide investors access 
to a mixture of assets in the blockchain space, strategically chosen to balance stability and growth 

2. Global Blockchain Mining. The mining of cryptocurrencies in order to provide investors with access to existing known and blue-
chip currencies such as bitcoin and Ethereum through the deployment of hardware and associated infrastructure that can mine these 
coins by performing the function of verifying and validating transactions as trustworthy through the processing of difficult 
cryptographic problems that require tremendous amounts of computational power to solve. This achieves exposure at a fraction of 
the cost of ownership and speculative risk associated with retail purchase at current price levels (note 14). 

 
The Company’s registered office is located at 810 – 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 1H2. 
 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes that the 
Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business in the foreseeable future. During 
the nine months ended January 31, 2018, the Company generated a net comprehensive loss of $24,931,465 (2017 - $94,790) and had 
working capital of $16,197,902 as at January 31, 2018 (April 30, 2017 – $471,965). The Company might require additional financing or 
need to liquidate certain of its investments to continue operating. Management is planning to raise additional capital to finance operations 
and expected growth, and continues to seek high return opportunities through the identification of investment in the securities of other 
companies, assets or businesses. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recorded asset amounts and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary, should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and realize its assets is dependent on its ability to raise capital through public equity 
financing, or upon the generation of income from the disposition of its investments, the outcome of which cannot be predicted at this 
time. 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

(a) Statement of compliance  

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting, of the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”). Accordingly, these condensed consolidated interim consolidated financial statements 
do not include all of the information and footnotes required by IFRS for complete financial statements for year-end reporting 
process.   

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of application 
as the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2017.  The policies applied in these condensed 
consolidated interim financial statements are based on IFRS issued as of the date the Board of Directors approved the 
financial statements.   

In addition, the following accounting policies will become effective as follows: 

 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments - This standard provides added guidance on the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 

 IFRS 16, Leases - On January 13, 2016, the IASB published a new standard, IFRS 16, Leases. The new standard 
brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating 
and finance leases. Under the new standard, a lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-
of-use asset is treated similarly to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly. The liability accrues 
interest. This will typically produce a front-loaded expense profile (whereas operating leases under IAS 17 would 
typically have had straight-line expenses). The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 
15, 2019 (i.e., calendar periods beginning on January 1, 2020), and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is 
permitted. 

The Company continues to evaluate the impact of these standards on its financial statements. 

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual 
financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2017. 

 
(b) Basis of presentation 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments that have 
been measured at fair value. In addition, these condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information.  The presentation and functional currency of the 
Company is the Canadian dollar. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary Global Blockchain Mining Corp. Inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealized income and 
expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Name of  
subsidiary 

Jurisdiction of 
 incorporation 

Percent  
ownership  

Principal  
activity 

Global Blockchain Mining Corp. 
British Columbia, 
Canada 

100% 
Cryptocurrency 
mining activities 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

(c) Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. The financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, 
are uncertain. The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout the financial statements and may require accounting 
adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and may affect both the period of revision and future periods. 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty and judgments that management has 
made at the statements of financial position date, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Critical accounting estimates 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions made by management that may result in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities include, but are not limited to the following: 

The fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of certain financial instruments is subject to the limitations of the Black-Scholes option pricing model that 
incorporates market data and involves uncertainty in estimates made by management in the assumptions. Because the Black-
Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of share prices, 
changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate. 

Interest rate 

The Company estimates a fair value interest rate in determining the bifurcation of the promissory notes payable into its 
liability and equity components.  

The recoverability of other receivables 

Other receivables are recorded at the estimated recoverable amount, which involves the estimate of uncollectible accounts.  
While management believes judgments and the estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from those judgments 
and estimates and could impact future results of operations and cash flows. 
 

Share-based payment expense 

The Company grants share-based awards to certain officers, employees, directors and other eligible persons. For equity 
settled awards, the fair value is charged to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss and credited to contributed 
surplus, over the vesting period using the graded vesting method, after adjusting for the estimated number of awards that 
are expected to vest. 

The fair value of the equity-settled awards is determined at the date of the grant using the Black-Sholes option pricing 
model. Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected price, expected 
volatility and expected life of the options. Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and 
therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock options. 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements include, but are not limited to: 

Going concern assumption 

The assessment of whether the going concern assumption is appropriate requires management to take into account all 
available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period. 

While management believes judgments and the estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from those judgments 
and estimates and could impact future results of operations and cash flows. 
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3 MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

 January 31, 2018 April 30, 2017 

   Number   Cost  

 Fair 

Value   Number   Cost  

 Fair 

Value  

Free trading equities              
BlueOcean NutraSciences 
Inc. 

- $      - $       - 216,588 $   341,922 $  18,410 

        
Other securities        
Exro Technologies Inc. 
(formerly BioDE Ventures 
Ltd.) 89,000 2,339 36,400 80,000 2,339 2,339 

BioHEP Technologies Ltd. 89,451 626 - 80,000 626 626 

   $  2,965 $   36,400  $   344,887 $  21,375 
 

A continuity schedule of the fair value of the Company’s marketable securities is as follows: 
 

 Balance, April 30, 2016  $ 

     

65,942 

     Cost of purchases  2,000 

     Fair value adjustment    (46,567) 

 Balance, April 30, 2017 

 

$  21,375 

     Cost of purchases  - 

     Disposals  (25,329) 

     Fair value adjustments  40,354 

Balance, January 31, 2018 $ 36,400 

 

 
4 INTEREST RECEIVABLE 

On November 13, 2015, the Company, as a lender, entered into a loan agreement for an amount of $10,000. The loan 
agreement provided for a term of two years and bore simple interest at 14% per annum, with interest receivable upon 
maturity date. The loan was unsecured. As additional consideration of the risk associated with the loan, the borrower issued 
80,000 common shares, valued at $626 using the residual method, to the Company during the year ended April 30, 2016.  

The loan was being amortized up to its maturity value over the term of the loan using the effective interest method.  For 
the nine months ended January 31, 2018, the Company recorded interest and accretion income of $873 (2016 - $703) related 
to this loan. On December 6, 2017 the Company received $10,000 as full repayment relating the loan. 

In addition, the Company has invested $2,500,000 in a fixed-rate term deposit (“GIC”) with its bank, bearing annual interest 
of 1.30%. During the nine months ended January 31, 2018, the Company has accrued interest receivable for $11,308. 
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5 INVESTMENTS 

On November16, 2017, the Company announced and investment of USD $1,500,000 (CAD $1,888,200) through the 
purchase of 1,000,000 common shares of Distributed Mining Inc. (“DMI”), a private US corporation. This investment was 
done through Coinstream Mining Company, a corporation acquired by the Company subsequent to January 31, 2018 (Note 
14). With this investment, the Company will control 25% of DMI.  

On January 23, 2018, the Company announced an investment of $3,000,000 through a private placement with Breaking 
Data Corp. (TSXV:BKD). The Company received 1,000,000 common shares of Breaking Data Corp. at a price of $1.00 per 
common share.   

On January 10, 2018, the Company announced an investment of USD $2,000,000 (CAD $2,509,000) into Kodak Coin, a 
compliant and fully registered Initial Coin Offering (“ICO”) by the Eastman Kodak Company.  The Company subscribed 
all of 8,000,000 Kodak Coins that were available at the pre-ICO stage.   

On January 11, 2018, the Company announced an investment of $2,000,000 in the capital of Spectra7 Microsystems Inc. 
(“Spectra7” – TSX:SEV). The Company received 2,000 senior unsecured convertible debentures of Spectra7 with a 
principal amount of $1,000 each, bearing interest at 7% per annum, and 2,850 share purchase warrants. Each share purchase 
warrant entitles the Company to acquire one common share in the capital of Spectra7 at a price of $0.50 per common share 
until January 9, 2021.   

On January 15, 2018, the Company announced an investment of $2,000,000 in the capital of Millennial Esport Corp. 
(TSXV:GAME “Millennial”). The Company acquired 2,857,143 units of Millennial at a price of $0.70 per unit.  Each unit 
consists of one common share and one half of a share purchase warrant. Each share purchase warrant entitles its holder to 
purchase one common share of Millennial at a price of $1,20 per share for a period of 24 months.   

The following table summarizes the investments in Blockchain technology made by the Company during the nine months 
ended January 31, 2018: 

 

        As at January 31, 2018   

Investments 
No. of 
Shares 

No. of 
Warrants 

Cash 
cost 

Fair value 
of shares 

Fair value 
of 

warrants 
Total fair 

value 
Fair value 

adjustment 

  # # $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance, April 30, 2017   -    -    -    -    -    -    -  

Distributed Mining Inc.   1,000,000    -    1,888,200    1,888,200    -    1,888,200    -  

Breaking Data Corp.   1,000,000    -    3,000,000    2,600,000    -    2,600,000  (400,000) 

Kodak Coin   8,000,000    -    2,509,000    2,509,000    -    2,509,000    -  

Spectra7 Microsystems Inc.   2,000    2,850,000    2,000,000    1,908,438    303,468    2,211,906    211,906  

Millennial Esports Corp.   2,857,143    1,428,571    2,000,000    2,142,857    691,410    2,834,267    834,267  

Balance, January 31, 2018      11,397,200   11,048,495   994,878   12,043,373  646,173  
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6 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

On December 27, 2017, the Company’s subsidiary Global Blockchain Mining Corp., further to and pursuant to its declared 
strategy of investing in the blockchain mining space as one of the key prongs of its multifaceted approach to the sector, 
agreed to purchase 6,666 Antminer S9s from Bitmain Technologies Ltd., a privately owned multinational semiconductor 
company headquartered in Beijing, China, for a total purchase price of USD $20,000,000 (CAD $25,468,000). Other costs 
associated with this purchase amounted to $6,314,436.   

  

Computer mining equipment 

  $ 

Nine months ended January 31, 2018  

Opening net book value   -  

Additions   31,782,436  

Closing net book value   31,782,436  

 

 

As the equipment had not been received or available for use as at January 31, 2018, no depreciation has been calculated. 

7 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

    January 31, 2018  April 30, 2017 

Trade payables $ 51,755 $ 18,299  

Accrued liabilities   -   70,000 

Due to related parties   45,070   5,000  

  $ 96,825 $ 93,299 

 

  

At January 31, 2018  

Cost 31,782,436 

Accumulated depreciation - 

Closing net book value 31,782,436 
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8 SHARE CAPITAL 

 

(a) Authorized 

 
There are an unlimited number of common shares without par value authorized for issue. 
 

(b) Issued 

During the year ended April 30, 2017, the Company issued 800,000 shares pursuant to the exercise of 800,000 warrants 
raising $40,000. As a result, previously recorded warrant fair value of $5,004 was reclassified from reserves to share capital.  

On March 14, 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement to raise gross proceeds of $245,025 for the 
issuance of 1,633,498 units (“Units”) of the Company at a price of $0.15 per Unit.  Each Unit was comprised of one 
common share (“Share”) and one share purchase warrant (“Warrant”); each Warrant entitling the holder to acquire one 
additional Share at $0.20 for a period of 24 months.  

In conjunction with the private placement, the Company incurred finders’ fees consisting of cash of $24,002, legal and share 
issue costs of $22,476, and finders’ warrants measured at a fair value of $38,813. A total of 163,013 Finders’ warrants were 
granted with the same terms as the warrants issued as part of the private placement units. Finders’ warrants were measured 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: stock price - $0.30; exercise price -  $0.20; 
expected life - 2 years; volatility – 167%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate - 0.85%. 

 On May 8, 2017, the Company converted 10,000,000 special warrants and 731,300 special finders’ warrants into an 
equivalent number of free trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.05 for a period of 24 months. 

 On August 14, 2017, the Company issued a total of 336,667 units at a price of $0.15 per unit for gross proceeds of $55,000 
pursuant to the non-brokered private placement that had closed on March 20, 2017.  Each unit consists of one common 
share and one share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.20 on or before 
August 14, 2019. 

 On December 16, 2017, the Company converted 23,333,333 special warrants and 2,333,333 special finders’ warrants into 
an equivalent number of free trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.20 on or before August 16, 
2019.  

 On December 21, 2017, the Company closed an offering issuing 16,849,170 units on a bought deal private placement basis, 
at a price per unit of $2.55, for gross proceeds of $42,965,383.  Each unit consists of one common share of the Company 
and one common share purchase warrant.  Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one common share at a price 
of $3.50 for a period of 24 months from the closing of the Offering.  In consideration for their services, the Underwriters 
received a cash commission of 7% of the gross proceeds from the Offering and non-transferable compensation options equal 
to 7% of the number of units issued pursuant to the Offering.  Each compensation option is exercisable for one year from 
the closing date of the Offering to acquire units consisting of one common share and one warrant at a price of $2.55 per 
unit, with the warrants being exercisable for a period of one year from the closing date at a price of $3.50 per common share. 
As at January 31, 2018, $20,000 were receivable with respect to this private placement. 

On January 26, 2018, the Company converted 26,666,666 special warrants and 2,666,666 special finders’ warrants into an 
equivalent number of free-trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.40 on or before September 
25, 2019. 
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8 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 

  

(b) Issued (continued) 

During the nine months ended January 31, 2018, the following shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of stock options: 
 

Number of shares issued  
#  

Exercise price  
$ 

Cash consideration 
 $ 

Fair value allocated to share capital  
$ 

1,295,000 0.38 492,100 608,614 
2,429,045 0.40 971,618 928,891 
1,850,000 1.00 1,850,000 1,955,283 

5,574,045 0.59 3,313,718 3,492,788 

 

During the nine months ended January 31, 2018, the following shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of share purchase 
warrants: 

 
Number of shares issued  

#  
Exercise price  

$ 
Cash consideration  

$  

14,822,825 0.20 2,964,565  

10,000,000 0.05 500,000  

626,665 0.40 250,666 (1) 

25,449,490 0.14 3,715,231  

(1) As at January 31, 2018, $53,333 was receivable with respect to 133,333 warrants with an exercise price of $0.40; the funds were received 
subsequent to January 31, 2018. 

 
During the nine months ended January 31, 2018, the following shares were issued pursuant to the exercise of finders’ 
warrants: 

 

Number of shares issued  
#  

Exercise price  
$ 

Cash consideration  
$ 

Finders’ fee portion allocated to share 
capital  

$ 

1,294,676 0.20 258,935 175,000 
731,200 0.05 36,560 30,479 

2,025,876 0.14 295,495 205,479 

 
 

(c) Stock Options 

The Company's 2006 share option plan (“2006 Plan”) was approved by the shareholders on September 12, 2006 (with 
amendments approved effective March 19, 2010 and August 8, 2011), under which the Company grants share options to 
executive officers, directors, employees and consultants. Options granted to non-executive directors under the share option 
plan generally vest immediately and options granted to other optionees generally vest in equal amounts over a three or four-
year period or as determined by the Board of Directors. Options are exercisable for five years from the date of grant. 

In February 2014, the Company replaced the 2006 Plan with a “rolling” stock option plan (the “New Plan”), pursuant to 
which 10% of the issued and outstanding shares as of that date are available for purchase upon the exercise of options 
awarded by the Company, including options previously awarded under the 2006 Plan. The New Plan provides that options 
will be issued to directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to 
the New Plan all options expire on a date not later than ten years after the date of grant of an option. All options outstanding 
under the 2006 Plan were rolled into the New Plan. 
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8   SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 

(c) Stock Options (continued) 

On March 30, 2017, the Company granted 1,545,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.38 per option with a term of 
five years expiring March 30, 2022. The grant date fair value of the options was measured at $726,107, with $608,360 
recognized during the year ended April 30, 2017, with the remainder $117,747 recognized during the nine months ended 
January 31, 2018, when the options became exercisable. The Options were measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with the following assumptions: stock price - $0.50; exercise price -  $0.38; expected life - 5 years; volatility – 
161%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate – 1.10%. 

On August 28, 2017, the Company granted 2,429,045 stock options at an exercise price of $0.40 per option with a term of 
five years. The grant date fair value of the options was measured at $928,891. The Options were measured using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: stock price - $0.40; exercise price -  $0.40; expected life - 
5 years; volatility – 179%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate – 1.52%. 

On September 26, 2017, the Company granted 2,850,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.00 per option with a term 
of five years. The grant date fair value of the options was measured at $3,012,193. The Options were measured using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: stock price - $1.10; exercise price -  $1.00; expected 
life - 5 years; volatility – 181%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate – 1.51%. 

On December 27, 2017, the Company granted 1,000,000 stock options at an exercise price of $2.35 per option with a term 
of five years. The grant date fair value of these options was measured at $2,012,830. The Options were measured using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: stock price - $2.10; exercise price -  $2.35; expected 
life - 5 years; volatility – 183%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate – 1.64%. 

On January 31, 2018, the Company granted 11,000,000 stock options at an exercise price of $1.30 per option with a term of 
five years. The grant date fair value of these options was measured at $12,474,330. The Options were measured using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: stock price - $1.18; exercise price -  $1.30; expected 
life - 5 years; volatility – 185%; dividend yield - $0; and risk-free rate – 1.64%. 

A continuity schedule of the Company's stock options is as follows: 
 

  
Number of optioned 

common shares 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

Outstanding, April 30, 2016 

                   

42,857   $         0.77  

   Expired           (42,857)               0.77  

   Granted 1,545,000 0.38 

Outstanding, April 30, 2017          1,545,000   $         0.38  

   Granted 17,279,045 1.19 

   Exercised (5,574,045) 0.59 

Outstanding, January 31, 2018 13,250,000  $         1.34  

 
As of January 31, 2018, the Company had options outstanding and exercisable to acquire common shares of the Company 
as follows: 

Expiry Date Exercise price 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 

Number of 
options 

exercisable 

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life (in years) 

March 30, 2022  $       0.38      250,000  250,000 4.16 

September 26, 2022          1.00    1,000,000  1,000,000 4.65 

December 27, 2022          2.35 1,000,000 1,000,000 4.91 

January 30, 2023          1.30 11,000,000 11,000,000 5.00 

Total  13,250,000 13,250,000  

Weighted average  $       1.34    
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8   SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Common Share Purchase Warrants 

 
A continuity schedule of the Company's share purchase warrants is as follows: 
 

  
Number of share 

purchase warrants 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

Outstanding, April 30, 2017 1,633,498   $         0.20  

   Granted 77,215,826 0.97 

   Exercised (25,449,490) 0.14 

Outstanding, January 31, 2018 53,399,834  $         1.34  

 
 
As of January 31, 2018, the Company had share purchase warrants outstanding and exercisable to acquire common shares 
of the Company as follows: 
 

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of Warrants 

August 16, 2019 $      0.20 10,510,663 
September 25, 2019 0.40 26,040,001 
December 17, 2019 3.40 16,849,170 

Total warrants outstanding  53,399,834 

Weighted Average $      1.34  

 

 
(e) Finders’ warrants 

 
At January 31, 2018, the following finders’ warrants are outstanding: 
 

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of Warrants 

March 14, 2019 $      0.20 35,003 
August 16,2019 0.20 1,166,667 
September 25, 2019 0.40 2,666,666 
December 21, 2019 3.50 1,179,443 

Total warrants outstanding  5,047,779 

Weighted Average $      1.08  

 

A continuity schedule of the Company's outstanding finders’ warrants is as follows: 
 

  
Number of share 

purchase warrants 
Weighted average 

exercise price 

Outstanding, April 30, 2017 163,013   $         0.20  

   Granted 6,910,642 0.82 

   Exercised (2,025,876) 0.14 

Outstanding, January 31, 2018 5,047,779  $         1.08  
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8   SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Special Warrants 

On December 5, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement, of 10,000,000 special warrants of the 
Company at a price of $0.05 per special warrant.  Each special warrant entitled the holder to receive, without payment of 
any additional consideration or need for further action, one unit of the Company, each unit comprising of one common share 
and one share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.05 for a period of 24 
months. An additional 731,200 of special warrants were issued as finders’ fees with the same terms as the special warrants 
received pursuant to the private placement. As such, a fair value of $36,560 was included as share issue costs within reserves. 
On May 8, 2017, the Company converted the special warrants and special finders’ warrants into an equivalent number of 
free trading units in the capital of the Company.  

On August 16, 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement, of 23,333,333 special warrants of the 
Company at a price of $0.15 per special warrant for gross proceeds of $3,500,000.  Each special warrant entitled the holder 
to receive, without payment of any additional consideration or need for further action, one unit of the Company, each unit 
comprising of one common share and one share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional 
share at $0.20 on or before August 16, 2019.  The special warrants converted into units on December 16, 2017.  Finders’ 
fees of 2,333,333 special warrants with the same terms, and $350,000 were paid in connection with this financing; the fair 
value of the 2,333,333 special finders’ warrants was calculated at $350,000 and charged to share issue costs.  

On September 25, 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement, of 26,666,666 special warrants of the 
Company at a price of $0.30 per special warrant for gross proceeds of $8,000,000.  Each special warrant entitled the holder 
to receive, without payment of any additional consideration or need for further action, one unit of the Company, each unit 
comprising of one common share and one share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional 
share at $0.40 on or before September 25, 2019.  The special warrants converted into units on January 26, 2018.  Finders’ 
fees of 2,666,666 special warrants, with the same terms, and $800,000 were paid in connection with this financing; the fair 
value of the 2,666,666 finders’ special warrants was calculated at $800,000 and charged to share issue costs. 

 

9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 The fair value of the Company’s trade and other payables and interest receivable approximate the carrying amount due to 
the short-term nature of the instruments. The Company’s investment and promissory notes payable are measured at 
amortized cost and marketable securities are measured at fair value.  

The Company's financial assets and liabilities are classified as follows: 

  January 31, 2018 April 30, 2017 

Financial Assets     

Held for trading:      

Cash  $        3,149,571   $         531,489  

Amounts receivable 104,233        - 

Share subscriptions receivable 73,333 - 

Interest receivables 11,308  2,045  

Marketable securities  36,400        21,375  

Investments $       12,043,373 - 

Amortized cost:      

Investments $               -  $           9,819  

   

Financial Liabilities   

Other financial liabilities:     

Trade and other payables  $          96,925 $          93,299  
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9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Company’s liquidity and working capital is as follows: 

        January 31, 2018   April 30, 2017 

Liquidity:             

Cash and cash equivalents     $   3,149,571  $   531,489  

Amounts receivable         104,233      -  

Share subscriptions receivable         73,333      -  

Marketable securities         36,400      21,375  

Interest receivable         11,308      2,045  

Investments         12,043,373      -  

Other investment         -      9,819  

Total liquidity         15,418,218      564,728  

Other working capital items:             

Prepaid         876,509      536  

Trade and other payables         (96,825)     (93,299) 

Total working capital     $   16,197,902  $   471,965  

 

(a) Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 
incur a financial loss. The Company’s maximum credit risk is limited by its liquidity. 

The Company deposits the majority of its cash with high credit quality financial institutions in Canada. Therefore, 
management considers its exposure to credit risk arising from its cash to be minimal. Credit risk with respect to receivables 
has been assessed as low from management as receivables are due from companies with related parties and the Company 
has strong working relationships with the parties involved. All transactions executed by the Company in listed securities are 
settled upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is 
only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase only once the broker has received the 
securities. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation. 

 

(b) Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. The Board of 
Directors approves the Company’s annual operating budget as well as any material transactions outside the ordinary course 
of business. 

The Company has sufficient cash and other liquid assets in order to meet its liabilities and is, therefore, does not believe to 
be exposed to significant liquidity risk. 
 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk consists of currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. These are discussed further below. 

 Currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is limited to the portion of the Company’s business transactions denominated in currencies 
other than the Canadian dollar.  

The Company has not entered into any foreign currency contracts to mitigate this risk, but manages the risk by 
minimizing the value of financial instruments denominated in foreign currency. The Company does not believe to 
be exposed to significant currency risk. 
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9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

 Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk consists of two components: 

i) To the extent that payments made or received on the Company’s monetary assets and liabilities are affected 
by changes in the prevailing market interest rates, the Company is exposed to interest rate cash flow risk. 

ii) To the extent that changes in prevailing market rates differ from the interest rate in the Company’s monetary 
assets and liabilities, the Company is exposed to interest rate price risk. 

The Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 

  Other price risk 

The Company is exposed to other price risk on its marketable securities due to fluctuations in the current market 
prices and fluctuations in trading volumes of those securities. At January 31, 2018, the Company held marketable 
securities with a fair value of $36,400 (April 30, 2017 - $21,375).  These investments are subject to market price 
fluctuations; however, the risk is not significant. 

The Company has an investment policy governing the purchase of marketable securities, pursuant to which the 
Company monitors these investments on a regular basis. The investment policy contains objectives for the purchase 
of investments including preservation of capital, liquidity and return, as well as specifying minimum credit ratings 
for investments, types of permitted investments and diversification requirements. The Company’s investment policy 
is periodically reviewed by the Company’s audit committee.  

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped in levels 1 to 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which inputs used in measuring fair value is observable:   

 Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 

The Company’s financial instruments are classified in the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

  January 31, 2018 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Cash  $     3,149,571   $         -   $         -  

Amounts receivable 104,233 - - 

Subscriptions receivable 73,333   

Interest receivable 11,308 -            - 

Marketable securities 36,400 - - 

Investments 12,043,373   

   $    15,418,218  $         -   $         - 

 

  April 30, 2017 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Cash  $      531,489   $         -   $         -  

Interest receivable 2,045 -             - 

Marketable securities 18,410 - 2,965 

Investment - 9,819 - 

   $      551,944  $     9,819     $     2,965 
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10  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, and 
include all directors and officers. Key management compensation for the nine months ended January 31, 2018 and 2017 are 
comprised of the following. 

 Nine months ended: January 31, 2018 January 31, 2017 

   

Consulting fees $        329,734  $       10,450  

 
As at January 31, 2018, the Company held investments with an amortized balance of nil (April 30, 2017 - $9,819) by issuance 
of debt with a company with former directors and former management in common (Note 4).  As at January 31, 2018, 
accrued interest on the investment was $2,751 (April 30, 2017 – $2,045). 

 

11 SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

 
The Company operates primarily in one business segment as an investment issuer and all of the Company’s non-current 
assets are located in a single geographic segment in Canada.  

 

12 SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 

 On May 8, 2017, the Company converted 10,000,000 special warrants and 731,300 special finders’ warrants into an 
equivalent number of free trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.05 for a period of 24 months 
(Note 8). 

On August 14, 2016, the Company issued 366,667 common shares at a price of $0.15 per share in settlement of an 
outstanding payable of $55,000. 

On December 16, 2017, the Company converted 23,333,333 special warrants and 2,333,333 special finders’ warrants into 
an equivalent number of free trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.20 on or before August 16, 
2019 (Note 8). 

On January 26, 2018, the Company converted 26,666,666 special warrants and 2,666,666 special finders’ warrants into an 
equivalent number of free-trading units in the capital of the Company. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
share purchase warrant; each warrant entitling the holder to acquire one additional share at $0.40 on or before September 
25, 2019 (Note 8). 

 

13 MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

The Company’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure sufficient liquidity to finance its corporate administration and 
working capital. In managing its liquidity, the Company aims to minimize shareholder dilution whenever possible. The 
Company manages its capital through regular board meetings and ongoing review of financial information. The Company 
considers shareholders’ equity as its capital. 

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. Other than the steps taken by the Company to 
conserve capital as described above, there have been no changes to the Company’s objectives and what it manages as capital 
for the nine months ended January 31, 2018. 

 



Global Blockchain Technologies Corp. 

(formerly Carrus Capital Corporation) 
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 

For the nine months ended January 31, 2018 

(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

20 

14 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

 On January 26, 2018, the Company announced that it was pursuing a plan of arrangement with its wholly owned 
subsidiary Global Blockchain Mining Corp. (“Blockchain Mining”) to liberate the value of its mining division. The 
spinout will be on a one-for-one basis with every share held in the Company as of March 1, 2018, entitling the holder 
to acquire one share of Blockchain Mining. Through the plan of arrangement, the Company intends to list Blockchain 
Mining on the CSE. The completion of the arrangement and the listing of Blockchain Mining will be subject to 
regulatory approval, the approval of shareholders, the Supreme Court of British Columbia and the CSE. 

 On February 20, 2018, the Company announced an investment of $2,000,000 in a private token offering of MEvU, a 
product of Decent Tech Inc. (“MEvU”).  The investment is made in addition to the Company’s acquisition of a 30% 
interest in Decent Tech Inc., MEvU’s parent company. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will purchase 
4,285,715 Class A Common Shares of Decent Tech Inc. at a price of USD $0.07 per share for a total investment of USD 
$300,000. The transaction has not consummated yet.   

 On February 21, 2018, the Company announced a stock split whereby each issued and outstanding common share will 
effectively be split into two common shares. One additional common share will be issued for every one existing common 
share held by shareholders as of March 1, 2018. The Company’s common shares began trading on a split-adjusted basis 
on March 1, 2018, and on a post-split basis on March 5, 2018. All weighted average number of shares and loss per share 
amounts in the Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss have been 
retroactively adjusted to reflect the split.  

 On March 1, 2018, pursuant to the terms of a definitive acquisition agreement, the Company completed the 100% 
acquisition of Coinstream Mining Corp. (“Coinstream”) by way of a three-corner amalgamation and assumed all of its 
existent assets and underlying agreements, as more prominently announced by the Company on this date. In satisfaction 
of the acquisition of Coinstream, the Company issued 32,500,000 common shares to the vendors of Coinstream.  

 On March 1, 2018 the Company closed a private placement of 9,090,909 units (“Units”) on a post-split basis for gross 
proceeds of $5,000,000. Each Unit consists of one common share issued at $0.55 per share (a “Share”) and one common 
share purchase warrant (a “Warrant”). Each Warrant may be exercised by the holder to purchase an additional Share at 
a price of $0.75 for 24 months from closing. The net proceeds of the Private Placement will be used towards investment 
in or incubation and creation of new blockchains in partnership with leading brands and industry participants whose 
principal areas of business truly merit and benefit from decentralization and the blockchain. In addition, the Company 
will evaluate new projects and possible acquisition(s) of other target companies and general working capital. The Units 
have a four-month hold period expiring on July 2, 2018. No finder’s fees were paid in connection with the Unit 
issuances. 

 Subsequent to January 31, 2018, the Company received $451,666 from the exercise of share purchase warrants with an 
exercise price of $0.20 per share on a pre-split basis, and $4,310,265 from the exercise of share purchase warrants with 
an exercise price of $0.40 on a pre-split basis. 

 On March 26, 2018, the Company granted 8,992,500 stock options to various consultants of the Company with an 
exercise price of $0.40. The stock options vest immediately and have an expiry date of March 25, 2023. 

 




